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Dear Fellow Stockholders

Entering 2009 we knew we would face an extremely

difficult global economic environment We also knew we
could draw on our inner strength and discipline to meet
the challenge

the extraordinary economic and

market turbulence of the Great

Recession continued throughout

the year we relied on our solid

foundationour healthy balance

sheet strong cash flow from operations and diversified

business platformsto help us navigate the storm

We launched aggressive countermeasures to signifi

cantly lower our cost structure And by greatly reducing

our capital expenditures we generated record free

cash flow

At the same time we continued to execute the

transformation journey that we began in late 2007

which call the CEO Envisioned Future Underpinned

by four broad strategies and the principles outlined by

Jim Coffins in Good to Great our transformation journey

focuses on

Significantly strengthening our global leadership

team which we call the A-Team

Changing the business to more horizontal connect

and collaborate value creation model also known as

the globally integrated and optimized enterprise

Executing robust emerging markets strategy

that better balances our geographic footprint while

at the same time better balancing our business

platforms and market segments and

Expanding our knowledge-based services and

solutions with the objective of enhancing our

customers performance in parallel with improving

our Economic Value Added EVA and creating

stockholder value

As result of our disciplined strategy execution

Harsco enters 2010 with stronger balance sheet

improving free cash flow stronger management team

much lower cost structure and increasing momentum in

expanding our global footprint across emerging markets

We are well positioned to capitalize on the opportunities

ahead of us as our markets slowly recover across the world

Meeting Our Commitments

Culture of Discipline

Our management scorecard for 2009 reflects both

our commitment and our success to date It gives our

teamand stockholdersa clear roadmap of the

strategic priorities and execution focus we have set for

ourselves as we continue to build an enduring enterprise

Significantly reduce our break-even point with

sustainable cost reductions

Maintain Harscos traditionally strong balance

sheet and improve our free cash flow

Scour the globe for talented people and bring

them on board the Harsco bus
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Savatore Fazzoari

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Implement new leadership structure to operate

the business as an integrated wholeas One

Harsco supported by best-in-class services

Better balance the portfolio geographically by

executing robust emerging markets strategy and

Better balance Harscos market sectors and

business platforms

By focusing on these strategic goals while

operating under the most difficult economic conditions

we were able to maintain some degree of our momentum

and achieve nancial and operating results that were

consistent with our expectations However after five

consecutive years of record results from continuing

operations the Great Recession clearly impacted our

performance in 2009 as orders significantly weakened

and pricing pressures intensified As direct result

our revenues declined about 25 percent to $3.0 billion

with approximately $255 million attributable to

the weakening of foreign currencies Income from

continuing operations was $141 million or $1.66 per

diluted share On the positive side we reduced

capital expenditures by 64 percent and generated

record free cash flow of $269 million more than

double the amount we achieved in 2008 We used

some of this cash to pay down corporate debt lowering

Harscos debt-to-capital ratio to 39.5 percent our

lowest year-end ratio since 1998 We also rewarded

our stockholders by increasing our dividend rate for

the 16th consecutive year to $0.82 per share from the

previous $0.80 At time when economic conditions

have led many other companies to either suspend

or eliminate their dividends this move signals the

Boards confidence in our long-term growth prospects

and in our ability to continue to generate strong free

cash flows In December we successfully executed

revolving back-up credit facility of $570 miffion which

gives us further financial flexibility to deliver on our

plans The achievement of our key financial strategies

puts us in very good position to capitallze on the

growth opportunities we are aggressively pursuing

and it will provide us with additional leverage as

global economic conditions improve

Transformation JourneyCEO Envisioned Future

We expect the transformation journey we commenced

in late 2007 to be substantially completed by the end

of 2010 This three-year-plus journey will transform

Harsco into modern globally integrated and optimized

enterprise that is well positioned for growth Our

business model will be driven by knowledge-based

solutions and services that improve customers

performance and contribute to Harscos value creation

Hereco corporahon 2009 Annual Report
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by execufing robust emerghig markets strategy
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md irrprovthj free as flow Heanwhilo thear same

tiansfona lnhiativec are helping ovurcorno the

ongo rg market turbulence different ate ourselves with

customers and contribute to tower cost and pital

brsc that will st er gthen Harsce for the future They are

relping to secure the stror foundation we need to fulfill

our core purpose to build teams that win with integrity

anywhere in the world

Havng the ijht peope the rig at seats is esser tial

oleaseci rnh so oosidcae piojress SvS cmitiriue

to an ke an bringing top Aleaincaliber talent into oar

organ ization The rignificantly strengthened global

riariagenier tca.n we are Ibuilding will give us the

necessary dils to compete with all classes of competitors
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1Tea iettur ouscribed thc many .oeuefirs or

panating as Or arsco In 2009 we continued to

unify our diverse globai businesses ander the Harsco

brand and instill culture of discipline across all oar

operatIons We adopted the theme We Help .lluild

Ike Vorld as orrmon denominator that cha cterizes

all Jr rso businesse and describes the essential

vance fi at ye brink to our markets and custcmers

oxeculed ou fine Hcrsco global rebrar ong

Established new high-performance offshore services center idia

Launched our global suppy chain mit alive in early 2010

Generated 22 percent of revenues from emerging markets in 2009
In 2010 we expect to reach about 28 percent double the amount

achieved in 2007

INc aim adcpted an inte rated global operau ig

structure that net our pcople and global ope atioris

fooascs thorn on coliebun nor

value crea ion the following importon ways

Our technology irifrasirtictu

gwos eater lexibili to share ou market insgrts

and best practiccs as re team For example our Harano

Me als aid Harscn fvinera businessea have many

synargie id 01 spanment icy rocesses that will cnable

us to her in resar ly comprnensive irnowiedgancased

an utions an glch cale llhese two businesses are

now nanaged undei ne senior execufive id Pave

begun sharmg th sir echnical skills and nrocess exoertise

to develop inrov ne solutions for the handling and

processing of our customers waste stream Ou tu soya

ave processes xirnize the recyclable rsetalncs and

isnorals we recover horn metals oroduction ust as

lmportant our ur cesses also yieln benehcial con se cial

applications that elp customers mcdi an the cost and

impact oft seir byrproducts and contribute 31 er tly

to bettcr environment

Hnmsco wins ry deilve ing differentiated

value ni the for.n iph quality and reliable servces

solutiors and crc ts We also win through oui

Our Promise

It derl or Crd
Last yea we ntroduced number of countermeasures to help us naugate econon ic icertainty and strengther
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Our Progress
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the business as an nteg -ated whole- as One Harsco
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By the end of 2010 we will have substantially

completed our three-year-plus journey to transform

Harsco into modern globally integrated and optimized

enterprise that is well positioned for growth

efficiency and Continuous Improvement core value

discipline We are raising the bar across the enter

prise with one example being our new global shared

services center in India This new center supports our

culture of excellence by giving our businesses access

to best-of-class services to support their engineering

information technology accounting and transaction-

related services

Enterprise-wide functions Our new horizontal

connect and collaborate model gives us the ability

to more readily scale our businesses at minimal

incremental cost and better and more quickly integrate

new acquisitions and joint ventures We are realigning

core support functions such as human resources

legal and others to operate as global and regional centers

of excellence providing cross-divisional services

with maximum focus and efficiency We also have

launched global supply chain initiative with world

leader IBM to not only reduce our operating costs

but also reduce the amount of capital employed in our

business This far-reaching business transformation

initiative encompasses strategic sourcing procurement

logistics planning demand and supply inventory

and order management as well as cash management

In addition IBM is helping us with second initiative

designed to streamline our global general and

administrative expense structure

Sustainability and environment Harscos future

and the future of our planetalso compels us to

reduce our environmental footprint and partner with

suppliers and customers to lower theirs We view

environmental responsibility as matter of integrity

and were using process innovation to develop

sustainable practices and build competitive advantage

Weve invested in new technologies for the processing

and recycling of slag from metals producers throughout

the world The recycled slag contributes to such

applications as road surfacing cement additives and

extenders fertilizers for agriculture and turf

building and water filtration We continue to drive

our zero waste processes towards environmentally

responsible and beneficial commercialization of

industrial by-products and by doing so create viable

uses for materials that were formerly designated

for landfill

World of Opportunity Although

Economic Uncertainty Remains

Harsco enters 2010 with leaner cost structure

broader and more balanced global market footprint

Harsco Corporation 2009 Annual Report



strong balance sheet with excellent free cash flow

and talented and motivated people who are passionate

about our core purpose and core values We know that

sign .flcant near-term challenges remain in our Harsco

Infrastructure bushiess particularly in the first half of

2010 wl are the is lack of any meanir gful tivity in

many of the construction narkets we se ye ecpecially

in Europe and the United States While we continue to

be opimistc aoout the prospects of gradual global

coot omic recovery considerable uncertainty remains

Nevertheless we are encouraged by the impi oving

performance of our Harsco Metals and Harsco Minerals

businesses the strong backlog of our Harsco Rail

business and the consistent performance of our

Harsco Industrial business

1/he Great Recession caused us to look hard at our

operating practices and business platfonns and execute

tough countermeasures to permanently remove costs

and optimize our capital Our cost reduction and

capital optimization focus will continue throughout

2010 particularly the Iiarsco Infrastructure business

We will benefit frors our lower break-even point sad

from the emerging market capabilities we ye initiated

through recent acquisitions and joint ventures in China

Latin America ar .5 the Gulf Region of the Middle East

1/Va will also cononue to engage customers in different

kind of dialogue that moves beyond menu of dism etc

activities to intcç rated value-based solutions By stay

ing attuned to our customers most important needs

and respondng with unparaileled technical cape tise

world-class servicec and an unwavering commitment to

our core ideology we will work as partners to drive

bott their success and ours We are proud to say tl

We Help Build the World

Salvatore Razz 1/an

Chairman and Chief Executive Officcr

March 10 2010
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Harsco emerging markets strategy positions the company for the new dynamics

of the 21st century From its budding presence in Brazil Harsco Rail is enhancing the

performance of an extensive railway network that serves the countrys vital mining and

metals inoustnes and will support Brazils successful Olympics and World Cup bids this

coming decade Harsco Industrial nas formed new relationships for its aiocooled heat

exchangers in ihe Middle East and AsiaPacific regions to create immarket production

efficiencies for its global customers Our expanding presence in India includes new global

business services center and new contracts with some of India leading industrial companies

Balance
Harsco Metals was one of the first mill services providers to enter the Gulf Region

of the Middle East some 20 years ago Today governments across the region are

nvesting in local steel and uminum mills as costeffective alternative to imported

ziatarials Buiid ng on existing re ationships and years of proven performance Harsco

Metals has been awarded significant new conti acts that reinforce our presence

and expand our reputation for service and value leadership

Robust infrastructure spending in China Latin America and other emerging markets

is creating new growth opportunities Our iecent acquisitions and joint ventures in these

regions are heloing us scaleup quickly by establishing new market relationships and

puffing existing assets to work Our joint venture with one of the largest construction

groups China establishes strong platform for future growth in one of the worlds

most buoyant construction economies Our acquisition of ESCO Intel america extends

our prese ace ir Latin America to seven additional countries and provides gateway to

Brazil and other expanding infrastructure markets In Australia our Bell Scaffolding

acquisition positions Harsco Infrastructure for new opportunities across the countrys

eastern seaboard through network of branch locations and strong technical design

and support capabilities with the capacity for also expanding into resourcenich

western Austra.ia
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Over the years Harsco Infrastructure has provided engineered formwork and

scaffolding services to help refineries petrochemical processors
and electric utifty

power pants compmre scheduled construction ano maintenance work both safely

and efficiently More recently we have been expanding these onsite services to support

additional industrial maintenance requirements such as insulation installation painting

and coaffng Our 2009 acquisition of Ncol UK Ltd strengthens our position in this

discipline By continuing to expand oor industnal access and plant maintenance focus

Harsco Infrastructure is building solid and better balanced foundation of Iongderm

customer relationships and predictable returns

Focus
Steel is among te most recyclable materials on the planet Harsco Metals and Harsco

Minerals are working closely to develop innovative and integrated environmental

solutions at the point of production that will benefit steelmakers as well as the environ

ment Moreover as the stee industry consoidates there is also growing demand

for recovery and recycling services at former steelmaking tes At an EPAIed cleanup

of former steel mill in Gadsden Alabama Harsco Metals is applying its industryleading

exoertise to operate an onsite metal recovery and slag processing facility
that will process

an estimated three million cubic yards of slag materials The EPA has acclaimed this

new program as potential model for cleaning up similar sites wrth all remediation

costs funded by the sale of recovered metals and minerals

tt

Commercial property owners are ernoracing green Leadership in Energy and

Envirortniental Design LEED guIdelines to reduce total operating costs and advance

their commitment to environmental responsibility In the United States many are

replacing exshng inaustrial and commercial boilers with our growing MACH inc of

energyefficient boilers from Harsco Industrial To help customers maximize their return

on nvestment Harsco Industrials new Custom Solutions program for heat transfer

products provides tailored advice on everything from equpment sizing and selection to

construction support and performance tracking This vaIueadded program is delivering

lower litecycle costs and improved energy efficiency

GREEN FROM THE START
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When customers partner with Harsco Rail they get much more han well-engineered

equipment parts and services They benefit from century of knowledge and innovation

Our engineers understand the primary value drivers that new track maintenance

equipment must address safety costs utilization of human assets and transfer of

geneaPonal snoivledge More thai eve- wo are worKing alongside our customes to

understand their needs solve problems and create value ln 2009 Harsco Rail worked

closely with one key customer to develop the industrys first unmanned ballast tamper

The new machine draws on years of engineering and software experience to automate

all aspects of the drones operation and frees up ailway personnel to work on other

areas of responsibilrty Its just the beginning for future unmanned machines in the

rail maintenance industry

Culture
ad Va

Processing millions of tons of onsite slag each year Harsco Metals creates value for

customers by developing and deploying the most efficient services and technologies

to support their operations Meanwhile Harsco Minerals has developed innovative

solubons for collecting removing and selling high-value metals and by-products from

steelmaU ig and other metals production Under new leadership the Harsco Metals

and Harsco Minerals businesses are redefining their value proposition by aligning their

technologcal competencies and helping customers achmve clean profitable and

susta nable zero-waste-streari solutions for their metals production processes

At Harsco we believe that effective teamwork holds the key to value creation new

global hurran resources information system will enable Harsco to access the skills

and knowledge of our people across the organization to engineer new solutions

streamline pocesscs and support our gobal customer base The now systom will

also support succession planning within each business and establish consistent

process to foste ca eer development It will hep us think plan and execute as One

Harsco more globally integrated organization with teams that span borders and

businesses and win with ntegrity arywhere the world
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The past years global economic turbo ence as required proact ye discip med

and focused response aross the orgar izabon In late 2008 aid througiou 2003

we oxocuted aggressive countermeasu redu our cost structure low

our reak-even poW mmntain strong balance sheet ann robust free cash flow

and build for tha tutue Were asng our Conbnuous mprovement core discplne

and other key in tiatives to create new ways to Wo ove logistics and reduc

nventory st cam inc processos and optimize ur focus on value-adding actvihes

These initiatives bettm postion us to regain ir momentum as the worlds oconmnes

gradually recover and our markets slowly resume their essential contributions

to global growth and development

Ions

Each year Harsco spends more than $2 aillion on purchased mate als and services

and ot icr costs to support our customers and produce our products Any savrgs will

nep lower operat ng costs and improve EVA Beginn ng in 2010 Harsco wtl tao the global

aypese lM to help turn best oractices procurement inventory mnugemer0

logistics and traisportation demand and supply plarning and network design nto

smart supply chain that dehvers sustainab competitive advantage By linking thes

key cross-functions and extending them across all facilities ar geographies Harsco

will build vital end-to end visibility
that will better connect us wth our suppliers partners

aid customers for faster execution

global compa ty lars benefits fom netwo of engneering rfor ation

ecr ology nna ice id other ey umcipl nes tak eaci ut those furmioi to row ci

we are dews opng new shared services model that consolidates our capabilities to de icr

orldw lass support Inc new model wi foster greater collaborabon dehve hgher levels

serv cc expcrtise to our operabng cars pan es and make oaser to integrate ew

acqusrLor and rar age global joint ye iture catior shps
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Five-Year Statistical Summary

In thousands except pershare employee information and percentages 20091il 2008 20071H 2006 20051d

Income Statement Information attributable to

Harsco Corporation common stockholdersd

Revenues from continuing operations $2990577 $3967822 $3688160 $3025613 $2396009

Income from continuing operations 133838 245623 255115 186402 144488

Income loss from discontinued operations 15061 4678 44377 9996 12169

Net income attributable to Harsco Corporation 118771 240945 299492 196398 156657

Financial Position and Cash Flow Information

Working capital 418231 317062 471367 320847 352620

Total assets 3639240 3562970 3905430 3326423 2975804

Long-term debt 901734 891817 1012087 864817 905859

Total debt 984921 1012883 1080794 1063021 1009888

Depreciation and amortization including discontinued operations 311.531 337949 306413 252982 198065

Capital expenditures 165.320 457617 443583 340173 290239

Cash provided by operating activities 434458 574276 471740 409239 315279

Cash used by investing activities 269360 443418 386125 359455 645185

Cash provided used by financing activities 164083 155539 77687 84196 369325

Ratios

Return on saleslol 4.5% 6.2% 6.9% 6.2% 6.0%

Return on average equityl1llt 9.1% 14.6% 18.9% 16.4% 14.9%

Current ratio 1.61 1.41 1.51 1.41 1.51

Total debtto total capitalltllhl 39.5% 41.1% 40.3% 47.4% 49.6%

Per Share Information attributable to Harsco Corporation

common stockholdersl1

Basic Income from continuing operations 1.67 2.94 3.03 2.22 1.73

Income from discontinued operations 0.19 0.06 0.53 0.12 0.15

Net income 1.48 2.88 3.56 2.34 1.88

Diluted Income from continuing operations 1.66 2.92 3.01 2.21 1.72

Income from discontinued operations 0.19 0.06 0.52 0.12 0.14

Net income 1.47 2.87i 3.53 2.33 1.86

Bookvalue 18.79 18.09 18.99 14.01 12.30

Cash dividends declared
per

share 0.805 0.78 0.7275 0.665 0.6125

Other Information

Diluted average number of shares outstanding Ii 80586 84029 84724 84430 84161

Number of employees 19600 21500 21500 21500 21000

Backlog from continuing operations
1k 490863 639693 448054 236460 230584

Includes ESCO Interamerica Ltd acquired November 102009 Harsco Infrastructure

Includes Excel/Minerals acquired February 12007 All Other Category-Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial

ci Includes the Northern Hemisphere mill services operations of Brambles Industrial Services BISNH acquired December 292005 Harsco Metals and Hünnebeck Group GmbH acquired November21

2005 Harsco Infrastructure

dl 2006 and 2005 income statement in formation is reclassified to reflect the Gas Technologies Segment as Discontinued Operations This Segment was disposed on December 2007

Return on sales is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations by revenues from continuing operations

Return on average equity is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations by average equity throughout the year

IgI 2005 through 2008 have been restated in order to include noncontrolling interests previously referred to as minority interests as component of equity in accordance with the changes to

consolidation accounting and reporting issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board January 2009

IhI Total debt to total capital is calculated by dividing the sum of debt short-term borrowings and long-term debt including current maturities by the sum of equity and debt

Ii 2006 and 2005 per share information is restated to reflect the 2-for-I stock split effective in the first quarter of 200

Ill Does not total due to rounding

1k Excludes the estimated amount of long-term mill service contracts which had estimated future revenues of $3.6 billion at December 312009 and $4.1 billion at December31 2008 Also excludes

backlog of the Harsco Infrastructure Segment and the roofing granules and industrial abrasives business These amounts are generally not quantifiable due to the nature and timing of the products

and services provided

Harsco Corporation 2009 Annual Report 17



Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the

consolidated financial statements provided in the Annual Report Certain

statements contained herein may constitute forward-looking statements

within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

These statements involve number of risks uncertainties and other

factors that could cause actual results to differ materially as discussed

more fully herein

Forward-Looking Statements

The nature of the Companys business and the many countries in which it

operates subject itto changing economic competitive regulatory and

technological conditions risks and uncertainties In accordance with the

safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

1995 the Company provides the following cautionary remarks regarding

important factors that among others could cause future results to differ

materially from the forward-looking statements expectations and

assumptions expressed or implied herein Forward-looking statements

contained herein could include among other things statements about

our management confidence and strategies for performance expecta

tions for new and existing products technologies and opportunities

and expectations regarding growth sales cash flows earnings and

Economic Value Added EVA These statements can be identified

by the use of such terms as may could expect anticipate

intend believe or other comparable terms

Factors that could cause results to differ include but are not limited to

changes in the worldwide business environment in which the Company

operates including general economic conditions changes in currency

exchange rates interest rates commodity and fuel costs and capital

costs changes in the performance of stock and bond markets that

could affect among other things the valuation of the assets in the

Companys pension plans and the accounting for pension assets

liabilities and expenses changes in governmental laws and

regulations including environmental tax and import tariff standards

market and competitive changes including pricing pressures market

demand and acceptance for new products services and technologies

unforeseen business disruptions in one or more of the many countries

in which the Company operates due to political instability
civil disobedi

ence armed hostilities public health issues or other calamities the

seasonal nature of the business our ability to successfully enter into

new contracts and complete new acquisitions or joint ventures in the

timeframe contemplated or at all the integration of the Companys

strategic acquisitions 10 the amount and timing of repurchases of the

Companys common stock if any 11 the ongoing global financial and

credit crisis which could result in our customers curtailing development

projects construction production and capital expenditures which in

turn could reduce the demand for our products and services and

accordingly our sales margins and profitability 12 the financial

condition of our customers including the ability of customers especially

those that may be highly leveraged and those with inadequate liquidity

to maintain their credit availability 13 our ability to successfully

implement cost-reduction initiatives and 14 other risk factors listed

from time to time in the Companys SEC reports further discussion of

these along with other potential factors can be found in the Companys

2009 Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

The Company cautions that these factors may not be exhaustive and

that many of these factors are beyond the Companys ability to control

or predict Accordingly forward-looking statements should not be relied

upon as prediction of actual results The Company undertakes no duty

to update forward-looking statements except as may be required by law
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Executive Overview

The following major challenges emanating from the global recession

that began in 2008 impacted the Company in 2009

Unprecedented low steel production throughout the world

lack of available credit to certain customers that caused

commercial and multi-family construction contracts to be cancelled

or postponed

An overall stronger U.S dollar during 2009 compared with 2008 and

Pricing pressure across all businesses as customers sought to

control costs during the recession and increased competition for

the remaining projects

In response to further deterioration of global markets during

2009 the Company supplemented its 2008 restructuring initiatives with

additional countermeasures targeting expense reduction revenue

enhancement and asset optimization The combination of the 2008 and

2009 countermeasures have enabled the Company to make substantial

progress in reducing its cost structure The savings realized from these

initiatives will continue to benefit 2010 and beyond The Companys

actions to minimize its cost base and increase efficient asset utilization

have included the following

Redeployment of its mobile asset base in the Harsco Infrastructure

and Harsco Metals Segments to focus on market segments that

remain strong and provide growth opportunities such as the

relocation of infrastructure rental assets from the United Kingdom

and Ireland to the Gulf Region of the Middle East and Asia-Pacific

and to markets served by recent acquisitions in Latin America this

helped enable substantial reduction in capital spending

Reduction in the global workforce of approximately 20% since

September 2008 and substantial reductions in discretionary spending

Continued expansion of the Companys Continuous Improvement

initiatives

Substantial reductions in capital spending resulting in record

discretionary cash flows

Strengthening certain key positions in the global leadership team

with new personnel

Implementation of supply chain optimization initiatives and

Implementation of countermeasures to improve efficiency and

remove unnecessary costs

The Companys 2009 revenues from continuing operations totaled

$3.0 billion decrease of $1.0 billion or 25% from 2008 The Company

experienced lower volume levels resulting from deterioration of global

steel markets and weaker demand for infrastructure services resulting

in part from the lack of credit to finance projects particularly in the

United Kingdom North America and several other key European countries

Foreign currency translation decreased sales by $254.7 million and

accounted for approximately 26% of the decline in sales

Operating income from continuing operations was $218.7 million

compared with $412.0 million in 2008 decrease of 47% Diluted earnings

per share from continuing operations were $1.66 43% decrease from

2008 Results in 2008 included charge of $0.28 per share in the fourth

quarter for significant restructuring initiative In the third quarter of

2009 the Company recorded net non-cash charge of $0.11 per basic

and diluted share for adjustments related principally to the improper

recording of revenue by one business unit in one country over period

of approximately three years Previously issued financial statements were

not revised based on the Companys determination that the cumulative

effect was not material to the full-year 2009 results or previously issued

annual or quarterly financial statements

Revenues from the Companys targeted growth markets were approximately 23% and 20% of total revenues for 2009 and 2008 respectively

Revenues by region were as follows

Revenues by Region

Totai Revenues Twelve Months Ended December31 Percentage Growth From 2008 to 2009

Dollars in millions
2009 Percent 2008 Percent Volume Currency

Total

Western Europe $1268.5 42% $1770.8 45% 18.4% 10.0% 28.4%

North America 1062.6 35 1370.0 35 21.8 0.6 22.4

Middle East and Africa 228.7 257.5 10.81 0.4 11.2

LatinAmericall 191.0 253.7 12.5 9.9 22.4

Eastern Europe 120.0 189.0 19.1 17.4 36.5

Asia-Pacific 113.8 126.8 2.3 7.9 10.2

Total $2990.6 100% $3967.8 100% 18.2% 6.4% 24.6%

Includes Mexico
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During 2009 the Company generated net cash from operating

activities of $434.5 million compared with $574.3 million achieved in 2008

For 2009 capital expenditures were reduced to $165.3 million compared

with $457.6 million in 2008 as existing capital assets were used more

efficiently The Company continues to have significant available liquidity

and remains well-positioned from financial
flexibility perspective Net

cash from operating activities for 2009 is less than in 2008 due primarily

to lower income as result of the global recession but was offset by

lower capital expenditures compared with prior years as the mobility

of the capital asset base provided the
ability to reallocate resources

globally This reallocation was performed without substantial new

investments or harm to the productivity of the equipment in the short-

term and confirmed the
flexibility

of the Companys capital allocation

model The reduction in capital spending has thus allowed the Company

to further enhance its balance sheet maintain its dividend reduce debt

to the extent possible under borrowing agreements and pursue prudent

bolt-on acquisitions that are consistent with the Companys growth

strategies The Companys cash flows are further discussed in the

Liquidity and Capital Resources section

Segment Summary

The Harsco Infrastructure Segment generated lower revenue and

operating income in 2009 compared with 2008 The reductions in 2009

were due principallyto reduced end-market demand particularly in

the United Kingdom North America and several other key European

countries and negative foreign currency translation effects Lower

demand was driven by the lack of available credit to certain customers

that has resulted in cancelled and delayed non-residential construction

projects as well as significant decline in export sales of infrastructure-

related equipment This Segments revenues in 2009 were $1.2 billion

compared with $1.5 billion in 2008 25% decrease Operating income

decreased by 63% to $68.4 million from $185.4 million in 2008 Operating

margins for the Segment declined to 5.9% from 12.0% in 2008 Foreign

currency translation decreased revenues and operating income for

2009 by $113.1 million and $14.2 million respectively in comparison

with 2008 Harsco Infrastructure accounted for 39% and 31% of the

Companys revenues and operating income respectively in 2009

compared with 39% and 45% of the revenues and operating income

respectively for 2008

Results for the Harsco Metals Segment for 2009 reflected unprec

edented customer steel production cuts resulting from lower end-market

demand due to the global recession Revenues for 2009 for the Harsco

Metals Segment were $1.1 billion compared with $1.6 billion in 2008

31% decrease Volume decreases attributable to steel production cuts

drove 72% of the reduction in year-over-year sales and negative foreign

currency translation contributed 26% of the decline This Segment

generated operating income of $15.9 million during 2009 compared with

operating income of $85.3 million in 2008 Foreign currency translation

decreased revenues and operating income for 2009 by $1 26.5 million

and $16.4 million respectively in comparison with 2008 Harsco Metals

accounted for 36% and 7% of the Companys revenues and operating

income respectively in 2009 compared with 40% and 21% of the

revenues and operating income respectively for 2008

The Harsco Rail Segments revenues in 2009 were $306.0 million

compared with $277.6 million in 2008 10% increase Operating income

increased by 55% to $56.5 million from $36.4 million in 2008 Operating

margins for this Segment increased by 540 basis points to 18.5% from

13.1% in 2008 The Harsco Rail business generated higher revenues in

2009 compared with 2008 due principally to shipments of equipment to

China under contracts with the China Ministry of Railways Harsco Rail

accounted for 10% and 26% of the Companys revenues and operating

income respectively in 2009 compared with 7% and 9% of the

revenues and operating income respectively for 2008

In the All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial

revenues in 2009 were $440.3 million compared with $572.0 million in 2008

decrease of 23% Operating income decreased by 28% to $82.5 million

from $114.5 million in 2008 due principally to volume and commodity price

declines in the minerals business and an overall market decline in the

industrial grating products business Operating margins for the All Other

Category decreased by 130 basis points to still respectable 18.7% from

20.0% in 2008 The minerals business continued to be adversely impacted

by the downturn in metals production and fluctuating commodity prices

and the industrial products business experienced an overall market decline

as customers reduced stock levels from high 2008 inventory levels

The All Other Category accounted for 15% and 38% of the Companys

revenues and operating income respectively in 2009 compared with 14%

and 28% of the revenues and operating income respectively for 2008
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Harsco Infrastructure Segment2009 Highlights

The following significant items affected the Company overall during

2009 in comparison with 2008

Company-Wide

Revenues and operating income were impacted bythe global

recession as

The average value of the U.S dollar increased significantly from

2008 to 2009 accounting for 26% of the sales decline and 16% of

the decline in operating income

Global steel production which began to decline in the latter part

of 2008 remained at unprecedented low levels in 2009 and

Restrictive lending and credit practices continued to adversely

affect non-residential construction projects worldwide this was

coupled with pricing pressure as customers sought price breaks

and competitors pursued the limited number of available projects

During 2009 the Companys operating income benefited from the

restructuring actions implemented in the fourth quarter of 2008

Operational improvements were also recognized as result of

additional countermeasures implemented throughout 2009 targeting

expense reduction revenue enhancement and asset optimization

Cost savings from the combination of the 2008 and 2009 countermea

sures should manifestthemselves throughout 2010 and beyond with

significant annualized benefits

Due to strong operating cash flows and controlled capital spending

the Company repaid debt of $84.3 million in 2009 Balance sheet

debt declined by $28.0 million in the same period due to foreign

currency translation

Cash flow from operations for 2009 was $434.5 million This was more

than sufficient to fund the cash requirements for investing activities of

$269.4 million while also providing excess funds to reduce debt

Dollars in millions
2009 2008

Revenues $1159.2 $1540.3

Operating income 68.4 185.4

Operating margin percent
5.9% 12.0%

Harsco Infrastructure Segment Significant Effects on Revenues

In millions

Revenues 2008 $1540.3

Net decreased volume 273.9

Impact of foreign currency translation 113.1

Acquisitions
9.9

Revenues 2009 $1159.2

Harsco Infrastructure Segment Significant Effects on Operating Income

In 2009 the Segments operating results decreased due to reduced

non-residential commercial and infrastructure construction

spending particularly in the United Kingdom North America and

several other key European countries This was partially
offset by

continued strength in emerging economies in the Gulf Region of the

Middle East and Asia-Pacific regions as well as the global industrial

maintenance sector The Company has benefited from its capital

investments made in these markets in prior years and its ability to

redeploy equipment throughout the world

In response to further deterioration of global infrastructure

markets during 2009 this Segment implemented additional counter

measures targeting expense reduction asset optimization and

facility rationalization

Foreign currency translation in 2009 decreased operating income

for this Segment by $14.2 million compared with 2008
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Harsco Metals Segment

Dollars in millions

Revenues

Operating income

Operating margin percent 1.5% 5.4%

Harsco Metals Segment Significant Effects on Revenues

In millions

Revenues 2008 $1577.7

Net decreased volume 356.1

Impact of foreign currency translation 126.5

Adjustments and other charges 10.3

Revenues 2009 $1084.8

Harsco Metals Segment Significant Effects on Operating Income

Revenues operating income and margins for 2009 were negatively

impacted by unprecedented declines in global steel production and

the stronger U.S dollar in 2009 compared with 2008 Liquid steel

tons produced by customers were reduced by approximately

30% compared with 2008

During 2009 this Segments operating income benefited from the

restructuring actions implemented in the fourth quarter of 2008

Operating results also benefited from additional countermeasures

implemented during 2009 targeting expense reduction revenue

enhancement and asset optimization

reversal of revenue improperly recognized over the prior three

years resulted in an operating income decrease that was recorded

in the third quarter of 2009 The improperly recorded revenue related

to the failure to receive advance customer agreement and to invoice

on timely basis for additional work performed for two customers

This matter was isolated to business unit in one country and is

considered one-time event

Foreign currency translation in 2009 decreased operating income

for this Segment by $1 6.4 million compared with 2008

Haisco Rail Segment

Dollars in millions

Revenues

Operating income

Operating margin percent 18.5h

Harsco Rail Segment Significant Effects on Revenues

In millions

Revenues 2008
$277.6

Net increased volume
35.6

Impact of
foreign currency translation 7.2

Revenues 2009
$306.0

Harsco Rail Segment Significant Effects on Operating Income

This Segments operating income increased for 2009 due in part to

shipments of equipment to China under contracts with the China

Ministry of Railways partially offset by lower spare parts sales

During 2009 this Segments operating income and margins also

benefited from ongoing Continuous Improvement initiatives

Foreign currency translation in 2009 reduced operating income for

this Segment by $1 .3 million compared with 2008

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial

18.7h

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial

Significant Effects on Revenues

In millions

Revenues2008
$572.0

Industrial grating products 51.7

Air-cooled heat exchangers 45.1

Reclamation and recycling services 19.8

Impact of foreign currency translation 7.9

Roofing granules and abrasives 5.9

Heat transfer equipment 1.3

Revenues 2009 $440.3

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial

Significant Effects on Operating Income

The economic downturn and customer decreases in inventory levels

compared with 2008 contributed to reduction in operating income

for the industrial grating products business

The air-cooled heat exchangers business experienced modest

increase in operating income in 2009 as declines in operating income

due to sales volume decreases were offset by lower commodity

costs and benefits from Continuous Improvement actions

Operating income for the minerals business decreased in 2009 due

to significantly lower metal prices and product mix

Countermeasures targeting expense reduction revenue enhance

ment and asset optimization were implemented in these businesses

and partially offset the declines in operating income

Foreign currency translation in 2009 decreased operating income

for the All Other Category by $1.4 million compared with 2008

2009 2808

$1 .084.8 $1577.7

15.9 85.3

Dollars in millions

Revenues

Operating income

Operating margin percent

2009 2008

$440.3 $572.0

82.5 114.5

20.0%

2009 2008

$306.0 $277.6

56.5 36.4

13.1%
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Outlook Trends and Strategies

Company-Wide

Economic uncertainty remains throughout the world as result of the

global financial and economic crisis that started in 2008 During the

latter part of 2009 certain negative economic trends began to slowly

abate as overall steel production at mills served by the Companys

operations showed modest sequential quarterly increase and the U.S

dollar weakened against certain major currencies While improving steel

production and weaker U.S dollar generally contribute positively to the

Companys performance expectations are that many of the challenges

stemming from the global recession will continue in 2010 particularly in

the first half with the first quarter being the worst of the year

The lack of activity
in many of the non-residential commercial

construction markets served by the Company poses near-term challenges

that include further pressure on pricing and equipment utilization These

lower levels of activity have been exacerbated by extreme winter weather

conditions across many parts of Europe and the United States which are

also expected to have negative impact on operating results in the first

quarter of 2010

Although global economic conditions remain uncertain the Company

believes it is well-positioned to capitalize on opportunities and execute

appropriate countermeasures based on its strong balance sheet

available liquidity and ability to generate strong operating cash flows

The Company has implemented and will continue to proactively and

aggressively implement countermeasures to reinforce current and future

performance The Company is confidentthat its on-going cost-reduction

initiatives its global supply chain initiative with IBM along with its

Continuous Improvement program
have significantly reduced and will

continue to reduce the Companys cost structure and further enhanced

its financial strength The Companys expansion of its global footprint in

emerging markets its diversity of services and products in industries that

are fundamental to global growth its long-term mill services and minerals

supply contracts the portability and mobility of its infrastructure services

equipment and its large infrastructure services customer base help

mitigate its overall exposure to changes in any single economy However

continued or further deterioration of global economies could still have an

adverse impact on the Companys operating results

The following significant items risks trends and strategies are

expected to affect the Company in 2010 and beyond

The Company expects continued strong cash flows from operating

activities The Company also expects to maintain discipline to limit

capital expenditures through its ability to redeploy equipment to

new projects without jeopardizing the productivity of the equipment

The Company believes that in the current economic environment

the mobile nature of its capital investment pool will facilitate strategic

growth initiatives in the near term lessening the need for growth

capital expenditures for 2010

Management will continue to be very selective and disciplined in

allocating capital choosing projects with the highest Economic

Value Added EVA potential

The Company will continue to develop and implement countermea

sures as it has on an ongoing basis since the fourth quarter of 2008

to further compress underlying administration and operating costs to

match the current economic environment and lower its break-even

point without sacrificing quality of output

Continued implementation of the Companys enterprise-wide

Continuous Improvement program is expected to provide long-term

benefits and enhance the overall performance of the Company

through increased efficiency and reduced cost structure

The Company announced in January 2010 that it has embarked upon

business transformation initiative designed to create significant

operating and cost efficiencies by improving the Companys internal

supply chain planning logistics scheduling and integration through

out its worldwide operations This project is expected to contribute

to the Companys EVA growth but could result in near-term cost

increases and capital expenditures

The Company will continue to place strong focus on corporate-wide

expansion into emerging economies to grow and better balance its

geographic footprint More specifically the Companys global growth

strategies include steady targeted expansion particularly in the Gulf

Region of the Middle East and Africa Asia-Pacific and Latin America

to further complement the Companys already-strong presence

throughout Europe and North America Growth is expected to be

achieved through the provision of additional services to existing

customers new contracts in both developed and emerging markets
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and targeted strategic bolt-on acquisitions in strategic countries Total defined benefit net periodic pension expense for 2010 is expected

and market sectors Additionally new higher-margin service and

sales opportunities in the minerals and rail businesses will be pursued

globally This strategy is expected to develop significant increase to

the Companys presence in these markets to achieve approximately

30% of total Company revenues from emerging markets over the next

several years and closer to 40% in the longer-term Over time the

improved geographic footprint will also benefit the Company through

further diversification of its customer base

Fluctuations in the U.S dollar can have significant impacts in the

Harsco Infrastructure and Harsco Metals Segments as approximately

80% to 85% of the revenues generated in these businesses are

outside the United States If the U.S dollar would strengthen as it did

overall from 2008 to 2009 sales and operating income would generally

be reduced If the U.S dollarwere to weaken sales and operating

income would generally improve

Governments around the world have enacted stimulus packages to

promote much-needed infrastructure projects Any substantial

near-term benefitfrom stimulus packages is uncertain particularly in

the United States and the United Kingdom When stimulus package

funding becomes available for infrastructure projects which has

been limited thus far the Harsco Infrastructure and the Harsco Rail

Segments are well positioned with their engineering expertise and

the Companys capital investment base to take advantage of any

expected opportunities The Harsco Minerals business should also

benefitfrom increased demand for its abrasive products as required

by refurbishment stimulus projects

Steel production in 2010 is expected to increase over levels in 2009

benefitting the Harsco Metals Segment

Volatility in energy and commodity costs e.g crude oil natural

gas steel etc and worldwide demand for these commodities could

impact the Companys operations Cost increases could result in

reduced operating income for certain products and services to

the extentthat such costs cannot be passed to customers Cost

decreases could result in increased operating income to the extent

that such cost savings do not need to be passed on to customers

However volatility in energy and commodity costs may provide

additional service opportunities for the Harsco Metals Segment

and several businesses in the All Other Category as customers may

outsource more services to reduce overall costs
Volatility may

also provide opportunities in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment for

additional industrial plant maintenance and capital improvement

projects In addition to embracing opportunities for revenue

enhancement the Company seeks to mitigate these costs as part

of its ongoing enterprise-wide optimization initiatives

to be approximately $21 million slightly higher than 2009 The increased

expense is due to lower discount rate at December 31 2009

partially offset by higherthan expected returns on plan assets in

2009 These two factors are the primary drivers of the Companys

defined benefit net periodic pension expense as future service is

no longer factor in substantially all of the Companys significant

defined benefit plans

The Company has maintained capital structure with balance sheet

debt to capital ratio approximating 40% for the last several years

In October 2010 the Companys 200 million British pound sterling-

denominated notes lapproximately $323 million at December 31 2009

will mature The Company expects to refinance these notes during

2010 through public debt commercial paper borrowings or its

revolving credit facilities

As the Company has continued the strategic expansion of its global

footprint it has lowered its effective income tax rate The reduction

reflects earnings in jurisdictions with lower tax rates coupled with

the deferral of profits generated internationally The effective income

tax rate for 2010 before discrete items is currently expected to be

approximately 24% to 26%

Currently majority of the Companys revenue is generated from

customers located outside the United States and substantial

portion of the Companys assets and employees are located outside

the United States U.S income tax and foreign withholding taxes have

not been provided on undistributed earnings for certain non-U.S

subsidiaries because such earnings are intended to be indefinitely

reinvested in the operations of those subsidiaries Several U.S

legislation proposals have been announced that would substantially

reduce or have the effect of substantially reducing the Companys

ability to defer U.S taxes on profit permanently reinvested outside the

United States Proposals to date could have negative impact on the

Companys financial position and operating results Additionally they

could have negative impact on the Companys ability to compete in

the global marketplace The probability of any of these proposals

being enacted cannot be predicted with any certainty Indications are

that reform in 2010 is still likely but such reform may be structured

with more of the business communitys concerns in mind Nonetheless

the Company is working with legislators with the goal of achieving

balanced and fair approach to tax reform The Company continues

to monitor legislation to be in position to structure operations in

mannerthatwill reduce the impact of enacted changes
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The Companys Harsco Minerals business generates value by

capturing and processing boiler slag which is coal combustion

by-product The EPA is considering increased regulation of the

management of coal combustion by-products Such requirement

could affect the Harsco Minerals business The Company is confident

at this time based upon EPA confirmation in the year 2000 and again

in 2009 thatthere is no change in science that requires increased

regulation of boiler slag Additionally the Company believes no

scientific data exists to support reclassification of boiler slag

Harsco Infrastructure Segment

The near-term outlookfor the Harsco Infrastructure Segment is

impacted by continued uncertainty in global credit markets which

has caused construction projects to be deferred or cancelled thus

contributing to pricing pressure The current lack of activity in

non-residential commercial construction markets particularly in the

United Kingdom Ireland other parts of Europe and the United States

coupled with harsh winter weather conditions across many parts of

Europe and the United States are expected to present very challeng

ing business conditions in the first half of 2010 particularly in the first

quarter As result the Company expects an operating loss in the

Harsco Infrastructure Segmentfor the quarter ending March 31 2010

The Company has initiated transformational strategy in the Harsco

Infrastructure Segment that includes the following

Effective in January 2010 all operations within this Segment have

been rebranded as Harsco Infrastructure Previously the Harsco

Infrastructure Segment utilized three brand names SGB Group

Hünnebeck Group and Patent Construction Systems

The costs and viability of the existing branch structure will

continue to be scrutinized with targeted goal of reducing the

number of branches by 25% from the 2008 number exclusive

of recent acquisitions

global supply chain optimization plan is being developed

to identify initiatives that when implemented should generate

considerable operating and cost efficiencies

The productivity of branches will be improved through the continued

use of the Companys Continuous Improvement program and

implementation of best practices across the network of branches

Additional countermeasures to adjust administration and operating

costs to match the economic environment and to lower the Segments

cost structure are being implemented To assist in accelerating these

initiatives the Company expects to incur approximately $8 million

to $10 million in restructuring costs during the first quarter of 2010

The Company has initiated strategies to reposition the business

focusing increasingly on projects in the global industrial maintenance

and infrastructure construction sectors In 2009 approximately 40%

of the Segments business was in the commercial and multi-family

sector which has been impacted the most by tightened credit

restrictions and the global economic downturn The remainder of

current business was spread approximately 30% each to the

industrial maintenance and the infrastructure sectors Over the next

few years the Company is targeting an allocation of approximately

40% each in the industrial maintenance and infrastructure sectors

with 20% in the commercial and multi-family sector Industrial

maintenance contracts generally are long-term contracts with

sustainable revenue streams serving the oil and gas pharmaceutical

chemical electric utility power plant and steel industries Infra

structure contracts also tend to be longer-term contracts with

blue-chip contractors and include government-sponsored

projects from stimulus programs

The Company will continue to emphasize prudent expansion of its

geographic presence in this Segmentthrough entering new markets

and through further expansion in emerging economies with focus

on China India and Latin America The Harsco Infrastructure

Segments value-added services and engineered forming shoring

and scaffolding systems combined with its mobile capital investment

base will continue to be leveraged to grow the business as expansion

opportunities occur

In 201 the Company will fully integrate its recent acquisitions

ESCO regional leader in infrastructure services in seven countries

in Central and South America and Bell Scaffolding Group with

operations across the eastern seaboard of Australia ESCO is

expected to provide an opportunity for the Company to scale its

operations across the Latin American region while Bell Scaffolding

provides opportunities for further growth throughout Australia and

other neighboring regions

Further declines in the economy and more specifically the construction

industry may impact the ability of customers to meet their obligations

to the Company on timely basis and could adversely impact the

realizability of receivables particularly if customers file for bankruptcy

protection or receivership
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Harsco Metals Segment

Steel industry expectations are that steel production will increase in

2010 compared with 2009 but not to the levels of the first half of 2008

priorto the beginning of the global recession Consistentwith the

industry overall the Harsco Metals Segments customers increased

their production in the last half of 2009 and those production levels

are expected to increase modestly throughout 2010

The Company expects that customer production growth in 2010 can

be accommodated with minimal headcount additions and limited capi

tal spending by continued adherence to the Companys Continuous

Improvement program and prudent redeployment of labor and capital

Benefits from the Companys 2008 restructuring program and

additional countermeasures implemented in 2009 should continue to

improve the operational efficiency and enhance profitability of the

Harsco Metals Segment in 2010 and beyond Additional countermea

sures will be undertaken in 2010 to continue to lowerthe cost base of

this Segment Restructuring and countermeasure initiatives to date

have included improved terms or exit from underperforming

contracts with customers and underperforming operations defined

benefit pension plan design changes overall reduction in the global

workforce and substantial reduction in discretionary spending

The Company anticipates that tightening environmental regulations

will compel customers to address their production waste streams as

an opportunity to maximize environmental compliance This should

provide additional revenue opportunities for the CompanyThe Harsco

Metals Segments 2009 award of $50 million multi-year contract to

clean up million cubic yards of material left behind at an abandoned

steelworks may be seen as model for similar sites by the U.S

Environmental Protection Agency The Company will continue to

pursue growth opportunities in environmental services as awareness

of environmental issues creates additional outsourced functions in

slag management

As the steel manufacturing footprint moves towards developing

countries the Company will continue to execute geographic

expansion strategy in emerging markets in the Gulf Region of the

Middle East and Africa Latin America and Asia-Pacific

Further consolidation in the global steel industry is possible Should

additional consolidations occur involving some of the steel industrys

larger companies that are customers of the Company it could result

in an increase in concentration of revenues and credit risk for the

Company If large customer were to experience financial difficulty

or file for bankruptcy protection it could adversely impact the

Companys income cash flows and asset valuations As part of its

credit risk management practices the Company closely monitors the

credit standing and accounts receivable position of its customer

base Further consolidation may also increase pricing pressure on the

Company and the competitive risk of services contracts that are due

for renewal Conversely such consolidation may provide additional

service opportunities for the Company as the Company believes it is

well-positioned competitively As result of this customer concentra

tion key strategy of the Company is to diversify its customer base

and expand to emerging market customers

Harsco Rail Segment

The Harsco Rail Segment has strong backlog for 2010 due

principally to ongoing production of rail grinding machines for the

China Ministry of Railways The contract will generate revenues

through 2011

Further implementation of the Companys Continuous Improvement

initiatives are expected to improve margins on long-term basis

U.S and global customers are investing heavily in rebuilding their

physical assets Although reduced freight revenues experienced by

customer may involve cut in track maintenance budgets improved

margins can be realized due to extended work windows as increased

track time is available for maintenance activity U.S railway track

maintenance service opportunities are expected to increase over the

mid-term as many states have budget proposals for track services

under the U.S stimulus package New construction of high-speed rail

systems is also expected to be financed with government funds over

the near and long term

International demand for railway track maintenance services

solutions and equipment is expected to be strong in both the

nearterm and the long term The Harsco Rail Segment expects to

develop larger presence in certain developing countries as track

maintenance and construction needs grow Global bidding activity

has been strong

This Segment will continue to pursue cost-reduction initiatives

to reduce its overall cost base These initiatives could result in

near-term capital expenditures and restructuring costs

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial

The Company will emphasize prudent global expansion of its minerals

business for extracting high-value metallic content from slag and

responsibly handling and recycling residual materials Environmental

services provide growth opportunities in the minerals business as

additional outsourced functions in slag management of stainless steel

and other high-value metals arise
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Improved customer production levels should have an overall positive

effect on certain reclamation and recycling services in the near-term

Metal prices remained relatively flat in the latter part of 2009

however any increases would have positive effect on operating

results while decreases would have negative impact

Certain businesses in this Category are dependent on small

group of key customers The loss of one of these customers due to

competition or due to financial difficulty or the filing for bankruptcy

protection could adversely impact the Companys income cash

flows and asset valuations As part of its credit risk management

practices the Company closely monitors the credit standing and

accounts receivable position of its customer base

Worldwide supply and demand for steel and other commodities

impact raw material costs for certain businesses in this Category

The Company has implemented strategies to help mitigate the

potential impactthat changes in steel and other commodity prices

could have on operating income If steel or other commodity costs

Results of Operations for 2009 2008 and 2007

associated with the Companys manufactured products increase

and the costs cannot be passed onto the Companys customers

operating income would be adversely affected Conversely reduced

steel and other commodity costs would improve operating income to

the extent such savings do not have to be transferred to customers

The air-cooled heat exchangers business continues to explore

international opportunities in addition to further growth in its customary

North American markets Overall sales are expected to be negatively

impacted by lower level of industrial demand for natural gas as result

of lower natural gas prices and the global recession Low natural gas

prices throughout 2009 curtailed the need for additional gas compres

sion and coolers to supportthat compression Increased industrial use

due to improving economic conditions as well as weather patterns over

the winter months will influence the price and demand for natural gas

and consequently the demand for heat exchanger equipment Colder

weather tends to increase demand for heat exchanger equipment while

warmerweathertendsto result in reduced demand

2009 2008 2007
Dollars are in millions except per share information and percentages

Revenues from continuing operations

Cost of services and products sold

Selling general and administrative expenses

Other expenses

Operating income from continuing operations

Interest expense

Income tax expense from continuing operations

Income from continuing operations

Income loss from discontinued operations

Net income attributable to Harsco Corporation

Diluted earnings per common share from continuing operations attributable

to Harsco Corporation common stockholders

Effective income tax rate for continuing operations
______________

$2990.6 $3967.8 $3688.2

2252.1 2926.4 2685.5

509.1 602.2 538.2

7.6 22.0 3.4

218.7 412.0 451.8

62.7 73.2 81.4

18.5 91.8 117.6

140.8 251.5 264.8

15.1 4.7 44.4

118.8 299.5

1.66 3.01

11.6% 26.7% 30.7%

On January 2009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FinancialAccounting Standards Board related to consolidation accounting and reporting These changes among others require that

minority interests be renamed noncontrolling interests and that company present consolidated net income measure that includes the amount attributable to such noncontrolling interests for all

periods presented Results for 2008 and 2007 have been reclassified accordingly

240.9

2.92
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Comparative Analysis of Consolidated Results

Revenues

2009 vs 2008

Revenues for 2009 decreased $917.2 million or 25% from 2008 This decrease was attributable to the following significant items

In millions Change in Revnnnns 2009 vs 2008

$1356.11 Net decreased volume due principally to the deterioration of the global steel markets in the I4arsco Metals Segment

1277.91 Net decreased revenues in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment due to lower sales and rentals principally due to lower construction activity

globally as result of economic decline

1254.7 Effect of foreign currency translation

51.7 Reduced demand tor industrial grating products coupled with lower pricing levels

145.1 Decreased revenues of the air-cooled heat exchangers business due to weaker natural gas market

19.8 Net decreased revenues in the reclamation and recycling services business due to lower commodity pricing partially offset by net increased volume

5.9 Decreased volume in the roofing granules and abrasives business

111.5 Other minor changes across the various units not already mentioned

35.6 Net increased revenues in the Harsco Rail Segment due
principally to higher level of rail equipment shipments to China in 2009 and

increased contract services partially offset by lower repair parts sales

9.9 Effect of business acquisitions in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment

$1977.2 Total Change in Revenues 2009 vs 2008

2008 vs 2007

Revenues for 2008 increased $279.7 million or 8% from 2007 This increase was attributable to the following significant items

In millions Change in Revenees 2008 Va 2007

80.3 Nat increased revenues in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment due
principally to non-residential and infrastructure construction in international markets

particularly
in the Middle East and Europe and North American markets

58.5 Effect of business acquisitions Increased revenues of $30.0 million $15.6 million $2.0 and $10.9 million in the Harsco Metals Segment Harsco

Infrastructure Segment Harsco Rail Segment and the All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial respectively

46.8 Increased revenues in the Rarsco Rail Segment due to higher level of rail equipment shipments in 2008 and increased repair parts sales

partially offset by decreased contract services

30.8 Effect of foreign currency translation

22.0 Increased revenues of the air-cooled heat exchangers business due to strong natural gas market

18.7 Increased revenues of the industrial grating products business due to increased prices

18.6 Net increased volume new business and sales price changes in the Harsco Metals Segment excluding acquisitions

5.9 Increased revenues in the roofing granules and abrasives business resulting from price increases and product mix

4.6 Other minor changes across the various units not already mentioned

6.5 Net decreased revenues in the reclamation and recycling services business due to lower metal prices and reduced volume

$279.7 Total Change in Revenues 2008 vs 2007

Cost of Services and Products Sold

2009 vs 2008

Cost of services and products sold for 2009 decreased $674.3 million or 23% from 2008 This decrease was attributable to the following significant items

In millions Change in Cast at Services and Prndncts SaId 2009 vs 2088

$1500.9 Decreased costs due to lower revenues exclusive of the effect of foreign currency translation and business acquisitions and including the

impact of lower commodity and energy costs included in
selling prices

180.4 Effect of foreign currency translation

2.7 Other producffservice mix and increased equipment maintenance costs partially offset by enterprise business optimization initiatives and

volume-related efficiencies

9.7 Business acquisitions

$1674.3 Total Change in Cost of Services and Products Sold 2009 vs 2008
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2008 vs 2007

Cost of services and products sold for 2008 increased $240.9 million or 9% from 2007 slightly higher than the 8% increase in revenues This increase

was attributable to the following significant items

In millions Change in Cost of Services and Products Sold 2008 vs 2007

$129.5 Increased Costs due to increased revenues exclusive of the effect of
foreign currency translation and business

acquisitions
and including the

impact of increased commodity and energy costs included in selling prices

45.7 Business acquisitions

40.8 Other producllservice mix and increased equipment maintenance costs partially offset by enterprise business optimization initiatives and

volume-related efficiencies

24.9 Effect of foreign currency translation

$240.9 Total Change in Cost of Servites and Products Sold 2008 vs 2007

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

2009 vs 2008

Selling general and administrative SGA expenses for 2009 decreased $93.1 million or 16% from 2008 This decrease was attributable to the

following significant items

In millions Change in Selling General and Administrative Expenses 2009 vs 2008

$143.7 Effect of foreign currency translation

22.3 Decreased compensation expense due to lower employment levels

12.8 Other due to spending reductions

8.4 Decreased travel expenses due to discretionary spending reductions

8.2 Lower professional fees due to discretionary spending reductions

2.91 Lower bad debt expense

2.6 Increased sales commissions largely related to increased revenues in the Harsco Rail Segment

2.6 Effect of business acquisitions

$193.1 Total Change in Selling General and Administrative Expenses 2009 vs 2008

2008 vs 2007

SGA expenses for 2008 increased $63.9 million or 12% from 2007 This increase was attributable to the following significant items

In millions Change in Selling General and Administrative Expenses 2008 vs 2007

$23.5 Increased compensation expense due to salary increases resulting from overall business growth partially offset by lower employee incentive
plan costs

9.5 Increased professional fees due to global optimization proiects and global business expansion

6.8 Business
acquisitions

6.8 Other expenses

4.7 Increased bad debt expense

3.6 Increased travel expenses to support business expansion and optimization projects

3.2 Increased sales commissions largely related to increased revenues in the Harsco Rail Segment

3.2 Higher depreciation expense principally related to the implementation of enterprise-wide information technology systems and related hardware

2.6 Effect of foreign currency translation

$63.9 Total Change in Selling General and Administrative Expenses 2008 vs 2007
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Other Expenses

This income statement classification includes impaired asset write-

downs employee termination benefit costs and costs to exit activities

offset by net gains on the disposal of non-core assets

2009 vs 2008

Net Other Expenses of $7.6 million for 2009 decreased $14.4 million

from $22.0 million in 2008 This decrease in other expenses primarily

relates to restructuring charges that the Company incurred during

the fourth quarter of 2008 that were not repeated atthe same level

2008 vs 2007

Net Other Expenses of $22.0 million for 2008 increased $18.5 million

from $3.4 million for 2007 This increase in other expenses primarily

relates to restructuring charges that the Company incurred during

the fourth quarter of 2008

For additional information see Note 15 Other Income and Expenses

to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Interest Expense

2009 vs 2008

Interest expense in 2009 was $62.7 million decline of $10.4 million or

14% compared with 2008 This was principally due to lower overall debt

levels in 2009 and to lesser extent lower interest rates on variable

interest rate borrowings The impact of foreign currency translation also

reduced interest expense by approximately $4.4 million

2008 vs 2007

Interest expense in 2008 was $73.2 million decline of $8.2 million or

10% compared with 2007 This was principally due to lower overall debt

levels in 2008 and to lesser extent lower interest rates on variable

interest rate borrowings The impact of foreign currency translation also

reduced interest expense by approximately $0.5 million

Income Tax Expense from Continuing Operations

2009 vs 2008

Income tax expense from continuing operations decreased $73.3 million

or 80% in 2009 compared with 2008 This decline was due to lower

earnings from continuing operations and decrease in the effective

income tax rate from continuing operations The effective income tax rate

relating to continuing operations for 2009 was 11.6% versus 26.7% for

2008 The decrease in the effective income tax rate for 2009 compared

with 2008 reflected decline in earnings in jurisdictions with higher tax

rates change in the permanent reinvestment in current year earnings

and certain net discrete tax benefits recognized in 2009 The net discrete

benefits include change in the permanent reinvestment of prior year

undistributed earnings and the recognition of previously unrecognized

tax benefits in certain foreign and state jurisdictions offset by an

increase in unrecognized tax benefits related to an ongoing dispute

between the European Union and specific European country

2008 vs 2007

The decrease in 2008 of $25.8 million or 22% in the provision for income

taxes from continuing operations was primarily due to lower effective

income tax rate from continuing operations and lower pre-tax income

The effective income tax rate relating to continuing operations for 2008

was 26.7% versus 30.7% for 2007 The decrease in the effective income

tax rate for the year 2008 was primarily due to increased earnings in

jurisdictions with lower tax rates increased designation of certain

international earnings as permanently reinvested and the recognition

of previously unrecognized tax benefits in certain state and foreign

jurisdictions

For additional information see Note Income Taxes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

Income from Continuing Operations

2009 vs 2008

Income from continuing operations in 2009 of $140.8 million was

$110.7 million or 44% lowerthan 2008 This decrease resulted from the

global economic downturn that continued throughout 2009 and the

slower than expected recovery

2008 vs 2007

Income from continuing operations in 2008 of $251.5 million was

$13.3 million or 5% lower than 2007 This decrease resulted from the overall

economic downturn beginning in the fourth quarter and the restructuring

charges taken by the Company as result of the downturn
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Loss from Discontinued Operations

2009 vs 2008

loss from discontinued operations of $15.1 million was generated

in 2009 due to the resolution of open claims and counterclaims that

had been submitted to arbitration related to the disposition of the

Gas Technologies Segment coupled with the tax effect from the final

purchase price allocation This compares with loss of $4.7 million in

2008 due principally to working capital adjustments and other costs

associated with the disposition of the Gas Technologies Segment

2008 vs 2007

loss from discontinued operations of $4.7 million was generated in

2008 due to working capital adjustments and other costs associated

with the disposition of the Gas Technologies Segment coupled with the

tax effect of the purchase price allocation This compares with income

of $44.4 million in 2007 due principally to the sale of the Companys

Gas Technologies Segment in December 2007

Net Income Attributable to Harsco Corporation and Earnings Per Share

2009 vs 2008

Net income attributable to Harsco Corporation of $118.8 million and

diluted earnings per share of $1.47 in 2009 were lower than 2008 by

$122.2 million or 51% and $1.40 or 49% respectively due to decreased

income from continuing operations and increased losses from discon

tinued operations for the reasons described above

2008 vs 2007

Net income attributable to Harsco Corporation of $240.9 million and

diluted earnings per share of $2.87 in 2008 were lower than 2007 by

$58.5 million or 20% and $0.66 or 19% respectively due to decreased

income from both continuing and discontinued operations forthe

reasons described above

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Global financial markets which have been under stress since 2008 due

to poor financial institution lending and investment practices and sharp

declines in real estate values have started to show signs of improvement

for certain highly rated credit issuers However during 2009 tightened

credit conditions for funding of non-residential construction projects

particularly commercial construction restrained growth in that sector

and that continues today In response to these changes in global

economic conditions the Company has undertaken several initiatives to

conserve capital and enhance liquidity including prudently reducing

capital spending to only critical projects where the highest returns can

be achieved while redeploying existing capital investments optimizing

worldwide cash positions reducing or eliminating discretionary

spending and additional scrutiny and tightening of credit terms with

customers

Despite the global financial market environment the Company

continues to have sufficient available
liquidity

and has been able to issue

commercial paper as needed The Company currently expects operational

and business needs to be covered by cash from operations in 2010 and

beyond Despite the global recession the Company generated strong

operating cash flows of $434.5 million in 2009 This represents 24%

decrease from 2008 operating cash flow of $574.3 million This decrease

was primarily due to lower net income in 2009 compared with 2008

In 2009 the Company invested $165.3 million in capital expenditures

53% of which were for revenue-growth projects and paid $63.8 million

in stockholder dividends Capital expenditures in 2009 were significantly

lower than the $457.6 million invested in capital expenditures during 2008

The Companys net cash borrowings decreased $84.3 million in 2009

The decrease in borrowings was driven by the Companys prudent spend

ing on capital investments which enabled the Company to pay down debt

Balance sheet debt which is affected by foreign currency translation

decreased $28.0 million from December 31 2008 The Companys debt to

total capital ratio decreased to 39.5% as of December 31 2009 due

principally to lower debt and increased equity at December 312009 This

was the lowest debtto total capital ratio atyear-end since December31

1998 Debt to total capital was 41.1% at December 31 2008

Despite the current global economic conditions the Company

expects to generate strong operating cash flows for 2010 The Company

plans to sustain its balanced portfolio through its strategy of redeploying

discretionary cash for disciplined growth and international diversification

in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment for growth in long-term high-return

and high-renewal-rate services contracts for the Harsco Metals Segment

principally in emerging economies or for customer diversification for

growth in the Harsco Rail Segment for growth and international

diversification in the All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco

Industrial and for targeted bolt-on acquisitions in the industrial services

and rail businesses The Company also foresees continuing its long and

consistent history of paying dividends to stockholders

The Company is also focused on improved working capital manage

ment Specifically short-term and long-term enterprise business

optimization programs are being used to continue to further improve

the effective and efficient use of working capital particularly accounts

receivable and inventories in the Harsco Infrastructure Harsco Metals

and Harsco Rail Segments
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Cash Requirements

The following summarizes the Companys expected future payments related to contractual obligations and commercial commitments

at December 31 2009

Contractual Obligations as of December 31 2009l

Payments Due by Period

Less than

In millions Total lyear 1-3years 4-5years After5years

Short-term Debt 57.4 57.4

Long-term Debt including current maturities and capital leases 927.5 325.8 5.0 149.6 447.1

Projected interest payments on Long-term Debtlbi 265.2 54.1 67.6 57.2 86.3

Pension benefit payments ci 589.2 49.4 105.7 114.9 319.2

Operating Leases 162.3 45.5 54.8 34.5 27.5

Purchase Obligations 88.1 86.0 1.7 0.2 0.2

Foreign Currency Forward Exchange Contractsldl 122.1 122.1

Total Contractual Obligationslel $2211.8 $740.3 $234.8 $356.4 $880.3

See Note Debt and CreditAgreements Note Leases Note Employee Benefit Plans Note Income Taxes and Note /3 Financial Instruments to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for additional disclosures on short-term and long-term debt operating leases pensions income taxes and foreign currency forward exchange contracts respectively

The total projected intere St payments on Long-term Debt are based
upon borrowings interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates as of December31 2009 The interest rates on

variable-rate debt and the foreign currency exchange rates are subject to changes beyond the Companys control and may result in actual interest expense and payments differing from the

amounts projected above

Ic Amounts represent expected benefit payments by the defined benefit plans for the next 10 years

dl This amount represents the notional value of the foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding at December 312009 Due to the nature of these transactions there will be offsetting cash flows

to these contracts with the difference recognized as gain or loss in the Consolidated Statement of Income

As of December31 2009 in addition to the above contractual obligations the Company had approximately $47.8 million of long-term tax liabilities including interest and penalties related to

uncertain tax positions Because of the high degree of uncertainty regarding the timing of future cash outflows associated with these liabilities the Company is unable to estimate the years in

which settlement will occur with the respective taxing authorities

Off-Balance She etArrangements The following table summarizes the Companys contingent commercial commitments at December31 2009

These amounts are not included in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets since there are no current circumstances known to management

indicating that the Company will be required to make payments on these contingent obligations

Commercial Commitments as of December 312009

Amount of commitment Expiration Per Period

Total Amounts Less than Indefinite

In millions Committed Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years Over Years Expiration

Standby Letters of Credit $193.0 $137.6 $51.0 $1.0 3.4

Guarantees 75.4 11.9 1.0 5.6 56.9

Performance Bonds 13.2 11.4 0.3 1.5

Other Commercial Commitments 11.1 11.1

Total Commercial Commitments $292.7 $160.9 $52.3 $1.0 $5.6 $72.9

Certain guarantees and performance bonds that are of continuous nature do not have an expiration date and are therefore considered to be

indefinite in nature
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The following table illustrates the amounts outstanding under credit

facilities and commercial paper programs and available credit as of

December 31 2009

Summary of Credit Facilities and Commercial Paper Programs

Sources and Uses of Cash

The Companys principal sources of liquidity are cash from operations

and borrowings under its various credit agreements augmented

periodically by cash proceeds from non-core asset sales The primary

drivers of the Companys cash flow from operations are the Companys

sales and income The Companys long-term Harsco Metals contracts

in addition to the backlog of certain equipment and the long-term nature

of certain service contracts within the Harsco Rail Segment provide

predictable cash flows for several years into the future See Certainty

of Cash Flows section for additional information on estimated future

revenues of Harsco Metals and Harsco Rail contracts and order backlogs

for the Companys manufacturing businesses Cash returns on capital

investments made in prior years for which no cash is currently required

are significant source of cash from operations Depreciation expense

related to these investments is non-cash charge The Company also

continues to maintain working capital at manageable level based

upon the requirements and seasonality of the businesses

Major uses of operating cash flows and borrowed funds include

capital investments principally in the industrial services business

payroll costs and related benefits dividend payments pension funding

payments inventory purchases for the manufacturing businesses

income tax payments debt principal and interest payments insurance

premiums and payments of self-insured casualty losses and machinery

equipment automobile and facility rental payments Cash is also used for

targeted bolt-on acquisitions as the appropriate opportunities arise

Resources available for cash requirements The Company meets its

ongoing cash requirements for operations and growth initiatives by

accessing the public debt markets and by borrowing from banks

Public markets in the United States and Europe are accessed through

the Companys commercial paper programs and through discrete-term

note issuance to investors Various bank credit facilities are available

throughout the world The Companys 200 million British pound sterling-

denominated notes mature in October 2010 The Company expects to

utilize both the public debt markets and bankfacilitiesto meet its cash

requirements in the future

As of December 31 2009

Facility Outstanding Available

In millions Limit Balance Credit

U.S commercial paper program 550.0 $20.9 529.1

Euro commercial paper program 286.3 29.0 257.3

Multi-year revolving credit facilitylal
570.0 570.0

Bilateral credit facilitylbl 30.0 30.0

Totals at December 31 2009 $1436.3 $49.9 $1386.4 Id

U.S-based program

International-based program

Cc Although the Company has significantavailable credit for practical purposes the Company

limits aggregate commercial
paper

and credit facility borrowings at any one-time to

maximum of $600 million the aggregate amount of the back-up facilities

During the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company entered into

new three-year revolving creditfacility in the amount of $570 million

through multi-national syndicate of 21 banks co-led by Citibank and

Royal Bank of Scotland This new facility replaces the $220 million

364-day revolving credit facility that expired in November 2009 and the

$450 million credit facility the Company terminated in the fourth quarter

of 2009 This facility serves as back-up to the Companys commercial

paper programs Interest rates on the facility are based upon either the

announced Citibank Prime Rate the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus

margin or LIBOR plus margin The Company pays facility fee 0.275%

per annum as of December 31 2009 that varies based upon its credit

ratings At December 31 2009 there were no borrowings outstanding

on this credit
facility

The Companys bilateral credit facility was renewed in December

2009 This $30 million facility serves as back-up to the Companys

commercial paper programs and also provides available financing

for the Companys European operations Borrowings under this facility

which expires in December 2010 are available in most major currencies

with active markets at interest rates based upon LIBOR plus margin

Borrowings outstanding at expiration maybe repaid over the succeeding

12 months As of December 31 2009 and 2008 there were no borrowings

outstanding on this facility

See Note Debt and Credit Agreements to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for more information on the Companys credit facilities
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Credit Ratings and Outlook The following table summarizes the

Companys debt ratings as of December31 2009

Outlook

Standard Poors SP A- A-2 Stable

Moodys Baal P-2 Stable

Fitch A- F2 Stable

The Companys euro-based commercial paper program has not

been rated since the euro market does not require it In January 2010

Moodys reaffirmed the Companys ratings Standard Poors and Fitch

ratings were reaffirmed in April 2009 and August 2009 respectively

downgrade to the Companys credit ratings may increase borrowing

costs to the Company while an improvement in the Companys credit

ratings may decrease borrowing costs to the Company Additionally

downgrade in the Companys credit ratings may result in reduced

access to credit markets

Working Capital PositionChanges in the Companys working capital

are reflected in the following table

December 31 December 31 Increase

Dollars are in millions 2009 2008 Decrease

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 942 91.3 2.9

Trade accounts receivable net 598.3 648.9 50.6

Other receivables net 30.9 46.0 15.1

Inventories 291.2 309.5 18.3

Other current assets 151.9 104.5 47.4

Assets held-for-sale 2.8 5.3 2.5

Total current assets 1169.3 1205.5 36.2

Current Liabilities

Notes payable and current maturities 83.2 121.1 37.9

Accounts payable 215.5 262.8 47.3

Accrued compensation 61.7 85.2 17.5

Income taxes payable 5.9 13.4 7.5

Other current liabilities 378.8 405.9 27.1

Total current liabilities 751.1 888.4 137.3

Working Capital 418.2 317.1 101.1

Current Ratio 1.61 1.41

Working capital increased 32% in 2009 due principally to the

following factors

Net trade accounts receivable decreased $50.6 million primarily

due to lower revenues in 2009
partially

offset by foreign currency

translation effects

Other receivables decreased $15.1 million primarily due to collections

of insurance proceeds related to insured claims settled during the

first quarter of 2009 and an income tax refund received in the third

quarter of 2009

Inventories decreased $18.3 million primarily due to the Companys

focus on reducing inventory levels based upon current market

demand partially offset by higher inventory levels in the Harsco

Rail Segment to satisfy current international contracts and foreign

currency translation effects

Other current assets increased $47.4 million primarily due to

reclassification of noncurrent deferred taxes to current deferred

taxes as result of the expected utilization of these assets in 2010

Notes payable and current maturities decreased $37.9 million due

to strong operating cash flows in 2009 that facilitated repayments

of short-term commercial paper borrowings and other short-term

borrowings partially offset by the current portion of long-term debt

Accounts payable decreased $47.3 million primarily due to reduced

spending levels partially offset by foreign currency translation effects

Accrued compensation decreased $17.5 million due principally to

the payment of incentive compensation earned during 2008 coupled

with lower incentive compensation accruals atthe end of 2009

Other current liabilities decreased $27.1 million due principally to

decline in restructuring reserves from 2008 due to severance payments

and decline in accrued expenses and accrued non-income tax

obligations primarily as result of reduced business activity

Certainty of Cash Flows The certainty of the Companys future cash

flows is underpinned by the long-term nature of the Companys metals

services contracts the order backlog for the Companys railway track

maintenance services and equipment and the strong discretionary cash

flows operating cash flows in excess of the amounts necessary for

capital expenditures to maintain current revenue levels generated by the

Company Historically the Company has utilized these discretionary cash

flows for growth-related capital expenditures and strategic acquisitions

As the Company has demonstrated this year it has the ability to substan

tially
reduce its capital expenditures without negatively impacting the

business The Company has continued to grow in countries with increased

demand through prudent redeployment of its existing equipment

At December 31 2009 the Companys metals services contracts had

estimated future revenues of $3.6 billion compared with $4.1 billion as

of December 31 2008 The decline is primarily attributable to the

revenues recognized during 2009 offset by projected volume from new

and renewed contracts At December 31 2009 the Companys railway

track maintenance services and equipment business had estimated

future revenues of $442.3 million compared with $518.1 million as of

December 31 2008 This is primarily due to shipment of orders during

2009 partially offset by new orders The railway track maintenance

services and equipment business backlog includes significant portion

thatwill notbe realized until late20l0and laterduetothe long lead-time

U.S.-Based

Long-term Commercial

Notes Paper
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necessary to build certain equipment and the long-term nature of certain Cash Used in InvestingActivitiesIn 2009 cash used in investing

service contracts In addition as of December 31 2009 the Company had

an order backlog of $48.6 million in its All Other Category principally for

Harsco Industrial This compares with $121.6 million as of December 31

2008 The decrease from December 31 2008 is due principally to lower

demand and completion of orders during 2009 Order backlog for

scaffolding shoring and forming services for roofing granules and slag

abrasives and for the reclamation and recycling services of high-value

contentfrom steelmaking slag is excluded from the above amounts

These amounts are generally not quantifiable due to the short order

lead times for certain services the nature and timing of the products

and services provided and equipment rentals with the ultimate length

of the rental period unknown

The types of products and services that the Company provides are

not subject to rapid technological change which increases the stability

of related cash flows Additionally each of the Companys businesses

in its balanced portfolio is among the top three companies relative to

sales in the industries the Company serves Due to these factors the

Company is confident in its future ability to generate positive cash

flows from operations

Cash Flow Summary

The Companys cash flows from operating investing and financing

activities as reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

are summarized in the following table

Summarized Cash Flow Information

In millions 2009 2008 2007

Net cash provided by used in

Operating activities 434.5 574.3 $471.7

Investing activities 269.4 1443.41 1386.1

Financing activities 164.1 155.6 77.7

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 1.8 5.8 12.7

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2.8 30.5 20.6

Cash From OperatingActivities Net cash provided by operating

activities in 2009 was $434.5 million decrease of $139.8 million

from 2008 The decrease was primarily due to the following

Lower net income in 2009 compared with 2008

Higher accounts payable payments due to timing

Reduction in advances on contracts due to shipments in 2009

These decreases were partially offset by the following

Highertrade receivable collections due to timing

Initiatives to reduce inventory levels coupled with reduced

spending on inventory throughout the Company based upon

current market demand

activities was $269.4 million consisting primarily of capital investments

of $165.3 million and $103.2 million used for strategic acquisitions

Capital investments declined $292.3 million compared with 2008

reflecting managements initiatives to conserve capital and enhance

liquiditythrough prudent reduction of capital investments Growth

capital constituted 53% of investments made in 2009 with capital

investments made predominantly in the industrial services businesses

Throughout 2010 the Company plans to continue to manage its balanced

portfolio and consider opportunities to invest in value creation projects

Additionally the Company intends to increase growth investments in the

Harsco Rail Segment and the All Other Category Harsco Minerals

Harsco Industrial in 2010 and beyond as these businesses continue

to expand globally

Cash Used in Financing Activities The following table summarizes the

Companys debt and capital positions as of December 31 2009 and 2008

December31 December 31

Dollars are in millions 2009 2008

Notes Payable and current Maturities 83.2 121.1

Long-term Debt 901.1 891.8

Total Debt 984.9 1012.9

Total Equity 1509.8 1450.0

Total
capital $2494.1 $2462.9

Total Debtto Total Capital 39.5% 41.1%

al December2008 Equity has been retroactively adjusted to include Noncontrolling Interest as

component of Equity in accordance with changes issued by the FinancialAccounting

Standards Board related to consolidation accounting and reporting

The Companys debt as percent of total capital decreased in 2009

The decrease results principally from increased equity and decline in

overall debt primarily due to lower capital expenditures

Debt Covenants

The Companys credit facilities and certain notes payable agreements

contain covenant stipulating maximum debt to capital ratio of 60%

Certain notes payable agreements also contain covenant requiring

minimum net worth of $475 million In addition one creditfacility limits

the proportion of subsidiary consolidated indebtedness to 10% of

consolidated tangible assets At December 31 2009 the Company was

in compliance with these covenants with debtto capital ratio of 39.5%

and total net worth of $1.5 billion Based on balances at December31

2009 the Company could increase borrowings by approximately

$1.3 billion and still be within its debt covenants Alternatively keeping

all other factors constant the Companys equity could decrease by

approximately $0.9 billion and the Company would still be within its debt

covenants Additionally the Companys 7.25% British pound sterling-

denominated notes and its 5.75% notes include covenants that permit
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the note holders to redeem their notes at par and 101% of par respec

tively in the event of change of control of the Company or disposition

of significant portion of the Companys assets in combination with the

Companys credit rating downgraded to non-investment grade The

Company expects to continue to be compliant with these debt covenants

one year from now

Cash and Value-Based Management

The Company plans to continue with its strategy of targeted prudent

investing for strategic purposes for the foreseeable future although

2009 capital investments are significantly less than 2008 as existing

investments are being used more efficiently The long-term goal of this

strategy is to create shareholder value by improving the Companys EVA

Under this program the Company evaluates strategic investments based

upon the investments economic profit EVA equals after-tax operating

profits less charge for the use of the capital employed to create those

profits only the service cost portion of net periodic pension cost is

included for EVA purposes Therefore value is created when project

or initiative produces return above the cost of capital In 2009 EVA was

lower compared with 2008 due principally to lower operating profits

The Company currently expects to continue paying dividends

to stockholders The Company has increased the dividend rate for

16 consecutive years and in February 2010 the Company paid its

239th consecutive quarterly cash dividend

The Companys financial position and debt capacity should enable

itto meet current and future requirements As additional resources

are needed the Company should be able to obtain funds readily and

at competitive costs The Company is well-positioned financially and

intends to continue investing in high-return projects and prudent

strategic bolt-on acquisitions to reduce debt and pay cash dividends

as means of enhancing stockholder value

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The Companys discussion and analysis of its financial condition and

results of operations are based upon the Consolidated Financial State

ments which have been prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States The preparation of

these financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and

judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues

and expenses and related disclosure of contingent liabilities On an

ongoing basis the Company evaluates its estimates including those

related to pensions and benefits bad debts goodwill valuation

long-lived asset valuations inventory valuations insurance reserves

contingencies and income taxes The impact of changes in these

estimates as necessary is reflected in the respective segments

operating income in the period of the change The Company bases its

estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions

that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances the results

of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values

of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources

Actual results may differ from these estimates under different outcomes

assumptions or conditions

The Company believes the following critical accounting policies

are affected by its more significant judgments and estimates used in

the preparation of its consolidated financial statements Management

has discussed the development and selection of the critical accounting

estimates described below with the Audit Committee of the Board of

Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed the Companys

disclosure relating to these estimates in this Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations These

items should be read in conjunction with Note Summary of Significant

Accounting Policies to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Defined Benefit Pension Benefits

The Company has defined benefit pension plans in several countries The

largest of these plans are in the United Kingdom and the United States

The Companys funding policy for these plans is to contribute amounts

sufficient to meetthe minimum funding pursuant to U.K and U.S

statutory requirements plus any additional amounts thatthe Company

may determine to be appropriate The Company made cash contributions

to its defined benefit pension plans of $28.7 million including $8.1 million of

voluntary payments and $30.5 million during 2009 and 2008 respectively

Additionally the Company expects to make minimum of $30.0 million in

cash contributions to its defined benefit pension plans during 2010

Total defined benefit net periodic pension cost for 2009 was substan

tially higher than the 2008 level due to the decline in pension asset values

during the second half of 2008 In an effortto mitigate portion of this

overall increased cost for future years the Company implemented

additional plan design changes for certain international defined benefit

pension plans so that accrued service is no longer granted for periods

after December 31 2008 This action was continuation of the Companys

overall strategy to reduce overall net periodic pension cost and volatility
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The Company continues to evaluate alternative strategies to further

reduce overall net periodic pension cost including the consideration of

converting the remaining defined benefit plans to defined contribution

plans the ongoing evaluation of investment fund managers performance

the balancing of plan assets and liabilities the risk assessment of

multi-employer pension plans the possible merger of certain plans the

consideration of incremental cash contributions to certain plans and

other changes that could reduce future net periodic pension cost

volatility and minimize risk

Critical Estimate Defined Benefit Pension Benefits

Accounting for defined benefit pensions requires the use of actuarial

assumptions The principal assumptions used include the discount rate

and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets Each assump

tion is reviewed annually and represents managements best estimate

atthattime The assumptions are selected to representthe average

expected experience over time and may differ in any one year from

actual experience due to changes in capital markets and the overall

economy These differences will impact the amount of unfunded benefit

obligation and the expense recognized

The discount rates used in calculating the Companys projected

benefit obligations as of the December 31 2009 measurement date for

the U.K and U.S defined benefit pension plans were 5.7% and 5.9%

respectively and the global weighted-average discount rate was 5.8%

The discount rates selected represent the average yield on high-quality

corporate bonds as of the measurement dates Annual net periodic

pension cost is determined using the discount rates as of the measure

ment date at the beginning of the year The discount rates for 2009

expense were 6.0% for the U.K plan and 6.1% for both the U.S plans

and the global weighted-average of plans Net periodic pension cost

and the projected benefit obligation generally increase as the selected

discount rate decreases

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is determined

by evaluating the asset return expectations with the Companys advisors

as well as actual long-term historical results of asset returns for the

pension plans Generally the net periodic pension cost increases as the

expected long-term rate of return on assets decreases For 2009 the

global weighted-average expected long-term rate of return on asset

assumption was 7.4% For 2010 the expected global long-term rate of

return on assets is 7.5% This rate was determined based on model

of expected asset returns for an actively managed portfolio

Changes in defined benefit net periodic pension cost may occur in

the future due to changes in actuarial assumptions and due to changes

in returns on plan assets resulting from financial market conditions

Holding all other assumptions constant and using December 31 2009

plan data one-half percent increase or decrease in the discount rate

and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets would increase

or decrease annual 2010 pre-tax defined benefit net periodic pension

cost as follows

Approximate Changes in Pre-tax Defined

Benefit Net Periodic Pension Cost

U.S Plans U.K Plan

Discount rate

One-half percent increase Decrease of Decrease of

$0.4 million $2.1 million

One-half percent decrease Increase of Increase of

$0.3 million $2.2 million

Expected long-term rate of return

on plan assets

One-half percent increase Decrease of Decrease of

$1.0 million $2.8 million

One-half percent decrease Increase of Increase of

$1.0 million $2.8 million

Should circumstances change that affect these estimates changes

either increases or decreases to the net pension obligations may be

required Additionally certain events could result in the pension obligation

changing at time other than the annual measurement date This would

occur when benefit plan is amended or when plan curtailments occur

See Note Employee Benefit Plans to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional disclosures related to these items

Notes and Accounts Receivable

Notes and accounts receivable are stated at their net realizable value

through the use of an allowance for doubtful accounts The allowance is

maintained for estimated losses resulting from the inability or unwilling

ness of customers to make required payments The Company has policies

and procedures in place requiring customers to be evaluated for

creditworthiness prior to the execution of new service contracts or

shipments of products These reviews are structured to minimize the

Companys risk related to realizability of its receivables Despite these

policies and procedures the Company may at times still experience

collection problems and potential bad debts due to economic conditions

within certain industries e.g construction and steel industries and
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countries and regions in which the Company operates As of Decem

ber31 2009 and 2008 trade accounts receivable of $598.3 million and

$648.9 million respectively were net of reserves of $24.5 million and

$27.9 million respectively

Critical Estimate Notes and Accounts Receivable

considerable amount of judgment is required to assess the
realizability

of receivables including the current creditworthiness of each customer

related aging of the past due balances and the facts and circumstances

surrounding any non-payment The Companys provisions for bad debts

during 2009 2008 and 2007 were $9.3 million $12.5 million and $7.8 million

respectively

On monthly basis customer accounts are analyzed for collectibility

Reserves are established based upon specific-identification method as

well as historical collection experience as appropriate The Company

also evaluates specific accounts when it becomes aware of situation

in which customer may not be able to meet its financial obligations

due to deterioration in its financial condition credit ratings or bank

ruptcy The reserve requirements are based on the facts available to the

Company and are reevaluated and adjusted as additional information is

received Reserves are also determined by using percentages based

upon experience applied to certain aged receivable categories Specific

issues are discussed with Corporate Management and any significant

changes in reserve amounts or the write-off of balances must be

approved by specifically designated Corporate Officer All approved

items are monitored to ensure they are recorded in the proper period

Additionally any significant changes in reserve balances are reviewed

to ensure the proper corporate approval has occurred

If the financial condition of the Companys customers were to

deteriorate resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments

additional allowances may be required Conversely an improvement in

customers
ability to make payments could result in decrease of the

allowance for doubtful accounts Changes in the allowance related to

both of these situations would be recorded through income in the period

the change was determined

The Company has not materially changed its methodology for

calculating allowances for doubtful accounts for the years presented

See Note Accounts Receivable and Inventories to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for additional disclosures related to these items

Goodwill

The Companys goodwill balances were $699.0 million and $631.5 million

as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively Goodwill is not amortized

but tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis and

between annual tests whenever events or circumstances indicate that

the carrying value of reporting units goodwill may exceed its fair value

Critical Estimate Goodwill

discounted cash flow model is used to estimate the fair value of

reporting unit This model requires the use of long-term planning

estimates and assumptions regarding industry-specific economic

conditions that are outside the control of the Company The annual test

for impairment includes the selection of an appropriate discount rate to

value cash flow information The basis of this discount rate calculation is

derived from several internal and external factors These factors include

but are not limited to the average market price of the Companys stock

the number of shares of stock outstanding the book value of the

Companys debt long-term risk-free interest rate and both market and

size-specific risk premiums Additionally assessments of future cash

flows would consider but not be limited to the following infrastructure

plant maintenance requirements global metals production and capacity

utilization global railway track maintenance-of-way capital spending

and other drivers of the Companys businesses Changes in the overall

interest rate environment may also impact the fair market value of the

Companys reporting units as this would directly influence the discount

rate utilized for discounting operating cash flows and ultimately

determining reporting units fair value The Companys overall market

capitalization is also factor in evaluating the fair market values of the

Companys reporting units Significant declines in the overall market

capitalization of the Company could lead to the determination that the

book value of one or more of the Companys reporting units exceeds its

fair value The Companys annual goodwill impairmenttesting performed

as of October 12009 and 2008 indicated that the fair value of all reporting

units tested exceeded their respective book values and therefore no

goodwill impairment was required

The Companys customers may be impacted adversely by the current

tightening of credit in financial markets which may result in postponed

spending and cancellation or delay of existing and future orders with the

Company Continued economic decline could further impactthe ability of

38 Harsco Corporation 2009 Annual Report



the Companys customers to meet their obligations to the Company and

possibly result in bankruptcy filings by them This in turn could nega

tively impact the forecasts used in performing the Companys goodwill

impairmenttesting If management determines that goodwill is impaired

the Company will be required to record write-down in the period of

determination which will reduce net income for that period Therefore

there can be no assurance thatfuture goodwill impairmenttests will

not result in charge to earnings

The Company has not materially changed its methodology for

goodwill impairmenttesting for the years presented For 2009 the

goodwill impairment testing was conducted at the operating segment

level for the Harsco Infrastructure Harsco Metals and Harsco Rail

Segments and the All Other Category For 2008 the goodwill impairment

testing was conducted at the operating segment level for the Harsco

Metals and Harsco Rail Segments and the All Other Category and at the

component level for the Harsco Infrastructure Segment Goodwill testing

for the Harsco Infrastructure Segment was changed to the operating

segment level in 2009 due to the integration of the historic business units

components within this Segment as part of generating further opera

tional efficiencies global branding and facilitating global growth

See Note Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for additional disclosures related to these items

Asset Impairment

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment when events and

circumstances indicate that the book value of an asset may be impaired

The amounts charged against pre-tax income from continuing operations

related to impaired long-lived assets were $1.5 million $12.6 million and

$0.9 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Critical Estimate Asset Impairment

The determination of long-lived asset impairment loss involves

significant judgments based upon short-term and long-term projections

of future asset performance If the undiscounted cash flows associated

with an asset do not exceed the book value impairment loss estimates

would be based upon the difference between the book value and the

fair value of the asset The fair value is generally based upon the

Companys estimate of the amount that the assets could be bought

or sold for in current transaction between willing parties If quoted

market prices for the asset or similar assets are unavailable the fair

value estimate is generally calculated using discounted cash flow

model Should circumstances change that affect these estimates

additional impairment charges may be required and would be recorded

through income in the period the change was determined

The Company has not materially changed its methodology for

calculating asset impairments for the years presented Commencing

January 12009 GAAP requires consideration of all valuation techniques

for which market participant inputs can be obtained without undue

cost and effort The use of discounted cash flows continues to be an

appropriate method for determining fair value however methodologies

such as quoted market prices must also be evaluated

Inventories

Inventories are stated atthe lower of cost or market Inventory balances

are adjusted for estimated obsolete or unmarketable inventory equal to

the difference between the cost of inventory and its estimated market

value At December 31 2009 and 2008 inventories of $291.2 million and

$309.5 million respectively are net of lower of cost or market reserves

and obsolescence reserves of $14.6 million and $15.7 million respectively

Critical Estimate Inventories

In assessing the ultimate realization of inventory balance amounts the

Company is required to make judgments as to future demand requirements

and compare these with the current or committed inventory levels If actual

market conditions are determined to be less favorable than those projected

by management additional inventory write-downs may be required and

would be recorded through income in the period the determination is

made Additionally the Company records reserves to adjust substantial

portion of its U.S inventory balances to the last-in first-out LIFO method

of inventory valuation In adjusting these reserves throughout the year

the Company estimates its year-end inventory costs and quantities At

December31 of each year the reserves are adjusted to reflect actual

year-end inventory costs and quantities During periods of inflation the

LIFO expense usually increases and during periods of deflation it decreases

These year-end adjustments resulted in pre-tax income of $2.9 million

$1.1 million and $1.4 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

The Company has not materially changed its methodology for

calculating inventory reserves for the years presented

See Note Accounts Receivable and Inventories to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for additional disclosures related to these items
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Insurance Reserves

The Company retains significant portion of the risk for U.S workers

compensation U.K employers liability and automobile general and

product liability
losses At December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company

has recorded liabilities of $87.2 million and $97.2 million respectively

related to both asserted as well as unasserted insurance claims At

December31 2009 and 2008 $6.9 million and $17.8 million respectively

was included in insurance liabilities related to claims covered by insurance

carriers for which corresponding receivable has been recorded

Critical Estimate Insurance Reserves

Reserves have been recorded based upon actuarial calculations

that reflect the undiscounted estimated liabilities for ultimate losses

including claims incurred but not reported Inherent in these estimates

are assumptions that are based on the Companys history of claims and

losses detailed analysis of existing claims with respect to potential

value and current legal and legislative trends If actual claims differ from

those projected by management changes either increases or decreases

to insurance reserves may be required and would be recorded through

income in the period the change was determined During 2009 2008 and

2007 the Company recorded retrospective insurance reserve adjustment

that decreased pre-tax insurance expense from continuing operations

for self-insured programs by $3.7 million $1.8 million and $1.2 million

respectively The Company has programs in place to improve claims

experience such as disciplined claim and insured litigation manage

ment and focused approach to workplace safety

The Company has not materially changed its methodology for calculat

ing insurance reserves for the years presented There are currently no

known trends demands commitments events or uncertainties that are

reasonably likely to occur that would materially affect the methodology

or assumptions described above

Legal and Other Contingencies

Reserves for contingent liabilities are recorded when it is probable that

an asset has been impaired or liability has been incurred and the loss

can be reasonably estimated Adjustments to estimated amounts are

recorded as necessary based on new information or the occurrence of

new events or the resolution of an uncertainty Such adjustments are

recorded in the period that the required change is identified

Critical Estimate Legal and Other Contingencies

On quarterly basis recorded contingent liabilities are analyzed to

determine if any adjustments are required Additionally functional

department heads within each business unit are consulted monthly

to ensure all issues with potential financial accounting impact

including possible reserves for contingent liabilities have been properly

identified addressed or disposed of Specific issues are discussed with

Corporate Management and any significant changes in reserve amounts

or the adjustment or write-off of previously recorded balances must be

approved by specifically designated Corporate Officer If necessary

outside legal counsel other third parties or internal experts are consulted

to assess the likelihood and range of outcomes for particular issue

All approved changes in reserve amounts are monitored to ensure they

are recorded in the proper period Additionally any significant changes

in reported business unit reserve balances are reviewed to ensure the

proper Corporate approval has occurred On quarterly basis the

Companys business units submit reserve listing to the Corporate

headquarters which is reviewed with Corporate Management All

significant reserve balances are discussed with designated Corporate

Officer to assess their validity accuracy and completeness Anticipated

changes in reserves are identified for further consideration prior to the

end of reporting period Any new issues that may require reserve are

also identified and discussed to ensure proper disposition Additionally

on quarterly basis all significant environmental reserve balances or

issues are evaluated to assess their validity accuracy and completeness

The Company has not materially changed its methodology for

calculating legal and other contingencies for the years presented

There are currently no known trends demands commitments events or

uncertainties that are reasonably likely to occur that would materially

affect the methodology or assumptions described above

See Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies to the Consolidated

Financial Statements for additional disclosure related to these items

Income Taxes

The Company is subject to various federal state and local income taxes

in the taxing jurisdictions where the Company operates At the end of

each quarterly period the Company makes its best estimate of the annual

effective income tax rate and applies that rate to year-to-date income

before income taxes to arrive at the year-to-date income tax provision

As of December31 2009 2008 and 2007 the Companys net effective

income tax rate on income from continuing operations was 11.6% 26.7%

and 30.7% respectively
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Critical Estimate Income Taxes

The annual effective income tax rates are developed giving recognition

to tax rates tax holidays tax credits and capital losses as well as certain

exempt income and non-deductible expenses in all of the jurisdictions

where the Company does business The income tax provision for

quarterly period incorporates any change in the year-to-date provision

from the previous quarterly periods The Company has not materially

changed its methodology for calculating income tax expense for the

years presented or for quarterly periods

The Company records deferred tax assets to the extent the

Company believes these assets will more-likely-than-not be realized

In making such determinations the Company considers all available

positive and negative evidence including future reversals of existing

temporary differences projected future taxable income tax planning

strategies and recent financial operating results In the event the

Company was to determine that it would be able to realize deferred

income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount

an adjustmentto the valuation allowance would be made that would

reduce the provision for income taxes The valuation allowance was

$22.7 million and $21.5 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively The valuation allowance is principally for state and

international tax net operating loss carryforwards

tax benefit from an uncertain position may be recognized

when it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be sustained upon

examination including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation

processes based on technical merits The unrecognized tax benefits

at December 31 2009 are $39 million including interest and penalties

The unrecognized tax benefit may decrease as result of the lapse of

statute of limitations or as result of final settlement and resolution of

outstanding tax matters in various state and foreign jurisdictions

The Company has not provided U.S income taxes on certain of its

non-U.S subsidiaries undistributed earnings as such amounts are

permanently reinvested outside the United States The Company

evaluates future financial projections for its most significant subsidiaries

the need to reinvest earnings locally and the overall cash requirements

of the Company Based upon this evaluation the Company determined

that certain undistributed earnings from non-U.S subsidiaries are perma

nently reinvested The Company believes that it can generate sufficient

cash flows to avoid the one-time tax costs associated with repatriation of

U.S undistributed earnings from prior periods At December 31 2009 and

2008 such earnings were approximately $843 million and $741 million

respectively If these earnings were repatriated at December 31 2009

the one-time tax cost associated with the repatriation would be approxi

mately $163 million

See Note Income Taxes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for additional disclosures related to these items

Research and Development

The Company invested $3.2 million $5.3 million and $3.2 million in internal

research and development programs in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Internal funding for research and development was as follows

Research and Development Expense

In millions 2009 2008 2007

Harsco Infrastructure Segment $1.7 $2.0 $0.7

Harsco Metals Segment 0.8 1.6 1.3

Harsco Rail Segmentl 0.2 0.8 0.8

Segment Totals 2.7 4.4 2.8

All Other Category Harsco Minerals

Harsco Industrial1 0.5 0.9 0.4

Consolidated Totals $3.2 $5.3 $3.2

Segmentinformation for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current

presentation The Harsco Rail operating segment which was previously component of the

All Other Category is now reported separately

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued

Accounting Standards

See Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the Consoli

dated Financial Statements for disclosures on recently adopted and

recently issued accounting standards and their effect on the Company

Dividend Action

The Company has paid dividends each year since 1939 The Company

paid one quarterly cash dividend of $0195 per share and three quarterly

cash dividends of $0.20 per share in 2009 for an annual rate of $0795 per

share This is an increase of 1.9% from 2008 At the November 2009

meeting the Board of Directors increased the dividend by 2.5% to an

annual rate of $0.82 per share representing the Companys 16th consecu

tive year of dividend increases The Board normally reviews the dividend

rate periodically during the year and annually at its November meeting

There are no significant restrictions on the payment of dividends

The February 2010 dividend payment of $0205 per share marked the

Companys 239th consecutive quarterly dividend In 2009 50.7% of net

earnings were paid out in dividends The Company is philosophically

committed to maintaining or increasing the dividend at sustainable level
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Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of Harsco Corporation together with its consolidated

subsidiaries the Company is responsible for establishing and maintain

ing adequate internal control over financial reporting The Companys

internal control over financial reporting is process designed under the

supervision of the Companys principal executive and principal financial

officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of the Companys financial

statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S

generally accepted accounting principles

The Companys internal control over financial reporting includes

policies and procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets

of the Company

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accor

dance with U.S generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and the directors

of the Company and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

Companys assets that could have material effect on the

Companys financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the

risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies and

procedures may deteriorate

Management has assessed the effectiveness of its internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the framework

established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

COSO Based on this assessment management has determined that

the Companys internal control over financial reporting is effective as

of December 31 2009

The effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2009 has been audited by Pricewater

houseCoopers LLP an independent registered public accounting firm

as stated in their report appearing in the Companys Annual Report

on Form 10-K which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effective

ness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2009

Salvatore Fazzolari

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

February 23 2010

Stephen J.Schnoor

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 23 2010
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To The Stockholders of Harsco Corporation

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the

related consolidated statements of income cash flows changes in equity

and comprehensive income presentfairly in all material respects the

financial position of Harsco Corporation and its subsidiaries at Decem

ber 31 2009 and December 31 2008 and the results of their operations

and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 312009 in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion

the Company maintained in all material respects effective internal

control overfinancial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on

criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

COSO The Companys management is responsible for these financial

statements for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control

over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is

to express opinions on these financial statements and on the Companys

internal control overfinancial reporting based on our integrated audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards

require thatwe plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assur

ance aboutwhetherthe financial statements are free of material misstate

ment and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was

maintained in all material respects Our audits of the financial statements

included examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting

principles used and significant estimates made by management and

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal

control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material

weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits

also included performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide

reasonable basis for our opinions

As discussed in Note ito the consolidated financial statements the

Company changed the manner in which it accounts for noncontrolling

interests in 2009

companys internal control over financial reporting is process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes

those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of

records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to

permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of

the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company and iii provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the

risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia Pennsylvania

February 23 2010
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

In thousands except share and per share amounts December 31 2009 December 31 2OO8

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
94184 91336

Trade accounts receivable net 598318 648880

Other receivables 30865 46032

Inventories 291174 309530

Other current assets 154797 109710

Total current assets 1169338 1205488

Property plant and equipment net 1510801 1482833

Goodwill 699041 631490

Intangible assets net 150746 141493

Other assets 109314 101666

Total assets $3639240 $3562970

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 57380 117854

Current maturities of long-term debt 25813 3212

Accounts payable 215504 262783

Accrued compensation 67652 85237

Income taxes payable 5931 13395

Dividends payable 16473 15637

Insurance liabilities 25533 36553

Advances on contracts 149413 144237

Other current liabilities 187403 209518

Total current liabilities 751.102 888426

Long-term debt 901734 891817

Deferred income taxes 90.993 35442

Insurance liabilities 61660 60663

Retirement plan liabilities 250075 190153

Other liabilities 73842 46497

Total liabilities 2129.406 2112998

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

HARSCO CORPORATION STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Preferred stock Series junior participating cumulative preferred stock

Common stock parvalue$1.25 issued 111387185 and 111139988shares as of December31 2009 and 2008 respectively 139234 138925

Additional paid-in capital
137.746 137083

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 201.684 208299

Retained earnings 2133297 2079170

Treasury stock at cost 31034126 and 30965452 respectively 735016 733203

Total Harsco Corporation stockholders equity
1.473577 1413676

Noncontrolling
interests 36257 36296

Total equity
1509834 1449972

Total liabilities and equity
$3639240 $3562970

On January 12009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FinancialAccounting Standards Board related to consolidation accounting and reporting These changes

among others require that minority interests be renamed noncontrolling interests and that company present such noncontrolling interests as equity for all periods presented

Balances have been reclassified accordingly

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Income

In thousands except per
share amounts

Years ended December31 2009 2008 2007a

Revenues from continuing operations

Service revenues $2442198 $3340456 $3166561

Product revenues 548319 627366 521599

Total revenues 2990577 3967822 3688160

Costs and expenses from continuing operations

Cost of services sold 1897408 2484975 2316904

Cost of products sold 354.730 441445 368600

Selling general and administrative expenses 509071 602169 538233

Research and development expenses 3151 5295 3175

Other expenses 7561 21950 3443

Total costs and expenses 2771921 3555834 3230355

Operating income from continuing operations 218656 411988 457805

Equity in income of unconsolidated entities net 504 901 1049

Interest income 2928 3608 4968

Interest expense 62746 73160 81383

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 159342 343337 382439

Income tax expense 18.509 91820 117598

Income from continuing operations 140833 251517 264841

Discontinued operations

Income from operations of discontinued business 26897

Gain loss on disposal of discontinued business 21907 1747 41414

Income tax benefit expense related to discontinued business 6.846 2931 23934

Income loss from discontinued operations 15061 4678 44377

Net Income 125772 246839 309218

Less Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 6995 5894 9726

Net Income attributable to Harsco Corporation 118777 240945 299492

Amounts attributable to Harsco Corporation common stockholders

Income from continuing operations net of tax 133838 245623 255115

Income loss from discontinued operations net of tax 15061 4678 44377

Net income attributable to Harsco Corporation common stockholders 118777 240945 299492

Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding 80295 83599 84169

Basic earnings per common share attributable to Harsco Corporation common stockholders

Continuing operations 1.67 2.94 3.03

Discontinued operations 0.19 0.06 0.53

Basic earnings per share attributable to Harsco Corporation common stockholders 1.48 2.88 3.56

Diluted weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding 80.586 84029 84724

Diluted earnings per common share attributable to Harsco Corporation common stockholders

Continuing operations 1.66 2.92 3.01

Discontinued operations 0.19 0.06 0.52

Diluted earnings per share attributable to Harsco Corporation common stockholders 1.47 2.87b 3.53

On January 2009 the Company adopted changes issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board related to consolidation accounting and reporting These changes

among others require that minority interests be renamed noncontrolling interests and that company presents consolidated net income measure that includes the amount

attributable to such noncontrolling Interests for all periods presented Results have been reclassified accordingly

bi Does not total due to rounding

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

in thousands

Years ended December31

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided used by operating activities

Depreciation

Amortization

Equity in income of unconsolidated entities net

Dividends or distributions from unconsolidated entities

Gain loss on disposal of discontinued business

Other net

Changes in assets and liabilities net of acquisitions and dispositions
of businesses

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Accounts payable

Accrued interest payable

Accrued compensation

Income taxes

Advances on contracts

Other assets and liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property plant and equipment

Purchase of businesses net of cash acquired

Proceeds from sales of assets

Other investing activities

Net cash used by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Short-term borrowings net

Current maturities and long-term debt

Additions

Reductions

Cash dividends paid on common stock

Dividends paid to noncontrolling interests

Purchase of noncontrolling interests

Contributions of equity from noncontrolling
interest

Common stock issued-options

Common stock acquired for treasury

Other financing activities

Net cash used by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

2009 2008a 2007S

125772 246839 309218

282976 307847 277397

28555 30102 29016

504 901 1049

410 484 181

21907 1747 41414

15762 61244 10388

111207 34198 60721

35798 24238 106495

54701 22144 18268

1305 3841 1291

23402 15843 8516

36692 76346 2971

4242 92580 46159

44043 65134 1372

434458 574276 471740

165320 457617 443583

03.241 15539 254639

2115 24516 317189

2914 5222 5092

269360 443418 386125

79670 65239 137645

482493 975393 1023282

487171 996173 908295

63813 65632 59725

3487 5595 5668

13057

5332

995 1831 11765

128577

5705 2025 1401

164083 155539 77687

1.833 5816 12645

2.848 30497 20573

91336 121833 101260

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 94184 91336 121833

Purchase of businesses net of cash acquired

Working capital other than cash 2.399 263 17574

Property plant and equipment 68906 11961 45398

Other noncurrent assets and liabilities net 31936 3315 191667

Net cash used to acquire businesses 5103241 15539 254639

On January 2009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FinancialAccounting Standards Board related to consolidation accounting and reporting These changes among others

require that minority interests be renamed noncontrolling interests for all periods presented Results have been reclassified accordingly
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Stock

Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Noncontrolling

Issued Treasury Capital Earnings Income Loss Intereotlal

85614 $6031 71 $166494 $1666262 $169334 $31130

299492 9726

In thousands except share and per share amounts Total

$1176995

309218

Balances January 2007

Net income

2-for-i stock split 42029232 shares 52536 52536

Cash dividends declared 61252

Common@$0.71 per share 61252

Noncontrolling interests 5668 5668

Translation adjustments net of deferred income taxes of $4380 110451 2835 113286

Cash flow hedging instrument adjustments net of deferred income taxes of $164 119 119

Pension liability adjustments net of deferred income taxes of $124520 5625 56257

Marketable securities unrealized gains net of deferred income taxes of $3

Stock options exercised 411864 shares 515 11224 11739

Other 90 shares and 82700 restricted stock units net of forfeitures 26 28

Amortization of unearned compensation on restricted stock units 3414 3414

Balances December 312007 $138665 $603169 $128622 $1904502 2501 $38023 $1604142

Cumulative effectfrom adoption of pension accounting changes net of

deferred income taxes of $1413 1453 2372 919

Beginning Balances January 12008 $138665 $603169 $128622 $1903049 129 $38023 $1605061

Net income 240945 5894 246839

Cash dividends declared

Common $0.78 per
share 64824 64824

Noncontrolling interests 5595 5595

Translation adjustments net of deferred income taxes of $85526 1154572 2026 56598

Cash flow hedging instrument adjustments net of deferred

income taxes of $17655 20812 20812

Pension liability adjustments net of deferred income taxes of $29057 74340 74340

Marketable securities unrealized gains net of deferred income taxes of $38 70 70

Stock options exercised 121176 shares 152 3336 3488

Net issuance of stockvesting of restricted stock units 56847 shares 108 1457 108 1457

Treasury shares repurchased 4463353 shares 128577 128577

Amortization of unearned compensation on restricted stock units

net of forfeitures 5233 5233

Balances December 31 2008 $138925 $33203 $137083 $2079170 $208299 $36296 $1449972

Netincome 118777 6995 125772

Cash dividends declared

Common $0805 per
share 64650 64650

Noncontrolling interests 3487 3487

Translation adjustments net of deferred income taxes of $121866 96802 262 97064

Cash flow hedging instrument adjustments net of deferred

income taxes of $10849 30041 30041

Purchase of
subsidiary

shares from noncontrolling interests 3905 9141 13046

Contributions of equity from noncontrolling interest 5332 5332

Pension liability adjustments net of deferred income taxes of $26012 60150 60150

Marketable securities unrealized loss net of deferred income taxes of $12

Stock options exercised 92250 shares 115 423 1366 1058

Net issuance of stockvesting of restricted stock units 101918 shares 194 1390 684 1880

Amortization of unearned conipensatiori on restricted stock units

net of forfeitures 3886 3886

BalancesDecember3l2009 $139234 $735016 $137746 $2133297 $201684 $36257 $1509834

On January 2009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FinancialAccounting Standards Board related to consolidation accounting and reporting These changes among others require that

minority interests be renamed noncontrolling interests and that company present such noncontrolling interests as equity for all periods presented Amounts have been reclassified accordingly

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

In thousands

Years ended December31 2009 2008a 2007a

Netincome $125772 $246839 $309218

Other comprehensive income loss

Foreign currency translation adjustments net of deferred income taxes 97064 56598 113286

Net gains losses on cash flow hedging instruments net of deferred income taxes of $10490 $7681

and $2 in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively 29375 20859

Reclassification adjustment for gain loss on cash flow hedging instruments net of deferred income

taxes of $359 $26 and $66 in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively 666 47 122

Pension
liability adjustments net of deferred income taxes of $26012 $29057 and $24520 in 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively 60150 74340 56257

Unrealized gain loss on marketable securities net of deferred income taxes of $2 $38 and $3 in

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively 70

Total other comprehensive income loss 6877 210196 169668

Total comprehensive income 132649 36643 478886

Less Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7257 3868 12561

Comprehensive income attributable to Harsco Corporation $125392 32775 $466325

Dn January 12009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FinancialAccounting Standards Board related to consolidation accounting and reporting These changes among others require that

minority interests be renamed noncontrolling interests and that company present consolidated net income measure that includes the amount attributable to such noncontrolling interests for all

periods presented Results have been reclassified accordingly

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Harsco

Corporation and its majority-owned subsidiaries the Company

Additionally the Company consolidated five entities in 2009 and four

entities in 2008 and 2007 in which it has an equity interest of 49% to 50%

and exercises management control These entities had combined

revenues of approximately $126.3 million $172.3 million and $117.0 million

or 4.2% 4.3% and 3.2% of the Companys total revenues for the years

ended 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Investments in unconsolidated

entities all of which are 40-50% owned are accounted for under the

equity method The Company does not have any off-balance sheet

arrangements with unconsolidated special-purpose entities

Reclassifications and Out-of-Period Adjustments

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years amounts to

conform with current year classifications These reclassifications relate

principallyto segment reporting The Harsco Rail operating segment

which was previously component of the All Other Category is now

reported separately Also the Gas Technologies Segment is classified

as Discontinued Operations as discussed in Note Acquisitions and

Dispositions Additionally all historical share and per share data have

been adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock split that was effective at

the close of business on March 26 2007 As result of these reclassifica

tions certain prior-period amounts presented for comparative purposes

will not individually agree with previously filed Forms 10-K or 10-G

During 2009 the Company recorded non-cash out-of-period adjust

ments that had the net effect of reducing after-tax income by $4 million

or $0.05 per diluted share The adjustments correct errors generated

principally by the improper recognition of certain revenues and delaying

the recognition of certain expenses $9 million or $0.11 per diluted share

by one subsidiary in one country during the past three years Based

upon the investigation which is completed these errors primarily related

to the failure to receive advance customer agreement and to invoice

on timely basis for additional work performed for two customers The

Company assessed the individual and aggregate impact of these

adjustments on the current year arid all prior periods and determined

that the cumulative effect of the adjustments was not material to the

full-year2009 results and did not result in material misstatementto any

previously issued annual or quarterly financial statements Consequently

the Company recorded the $4 million net adjustment in the current year

and has not revised any previously issued annual financial statements

or interim financial data

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand demand deposits

and short-term investments that are highly liquid in nature and have an

original maturity of three months or less

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market Inventories in the

United States are principally accounted for using the last-in first-out

LIFO method Other inventories are accounted for using the first-in

first-out FIFO or average cost methods

Depreciation

Property plant and equipment is recorded at cost and depreciated

over the estimated useful lives of the assets using principally the

straight-line method When property is retired from service the cost

of the retirement is charged to the allowance for depreciation to the

extent of the accumulated depreciation and the balance is charged to

income Long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale are not depreciated

while they are held for sale

Leases

The Company leases certain property and equipment under non-

cancelable lease agreements All lease agreements are evaluated

and classified as either an operating lease or capital lease lease is

classified as capital lease if any of the following criteria are met

transfer of ownership to the Company by the end of the lease term

the lease contains bargain purchase option lease term is equal

to or greater than 75% of the assets economic life or the present

value of future minimum lease payments is equal to or greater than 90%

of the assets fair market value Operating lease expense is recognized

ratably over the entire lease term including rent abatement periods

and rent holidays

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is not amortized but tested for impairment at the reporting

unit level reporting unit is an operating segment or one level below

an operating segment referred to as component component of

an operating segment is reporting unit if the component constitutes

business for which discrete financial information is available and

segment management regularly reviews the operating results of that

component Accordingly the Company performs the goodwill impairment

test at the operating segment level The goodwill impairment tests are

performed on an annual basis as of October and between annual tests

whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of

reporting units goodwill may exceed its fair value discounted cash
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flow model is used to estimate the fair value of reporting unit This

model requires the use of long-term planning forecasts and assumptions

regarding industry-specific economic conditions that are outside the

control of the Company Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over

their estimated useful lives See Note Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets for additional information on intangible assets and goodwill

impairment testing

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Other than Goodwill

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment when events and

circumstances indicate thatthe carrying amount of an asset may not

be recoverable The Companys policy is to record an impairment loss

when it is determined that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds

the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows resulting

from use of the asset and its eventual disposition Impairment losses

are measured as the amount bywhich the carrying amount of the asset

exceeds its fair value normally as determined in either open market

transactions or through the use of discounted cash flow model

Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported atthe lower of the

carrying amount or fair value less costto sell

Revenue Recognition

Product revenues and service revenues are recognized when they are

realized or realizable and when earned Revenue is realized or realizable

and earned when all of the following criteria are met persuasive

evidence of an arrangement exists delivery has occurred or services

have been rendered the Companys price to the buyer is fixed or

determinable and collectability is reasonably assured Service revenues

include the Harsco Infrastructure and Harsco Metals Segments as well

as service revenues of the Harsco Rail Segment and the All Other

Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial Product revenues

include the Harsco Rail Segment and the manufacturing businesses of

the All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial

Harsco Infrastructure Segment This Segment provides services

under both fixed-fee and time-and-materials short-term contracts rents

equipment under month-to-month rental contracts and to lesser extent

sells products to customers Equipment rentals are recognized as earned

over the contractual rental period Services provided on fixed-fee basis

are recognized over the contractual period based upon the completion of

specific units of accounting i.e erection and dismantling of equipment

Services provided on time-and-materials basis are recognized when

earned as services are performed Product sales revenue is recognized

when title and risk of loss transfer and when all of the revenue recogni

tion criteria have been met

Harsco Metals Segment This Segment provides services predomi

nantly on long-term volume-of-production contract basis Contracts

may include both fixed monthly fees as well as variable fees based

upon specific services provided to the customer The fixed-fee portion

is recognized periodically as earned normally monthly over the

contractual period The variable-fee portion is recognized as services

are performed and differs from period-to-period based upon the

actual provision of services

Harsco Rail Segment This Segment sells railway track maintenance

equipment and provides railwaytrack maintenance services Product

sales revenue is recognized generally when title and risk of loss transfer

and when all of the revenue recognition criteria have been met Title

and risk of loss for domestic shipments generally transfers to the

customer at the point of shipment For export sales title and risk of loss

transfer in accordance with the international commercial terms included

in the specific customer contract Revenue may be recognized subse

quent to the transfer of title and risk of loss for certain product sales

if the specific sales contract includes customer acceptance clause that

provides for different timing In those situations revenue is recognized

after transfer of title and risk of loss and after customer acceptance

Services are predominantly on long-term time-and-materials contract

basis Revenue is recognized when earned as services are performed

within the long-term contracts

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial This category

includes the Minerals and Recycling Technologies and the Industrial

Abrasives and Roofing Granules operating segments as well as the

Harsco Industrial 1KG Harsco Industrial Patterson-Kelley and Harsco

Industrial Air-X-Changers operating segments These operating segments

principally sell products Product sales revenue are recognized generally

when title and risk of loss transfer and when all of the revenue recogni

tion criteria have been met Title and risk of loss for domestic shipments

generally transfers to the customer at the point of shipment For export

sales title and risk of loss transfer in accordance with the international

commercial terms included in the specific customer contract The

Minerals and Recycling Technologies operating segment sells products

and provides services These services are predominantly on long-term

volume-of-production contract basis Contracts may include both fixed

monthly fees as well as variable fees based upon specific services

provided to the customer The fixed-fee portion is recognized periodically

as earned normally monthly over the contractual period The variable

fee portion is recognized as services are performed and differs from

period-to-period based upon the actual provision of services
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability

method which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and

liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of the events that

have been included in the consolidated financial statements Under this

method deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the

differences between the financial statements and tax bases of assets

and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effectforthe year in which the

differences are expected to reverse The effect of change in tax rates

on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the

period that includes the enactment date

The Company records deferred tax assets to the extent the Company

believes these assets will more-likely-than-not be realized In making such

determinations the Company considers all available positive and negative

evidence including future reversals of existing temporary differences

projected future taxable income tax planning strategies and recent

financial operations In the event the Company were to determine that it

would be able to realize deferred income tax assets in the future in excess

of their net recorded amount an adjustment to the valuation allowance

would be made thatwould reduce the provision for income taxes

The tax benefit from an uncertain position is recognized when

it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be sustained upon

examination including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation

processes based on technical merits Each subsequent period the

Company determines if existing or new uncertain positions meet

more-likely-than-not recognition threshold and adjust accordingly

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecog

nized tax benefits within Income tax expense in the accompanying

Consolidated Statements of Income Accrued interest and penalties

are included in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

In general it is the practice and intention of the Companyto

reinvest the undistributed earnings of its non-U.S subsidiaries Should

the Company repatriate future earnings such amounts become subject

to U.S taxation giving recognition to current tax expense and foreign

tax credits upon remittance of dividends and under certain other

circumstances

Accrued Insurance and Loss Reserves

The Company retains significant portion of the risk for U.S workers

compensation U.K employers liability automobile general and product

liability losses During 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company recorded

insurance expense from continuing operations related to these lines

of coverage of approximately $40 million $43 million and $37 million

respectively Reserves have been recorded that reflect the undiscounted

estimated liabilities including claims incurred but not reported When

recognized liability is covered by third-party insurance the Company

records an insurance claim receivable to reflectthe covered liability

Changes in the estimates of the reserves are included in net income

in the period determined During 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company

recorded retrospective insurance reserve adjustments that decreased

pre-tax insurance expense from continuing operations for self-insured

programs by $3.7 million $1.8 million and $1.2 million respectively

At December31 2009 and 2008 the Company has recorded liabilities

of $87.2 million and $97.2 million respectively related to both asserted

as well as unasserted insurance claims Included in the balance at

December 31 2009 and 2008 were $6.9 million and $17.8 million respec

tively of recognized liabilities covered by insurance carriers Amounts

estimated to be paid within one year have been classified as current

Insurance liabilities with the remainder included in non-current

Insurance liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

Warranties

The Company has recorded product warranty reserves of $4.1 million

$2.9 million and $2.9 million as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively The Company provides for warranties of certain products

as they are sold The following table summarizes the warranty activity

forthe years ended December 312009 2008 and 2007

Warranty Activity

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

Balance at the beginning of the period 2863 2907 4805

Accruals for warranties issued during

the period 4623 3683 3112

Reductions related to pre-existing

warranties 13881 1524 1112

Divestiture 980

Warranties paid 2059 2157 2810

Other principally foreign currency

translation 39 46 1081

Balance at end of the period $4078 $2863 $2907

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of the Companys subsidiaries outside the

United States except for those subsidiaries located in highly inflationary

economies and those entities for which the U.S dollar is the currency

of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates are

measured using the local currency as the functional currency Assets

and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rates

as of the balance sheet date Resulting translation adjustments are
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recorded in the cumulative translation adjustment account separate

component of Other comprehensive income loss Income and expense

items are translated at average monthly exchange rates Gains and

losses from foreign currency transactions are included in net income

For subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies and those

entities for which the U.S dollar is the currency of the primary economic

environment in which the entity operates gains and losses on foreign

currency transactions and balance sheet translation adjustments are

included in net income

Financial Instruments and Hedging

The Company has operations throughout the world that are exposed

to fluctuations in related foreign currencies in the normal course of

business The Company seeks to reduce exposure to foreign currency

fluctuations through the use of forward exchange contracts The Company

does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes and it is

the Companys policy to prohibit the use of derivatives for speculative

purposes The Company has Foreign Currency Risk Management

Committee that meets periodically to monitor foreign currency risks

The Company executes foreign currency forward exchange contracts

to hedge transactions for firm purchase commitments to hedge variable

cash flows of forecasted transactions and for export sales denominated

in foreign currencies These contracts are generally for 90 days or less

however where appropriate longer-term contracts may be utilized

For those contracts that are designated as qualified cash flow hedges

gains or losses are recorded in Other comprehensive income loss

Amounts recorded in Other comprehensive income loss are

reclassified into income in the same period or periods during which

the hedged forecasted transaction affects income The cash flows from

these contracts are classified consistent with the cash flows from the

transaction being hedged i.e the cash flows related to contracts to

hedge the purchase of fixed assets are included in cash flows from

investing activities etc. The Company also enters into certain forward

exchange contracts that are not designated as hedges Gains and losses

on these contracts are recognized in income based on fair market value

Forfair value hedges of firm commitment the gain or loss on the

derivative and the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged firm commitment

are recognized currently in income

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated using the weighted-average

shares of common stock outstanding while diluted earnings per share

reflect the dilutive effects of restricted stock units and the potential

dilution that could occur if stock options were exercised See Note 11

Capital Stock for additional information on earnings per share

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally

accepted accounting principles in the United States GAAP requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities the disclosure of contingent

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenues and expenses Actual results could

differ from those estimates

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The following accounting standards were adopted in 2009

On September 30 2009 the Company adopted changes issued by the

FASB to the authoritative hierarchy of GAAP These changes established

the FASB Accounting Standards CodificationiM Codification as the

source of authoritative accounting principles recognized by the FASB to

be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of financial

statements in conformity with GAAP Rules and interpretive releases of

the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC under authority of

federal securities laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC

registrants The FASB will no longer issue new standards in the form of

Statements FASB Staff Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force

Abstracts instead the FASB will issue Accounting Standards Updates

Accounting Standards Updates will not be authoritative in their own right

as they will only serve to update the Codification These changes and the

Codification itself do not change GAAP The adoption of these changes

had no impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements other

than the manner in which new accounting standards are referenced

On June 30 2009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FASB

related to the accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after

the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are

available to be issued Specifically these changes setforth the period

after the balance sheet date during which management of reporting

entity should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential

recognition or disclosure in the financial statements the circumstances

under which an entity should recognize events or transactions occurring

after the balance sheet date in its financial statements and the disclo

sures that an entity should make about events or transactions that

occurred afterthe balance sheet date The adoption of these changes

had no impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

as the Companys existing method of accounting for and disclosing

subsequent events did not significantly change
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On June 30 2009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FASB

that require publicly traded company to disclose the fair value of its

financial instruments whenever summarized financial information for

interim reporting periods is issued Such disclosures include the fair

value of all financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate

that value whether recognized or not recognized in the statement of

financial position the related carrying amount of these financial

instruments and the methods and significant assumptions used to

estimate the fair value The adoption of these changes had no impact on

the Companys consolidated financial statements other than the required

disclosures included in the Companys interim financial statements

On January 12009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FASB

related to disclosures about an enttys derivative and hedging activities

including

how and why an entity uses derivative instruments

how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted

for and

how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an

entitys financial position financial performance and cash flows

Other than the required disclosures included in Note 13 Financial

Instruments the adoption of these changes had no material impact on

the Companys consolidated financial statements

On January 12009 the Company adopted changes issued bythe FASB

related to the consolidation accounting and reporting for noncontrolling

interest in subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of subsidiary These

changes define noncontrolling interest previously called minority

interest as the portion of equity in subsidiary not attributable directly

or indirectly to parent These changes require among other items

that noncontrolling interest be included in the consolidated statement

of financial position within equity separate from the parents equity

consolidated net income to be reported at amounts inclusive of both

the parents and noncontrolling interests shares and separately the

amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and

noncontrolling interest all on the consolidated statement of income

and if subsidiary is deconsolidated any retained noncontrolling equity

investment in the former subsidiary be measured atfair value and

gain or loss be recognized in net income based on such fair value The

presentation and disclosure requirements of these changes have been

applied retrospectively Other than the change in presentation of

noncontrolling interests the adoption of these changes had no material

impact on the Companys consolidated financial statements

On January 12009 the Company adopted changes issued by the FASB

related to the fair value accounting and reporting of nonfinancial assets

and nonfinancial liabilities that are not recognized or disclosed at fair

value in the financial statements on at least an annual basis These

changes define fair value establish frameworkfor measuring fair value

in GAAP and expand disclosures about fair value measurements This

standard applies to other GAAP that require or permit fair value measure

ments and is to be applied prospectively with limited exceptions The

adoption of these changes as they relate to nonfinancial assets and

nonfinancial liabilities had no impact on the Companys consolidated

financial statements These provisions will be applied at such time when

nonrecurring fair value measurement of nonfinancial asset or

nonfinancial liability is required which may result in fair value that

could be materially differentthan would have been calculated prior

to the adoption of these changes

Effective January 12009 the Company adopted changes issued by the

FASB on April 12009 related to the accounting for business combina

tions These changes apply to all assets acquired and liabilities assumed

in business combination that arise from certain contingencies and

requires an acquirer to recognize atfair value atthe acquisition date

an asset acquired or liability assumed in business combination that

arises from contingency if the acquisition-date fair value of that asset

or liability can be determined during the measurement period otherwise

the asset or liability should be recognized at the acquisition date if certain

defined criteria are met ii contingent consideration arrangements of

an acquiree assumed by the acquirer in business combination be

recognized initially at fair value iii subsequent measurements of assets

and liabilities arising from contingencies be based on systematic and

rational method depending on their nature and contingent consideration

arrangements be measured subsequently and iv disclosures of the

amounts and measurement basis of such assets and liabilities and the

nature of the contingencies These changes are effective for the

Company for all business combinations after December31 2008 The

effect of its adoption had no material impact for business combinations

occurring in 2009

In December 2008 the FASB issued changes related to employers

disclosures about postretirement benefit plan assets These changes

require disclosure of how investment allocation decisions are made

major categories of plan assets inputs and valuation techniques used to

measure fair value of plan assets the effect of fair value measurements

using significant unobservable inputs on changes in plan assets and

significant concentrations of risk within plan assets These changes
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Acquisitions and Dispositionsbecame effective for the Companys year-end December 312009

consolidated financial statements As these changes only required

enhanced disclosuresthe adoption of these changes only impacted the

notes to the Companys consolidated financial statements

The following accounting standards were issued in 2009 and become

effective for the Company at various future dates

In October 2009 the FASB issued changes related to the accounting for

revenue recognition when multiple-deliverable revenue arrangements

are present The changes eliminate the residual method of revenue

allocation and require revenue to be allocated using the relative selling

price method This method allows vendor to use its best estimate of

selling price if neither vendor-specific objective evidence northird-party

evidence of selling price exists when evaluating multiple deliverable

arrangements These changes must be adopted no later than January

2011 and may be adopted prospectively for revenue arrangements

entered into or materially modified after the date of adoption or retro

spectively for all revenue arrangements for all periods presented The

Company is currently evaluating the requirements of these changes and

has not yet determined the impact on the consolidated financial

statements

In June 2009 the FASB issued changes related to the accounting for

variable interest entities These changes require an enterprise

to perform an analysis to determine whether the enterprises variable

interest or interests give it controlling financial interest in variable

interest entity

to require ongoing reassessments of whether an enterprise is the

primary beneficiary of variable interest entity

to eliminate the quantitative approach previously required for

determining the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity

to add an additional reconsideration event for determining whether

an entity is variable interest entity when any changes in facts and

circumstances occur such that holders of the equity investment at

risk as group lose the power from voting rights or similar rights

of those investments to directthe activities of the entitythat most

significantly impact the entitys economic performance and

to provide enhanced disclosures that will provide users of financial

statements with more transparent information about an enterprises

involvement in variable interest entity

These changes became effective for the Company on January 12010

The adoption of these changes had no impact on the Companys

consolidated financial statements other than the required disclosures

that will be included in the Companys future financial statements

Acquisitions

In November 2009 the Company acquired ESCO Interamerica Ltd

ESCO Costa Rica-based provider of engineering and equipment

services to the infrastructure sector in seven countries within Central

and South America and the Caribbean ESCO generated revenues of

approximately $50 million in 2008 and has been included in the Harsco

Infrastructure Segment

In October 2009 the Company acquired Nicol UK Ltd Nicol

United Kingdom-based multi-disciplined provider of industrial mainte

nance services multi-craft site services and scaffolding to major

petrochemical energy and industrial clients This business generated

revenues of approximately $25 million in 2008 and has been included

in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment

In September 2009 the Company formed partnership in Saudi Arabia

that will provide highly-engineered scaffolding and formwork systems

and expert installation services to the infrastructure and construction

markets The Company contributed $5.3 million to form this partnership

which has been included in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment In

September 2009 the partnership acquired the net assets of Saudi

Express Transport LLC which generated revenues of approximately

$22 million in 2008

In August 2009 the Company acquired the noncontrolling interests

of four of its Eastern Europe region consolidated subsidiaries in the

Harsco Infrastructure Segmentfor$0.6 million The acquisition of these

partnership interests was accounted for as an equity transaction since

the Company retained its controlling interest in the subsidiaries

In April 2009 the Company acquired the noncontrolling interests of

three of its Asia-Pacific region consolidated subsidiaries in the Harsco

Metals Segment for $12.9 million The acquisition of these partnership

interests was accounted for as an equity transaction since the Company

retained its controlling interest in the subsidiaries

In April 2008 the Company acquired Sovereign Access Services

Limited Sovereign United Kingdom-based provider of mastclimber

work platform rental equipment Sovereign recorded revenues of

approximately$7 million in 2007 and has been included in the Harsco

Infrastructure Segment

In March 2008 the Company acquired Romania-based Baviera S.R.L

Baviera distributor of formwork and scaffolding products in Romania

Baviera recorded revenues of approximately $3 million in 2007 and has

been included in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment
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In February 2008 the Company acquired Northern Ireland-based

Buckley Scaffolding Buckley provider of scaffolding and erection

and dismantling services to customers in the construction industrial

and events businesses Buckley recorded revenues of approximately

$3 million in 2007 and has been included in the Harsco Infrastructure

Segment

Inclusion of the pro-forma financial information for the above

transactions is not necessary due to the immaterial size of the acquisi

tions individually and in the aggregate

In January 2010 the Company acquired Bell Scaffolding Group

Bell an Australia-based infrastructure solutions provider serving the

industrial infrastructure and commercial construction sectors Bells

capabilities range from technical design and supportthrough supply and

erect contracts Bell generated revenues of approximately $40 million

in 2008 and will be included in the Harsco Infrastructure Segment

Net Income Attributable to the Company and Transfers to

Noncontrolling Interest

The purpose of the following schedule is to disclose the effects of

changes in the Companys ownership interest in its subsidiaries on

the Companys equity

For the Years Ended December 31

In thousands 2099 2008 2007

Net income attributable to the Company $118777 $240945 $299492

Decrease in the Companys paid-in capital

for purchase of partnership interests 3905

Change from net income attributable to the

Company and transfers to noncontrolling

interest $114872 $240945 $299492

Dispositions

Consistent with the Companys strategic focus to grow and allocate

financial resources to its industrial services businesses on December

2007 the Company sold its Gas Technologies Segment to Taylor Wharton

International The terms of the sale include total purchase price of

$340 million including $300 million paid in cash at closing and $40 million

payable in the form of an earnout contingent on the Gas Technologies

group achieving certain performance targets in 2008 or 2009 The

thresholds for achieving the earnout for both 2008 and 2009 were not

met The Company recorded $26.4 million after-tax gain on the sale

in the fourth quarter of 2007 In 2008 the Company recorded loss

from discontinued operations of $4.7 million comprised of $1 .7 million

of working capital adjustments and other costs associated with this

disposition coupled with the tax effect from the final purchase price

allocation The Company recorded $15.1 million in after-tax charges in

Discontinued Operations in 2009 related to the settlement of working

capital adjustment claims and other costs associated with arbitration

proceedings as described in Note 10 Commitments and Contingencies

This business recorded revenues and operating income of $384.9 million

and $26.9 million respectively for the year ended December31 2007

The Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended 2009

2008 and 2007 reflectthe Gas Technologies Segments results in

discontinued operations

Accounts Receivable and Inventories

At December31 2009 and 2008 Trade accounts receivable of $598.3 mil

lion and $648.9 million respectively were net of allowances for doubtful

accounts of $24.5 million and $27.9 million respectively The decrease in

accounts receivable from December 31 2008 related principally to lower

sales levels in the fourth quarter of 2009 The provision for doubtful

accounts was $9.3 million $12.5 million and $7.8 million for 2009 2008

and 2007 respectively Other receivables of $30.9 million and $46.0 million

at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively include insurance claim

receivables employee receivables tax claim receivables and other

miscellaneous receivables not included in Trade accounts receivable net

Inventories consist of the following

Inventories

In thousands 2009 2008

Finished goods $146104 $156490

Work-in-process 19381 21918

Raw materials and purchased parts 84542 83372

Stores and supplies
41147 47750

Total inventories $291174 $309530

Valued at lower of cost or market

Last-in first-out LlF0 basis $111641 $105959

First-in first-out FIFO basis 13877 15140

Average cost basis 165656 188431

Total inventories $291174 $309530

Inventories valued on the LIFO basis at December 31 2009 and 2008

were approximately $24.2 million and $32.8 million respectively less than

the amounts of such inventories valued at current costs

As result of reducing certain inventory quantities valued on the LIFO

basis net income increased from that which would have been recorded

underthe FIFO basis of valuation by $1.7 million in 2009 $0.3 million in

2008 and less than $0.1 million in 2007
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Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment consists of the following

In thousands 2009 2008

Land and improvements 46198 41913

Buildings and improvements 207.280 167606

Machinery and equipment 3146358 2905398

Uncompleted construction 50252 75210

Gross property plant and equipment 3450088 3190127

Less accumulated depreciation 1939287 1707294

Net property plant and equipment $1510801 $1482833

The estimated useful lives of different types of assets are generally

Land improvements

Buildings and improvements

Machinery and equipment

Leasehold improvements

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is tested for impairment atthe reporting unit level on an annual

basis and between annual tests whenever events or circumstances

indicate thatthe carrying value of reporting units goodwill may exceed

its fair value Reporting units are either the Companys operating segments

or business units within these segments which are referred to herein as

components For 2009 the goodwill impairmenttesting was conducted at

the operating segment level forthe Harsco Infrastructure Harsco Metals

and Harsco Rail Segments and the All Other Category For 2008 the goodwill

impairment testing was conducted at the operating segment level for the

Harsco Metals and Harsco Rail Segments and the All Other Category and

at the component level for the Harsco Infrastructure Segment Goodwill

testing forthe Harsco Infrastructure Segmentwas changed to the operating

segment level in 2009 due to the integration of the historic business units

components within this Segment as part of generating further operational

efficiencies global branding and facilitating global growth

Impairment testing is two-step process Step one is comparison

of each reporting unitsfairvalueto its bookvalue lfthefairvalue ofthe

reporting unit exceeds the book value step two of the test is not required

Step two requires the allocation of fair values to assets and liabilities

as if the reporting unit had just been purchased resulting in the implied

fair value of goodwill If the carrying value of the goodwill exceeds the

implied fair value of goodwill write down to the implied fair value

of goodwill would be required

The Company uses discounted cash flow model to estimate the

fair value of reporting unit in performing step one of the testing This

model requires the use of long-term planning estimates and assumptions

regarding industry-specific economic conditions that are outside the

control of the Company Assessments of future cash flows would

consider but not be limited to the following global industrial plant

maintenance requirements global infrastructure construction global

metals production and capacity utilization global railwaytrack mainte

nance-of-way capital spending and other drivers of the Companys

businesses Changes in the overall interest rate environment may also

impact the fair market value of the Companys reporting units as this

would directly influence the rate utilized for discounting operating cash

flows and ultimately determining reporting units fair value The

Companys overall market capitalization is also factor in evaluating the

fair market values of the Companys reporting units Significant declines

in the overall market capitalization of the Company could lead to the

determination that the book value of one or more of the Companys

reporting units exceeds their fair value The Company performed required

annual testing for goodwill impairment as of October 12009 and 2008 and

all reporting units of the Company passed the step one testing thereby

indicating that no goodwill impairment exists Additionally the Company

determined that as of December 31 2009 no interim impairmenttesting

was necessary However there can be no assurance thatfuture goodwill

impairmenttests will not result in charge to earnings

to 20 years

5to 40 years

to 20 years

Estimated useful life of the improvement

or if shorter the life of the lease
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The following table reflects the changes in carrying amounts of goodwill by segment for the years ended December 31 2008 and 2009

Goodwill by Segment

All Other

Harsco Categorylel

Infrastructure Harsco Metals Harsco Rail Harsco Minerals

In thousands Segment Segment Segment Harsco Industrial Consolidated Totals

Balance as of December 31 2007 $254856 $348311 $8118 $108784 $720069

Goodwill acquired during year
ll 12045 12045

Changes to Goodwill ci 1262 14892 254 12 3364

Foreign currency translation 4761 1438061 5838 97260

Balance as of December 31 2008 $220547 $299613 $8372 $102958 $631490

Goodwill acquired during year dl 29601 29601

Changes to Goodwill 68 480 607 1137 2156

Foreign currency translation 16039 15652 4103 35794

Balance as of December 31 2009 $266119 $315745 $8979 $108198 $699041

Is All Other Category has bees adjusted for comparative purposes to exclude the Harsco Rail Segment which has been reclassified as reportable Segment based on 2009 results

Relates to acquisitions of Baviera SILL Buckley Scaffolding and Sovereign Access Services Limited

Relates principally to opening balance sheet adjustments

dl Relates principally to the ESCO acquisition

le Relates principally to payment of contingent consideration on acquisitions made prior to 2009

Goodwifl is net of accumulated amortization of $98.7 million and

$95.9 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The increase in

accumulated amortization from December 31 2008 is due to foreign

currency translation

Intangible assets totaled $150.9 million net of accumulated

amortization of $95.8 million at December31 2009 and $141.5 million net

of accumulated amortization of $65.4 million at December 31 2008 The

following table reflects these intangible assets by major category

Intangible Assets

December 31 2009 December 31 2008

Gross cross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

In thousands Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Customer relationships $165092 $61547 $138752 $40821

Non-compete agreements 1.440 1346 1414 1196

Patents 7043 4597 6316 4116

Other 73143 28336 60495 19309

Total $246718 $95826 $206977 $65442

The increase in intangible assets for 2009 was due principally to intan

gible assets acquired in the acquisitions discussed in Note Acquisi

tions and Dispositions As part of these transactions the Company

acquired the following intangible assets by major class that are subject

to amortization

Acquired Intangible Assets

Weighted-

Grass average

Carrying Residual amortization

In thousands Amount Value period

Customer relationships $19823 None years

Patents 574 None 15 years

Other 7677 None years

Total $28074

There were no research and development assets acquired and

written off in 2009 2008 or 2007

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $26.4 million

$28.1 million and $27.4 million for the years ended December31 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively The following table shows the estimated

amortization expense forthe nextfive fiscal years based on current

intangible assets

In thousands

Estimated amortization expense
al

2810 2011 2012 2013 2014

$31865 $29953 $16353 $14496 $12761

These estimated amortization expense amounts do not reflect the potential effect of future

foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations

Debt and Credit Agreements

The Company has various credit facilities and commercial paper

programs available for use throughout the world The following table

illustrates the amounts outstanding on creditfacilities and commercial

paper programs and available credit at December 31 2009 These credit

facilities and programs are described in more detail below the table

Credit Facilities as of December 312009

Outstanding Available

Facility Limit Balance Credit

550000 $20949 529051

286320 28999 257321

570000 570.000

30000 30000

$1436320 $49948 $1386.372l

In thousands

U.S commercial paper program

Euro commercial paper program

Multi-year revolving credit facilitylal

Bilateral creditfacilitylbl

Totals at December 31 2009

U.S -based program

International-based program

Although the Company has significant available credit in practice the Company limits

aggregate commercial paper and credit facility borrowings at any one-time to maximum

of $600.0 million the aggregate amount of the back-up facilities
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The Company has U.S commercial paper borrowing program under

which it can issue up to $550 million of short-term notes in the U.S

commercial paper market In addition the Company has 200 million euro

commercial paper program equivalent to approximately $286.3 million at

December 31 2009 which is used to fund the Companys international

operations At December 312009 and 2008 the Company had $20.9 million

and $35.9 million of U.S commercial paper outstanding respectively

and $29.0 million and $9.0 million outstanding respectively under its

European-based commercial paper program At December 31 2008 the

Company also had $50.0 million outstanding under its previous 364-day

revolving credit line which was repaid in 2009 and subsequently

replaced by the $570 million multi-year credit
facility These borrowings

are classified as long-term debt when the Company has the ability and

intentto refinance them on long-term basis through existing long-term

credit facilities At December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company classified

$49.9 million and $94.9 million respectively of commercial paper and

advances as short-term debt There were no remaining commercial

paper or advances to be reclassified as long-term debt at December 31

2009 or 2008

During the fourth quarter of 2009 the Company entered into

multi-year revolving credit facility in the amount of $570 million through

syndicate of 21 banks which matures in December 2012 This new

facility replaces the $220 million 364-day revolving credit facility which

expired in November 2009 and the $450 million creditfacilitythe

Company terminated in the fourth quarter of 2009 This facility serves as

back-up to the Companys commercial paper programs Interest rates on

the facility are based upon either the announced Citibank Prime Rate the

Federal Funds Effective Rate plus margin or LIBOR plus margin The

Company pays facility fee 0.275% per annum as of December 31 2009

that varies based upon its credit ratings At December 31 2009 there

were no borrowings outstanding on this credit facility

The Companys bilateral credit
facility was amended in December

2009 to extend the maturity date to December 2010 The facility serves

as back-up to the Companys commercial paper programs and also

provides available financing for the Companys European operations

Borrowings under this
facility are available in most major currencies

with active markets at interest rates based upon LIBOR plus margin

Borrowings outstanding at expiration may be repaid over the succeeding

12 months As of December 31 2009 and 2008 there were no borrowings

outstanding on this
facility

Short-term borrowings amounted to $57.4 million and $117.9 million

at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively This included commercial

paper and advances of $49.9 million and $94.9 million at December 31

2009 and 2008 respectively Other than the commercial paper borrow

ings and advances short-term debt was principally bank overdrafts

The weighted-average interest rate for short-term borrowings at

December 31 2009 and 2008 was 0.9% and 3.8% respectively

Long-Term Debt

In thousands 2009 2008

5.75% notes due May 2018 $447029 $446762

7.25% British pound sterling-denominated notes due

October 27 2010 322700 290777

5.125% notes due September 15 2013 149.392 149247

Other financing payable in
varying amounts due through

2016 with weighted average interest rate of 8.0% and

7.5% as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively 8426 8243

927547 895029

Less current maturities 258131 3212

Total Long-term Debt $901734 $891817

At December 312009 most of the Companys 7.25% British pound

sterling-denominated notes that are due in October2010 are classified

as long-term debt based on the Companys ability and intent to refinance

this debt using either the public debt markets or its existing multi-year

revolving credit
facility

which matures in 2012 Current maturities of

long-term debt include portion of the 7.25% British pound sterling-

denominated notes that the Company believes exceeds the amount it

will refinance and portion of other financing payables

The maturities of long-term debt for the four years following

December 31 2010 are as follows

In thousands

2011 3739

2012
301247

2013 149536

2014 57

Cash payments for interest on all debt from continuing operations

were $61.5 million $71.6 million and $80.3 million in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively

The Companys credit facilities and certain notes payable agreements

contain covenant stipulating maximum debt to capital ratio of 60%

Certain notes payable agreements also contain covenant requiring

minimum net worth of $475 million In addition one credit
facility limits
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Employee Benefit Plansthe proportion of subsidiary consolidated indebtedness to maximum of

10% of consolidated tangible assets The Companys 7.25% British pound

sterling-denominated notes and its 5.75% notes also include covenants

that permit the note holders to redeem their notes at par and 101% of

par respectively in the event of change of control of the Company or

disposition of significant portion of the Companys assets in combina

tion with the Companys credit rating being downgraded to non-invest

ment grade At December 31 2009 the Company was in compliance

with these covenants

Leases

The Company leases certain property and equipment under noncancel

able operating leases Rental expense for continuing operations under

such operating leases was $64.3 million $65.0 million and $70.4 million

in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Future minimum payments under operating leases with noncancel

able terms are as follows

In thousands

2010 $45500

2011 31540

2012 23230

2013 18749

2014 15737

After 2014 27521

Total minimum rentals to be received in the future under noncancel

able subleases as of December 31 2009 are $8.0 million

Pension Benefits

The Company has pension and
profit sharing retirement plans covering

substantial number of its employees The defined benefits for salaried

employees generally are based on years of service and the employees

level of compensation during specified periods of employment Defined

benefit plans covering hourly employees generally provide benefits of

stated amounts for each year of service The multi-employer plans in

which the Company participates provide benefits to certain unionized

employees The Companys funding policy for qualified plans is consis

tentwith statutory regulations and customarily equals the amount

deducted for income tax purposes The Company also makes periodic

voluntary contributions as recommended by its pension committee

The Companys policy is to amortize prior service costs of defined

benefit pension plans over the average future service period of active

plan participants

For most U.S defined benefit pension plans and majority of

international defined benefit pension plans accrued service is no

longer granted In place of these plans the Company has established

defined contribution pension plans providing for the Company to

contribute specified matching amount for participating employees

contributions to the plan Domestically this match is made on employee

contributions up to 4% of their eligible compensation Additionally the

Company may provide discretionary contribution of up to 2% of

compensation for eligible employees Internationally this match is up

to 6% of eligible compensation with an additional 2% going towards

insurance and administrative costs The Company believes the defined

contribution plans provide more predictable and less volatile net

periodic pension cost than exists under defined benefit plans

U.S Plans International Plans

In thousands 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2807

Net Periodic Pension Cost Income

Defined benefit plans

Service cost 1790 1740 3033 3977 8729 9031

lnterestcost 14104 15197 15511 42854 50146 50118

Expected return on plan assets 14598 23812 22943 41453 58166 61574

Recognized prior service costs 351 333 686 353 897 938

Recognized losses 3466 1167 1314 9353 10317 15254

Amortization of transition liability 33 29 36

Settlement/Curtailment loss gain 620 2091 341 1536

Defined benefit plans pension cost income 5117 5995 308 14776 13488 13803

Less Discontinued Operations included in above 694 2748 477

Defined benefit plans pension cost income continuing operations 5117 5301 3056 14776 13488 13326

Multi-employer plans
al 12533 15231 13552 9201 10143 10361

Defined contribution plans
al 7104 7806 9628 8235 8131 7741

Net
periodic pension cost continuing operations 24754 17736 20124 32212 31762 31428

Is Excludes discontinued operations
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In 2008 the Company recognized settlement gain of $0.9 million

related to the Gas Technologies Segment that was sold in December

2007 The settlement gain was recognized upon final transfer of

pension assets and liabilities to an authorized trust established by

the purchaser of the Segment and is included above in U.S Plans

discontinued operations Also in 2008 the Company implemented

plan design changes for certain domestic and international defined

benefit pension plans so that accrued service is no longer granted

for periods after December 31 2008 These actions resulted in net

curtailment loss of $1.5 million See Note 17 2008 Restructuring

Program for additional information

In 2007 the Company recognized $2.1 million curtailment loss in

connection with the remeasurement of plan obligations related to the

divestiture of the Gas Technologies Segment

The change in the financial status of the pension plans and amounts

recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 2009

and 2008 are as follows

Defined Benefit Pension Benefits

U.S Plans International Plans

In thousands 2009 2008 2009 2008

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning ofyear $238347 $268710 $698836 $987894

Service cost 1790 1740 3977 8729

Interest cost 14104 15197 42854 50146

Plan participants
contributions 1131 2311

Amendments 890 111

Adoption of measurement date

change 598 5154

Actuarial loss gain 8638 10145 102390 58507

Settlements/curtailments 1564 10388

Benefits paid 15616 15721 35771 35695

Divestiture of Gas Technologies

Segment 22922 678

Effect of foreign currency 76029 250019

Benefit obligation at end of year $247263 $238347 887882 698836

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning

of year $189686 $311193 $558751 $905849

Actual return on plan assets 39730 83794 67925 99645

Employer contributions 3119 1600 25.601 28865

Plan participants contributions 1131 2310

Settlements/curtailments 1110 237

Benefits paid 15616 15721 33238 34182

Adoption of measurement date

change 2495 5946

Divestiture of Gas Technologies

Segment 21097

Effect of foreign currency 59952 238257

Fair value of plan assets at

end of year $216919 $189686 $679018 $558757

Funded status at end of year 30344 48661 $208864 $140079

Defined Benefit Pension Benefits

U.S Plans International Plans

In thousands 2009 2008 2009 2008

Amounts recognized in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets

consist of the following

Noncurrent assets 1676 232 7.929 5072

Current liabilities 2175 2111 1129 1897

Noncurrent liabilities 29.845 46782 215664 143254

Accumulated other comprehensive

loss before tax 89209 109523 357388 260765

Amounts recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive loss

consist of the following

U.S Plans International Plans

In thousands 2009 2008 2009 2008

Net actuarial loss $87712 $107672 $354201 $257393

Prior service Cost 1497 1851 2972 3184

Transition obligation
215 188

Total $89209 $109523 $357388 $260765

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated

other comprehensive loss into defined benefit net periodic pension cost

in 2010 are as follows

In thousands U.S Plans Intereational Plans

Net actuarial loss $2611 $12644

Prior service cost 339 384

Transition obligation
56

Total $2950 $13084

The Companys estimate of expected contributions to be paid in year

2010 for the U.S defined benefit plans is $2.2 million and for the interna

tional defined benefit plans is $27.8 million

Contributions to multi-employer pension plans were $22.5 million

$26.1 million and $24.2 million in years 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Future Benefit Payments

The expected benefit payments for defined benefit plans over the next

10 years are as follows

U.S.Plano International Plans

$15.2 34.2

16.7 35.8

15.9 37.3

17.4 38.9

18.0 40.6

87.8 231.4

In 2008 the actual return on the Companys U.S and international

plans assets reflects the decline in pension asset values during the

second half of 2008 This decline was due to the financial crisis and the

deterioration of global economic conditions

In millions

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015 20 19
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Net Periodic Pension Cost Assumptions

The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the net

periodic pension costforthe years ended December31 were as follows

Global Weighted Average

December31 2009 2008 2007

Discount rates 6.1h 5.9% 5.3%

Expected long-term rates of return on

plan assets 1.4% 7.6% 7.6%

Rates of compensation increase 3.4% 3.6% 3.3%

U.S Plans International Plans

December31 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Discount rates 6.1% 6.2% 5.9% 6.0% 5.8% 5.1%

Expected long-term rates of return

on plan assets 8.0% 8.3% 8.3% 7.1% 7.3% 7.3%

Rates of compensation increase 4.0% 4.8% 4.5% 3.4% 3.5% 3.2%

The expected long-term rates of return on plan assets for the 2010

net periodic pension cost are 8.0% for the U.S plans and 7.1% for the

international plans

Defined Benefit Pension Obligation Assumptions

The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the

defined benefit pension plan obligations at December31 were as follows

Global Weighted Average

December31 2009 2008

Discount rates 5.8% 6.1%

Rates of compensation increase 3.6% 3.4%

U.S Plans International Plans

December31 2009 2008 2009 2008

Discountrates 59% 6.1% 5.7% 6.0%

Rates of compensation increase 3.0% 4.0% 3.6% 3.4%

The U.S discount rate was determined using yield curve that was

produced from universe containing approximately 500 U.S dollar-

denominated AA-graded corporate bonds all of which were noncallable

or callable with make-whole provisions and excluding the 10% of the

bonds with the highest yields and the 10% with the lowest yields The

discount rate was then developed as the level-equivalent rate that would

produce the same present value as that using spot rates to discount the

projected benefit payments For international plans the discount rate is

aligned to corporate bond yields in the local markets normally AA-rated

corporations The process and selection seeks to approximate the cash

outilows with the timing and amounts of the expected benefit payments

Accumulated Benefit Obligations

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans

at December31 was as follows

In millions U.S.Plans International Plans

2009 $247.1 $877.7

2008 $237.8 $687.7

Plans with Accumulated Benefit Obligation in Excess of Plan Assets

The projected benefit obligation accumulated benefit obligation and fair

value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit

obligations in excess of plan assets at December31 were as follows

U.S Plans International Plans

In millions 2009 2008 2009 2008

Proiected benefit obligation $238.0 $228.7 $843.7 $659.5

Accumulated benefit obligation 238.0 228.5 838.5 656.1

Fair value of plan assets 206.0 179.8 627.5 517.3

The asset allocations attributable to the Companys U.S defined

benefit pension plans at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the long-term

target allocation of plan assets by asset category are as follows

U.S Plans Asset Category

Target Long-
Percentage of Plan Assets at

Term Allocation December 31 2009 December 31 2008

Domestic
Equity

Securities 41%51% 47.5% 42.5%

International Equity Securities 4.5% 14.5% 11.1% 8.8%

Fixed Income Securities 27% 37% 32.7% 39.6%

Cash Cash Equivalents 0% 5% 1.4h 1.4%

Other 6% 18% 7.3% 7.7%

Plan assets are allocated among various categories of equities

fixed income cash and cash equivalents with professional investment

managers whose perlormance is actively monitored The primary

investment objective is long-term growth of assets in order to meet

present and future benefit obligations The Company periodically

conducts an asset/liability modeling study and accordingly adjusts

investments among and within asset categories to ensure the long-term

investment strategy is aligned with the
profile

of benefit obligations

The Company reviews the long-term expected return-on-asset

assumption on periodic basis taking into account variety of factors

including the historical investment returns achieved over long-term

period the targeted allocation of plan assets and future expectations

based on model of asset returns for an actively managed portfolio

inflation and administrative/other expenses The model simulates 500

different capital market results over 15 years For 2010 the expected

return-on-asset assumption for U.S plans is 8.00% which is the same

assumption as for 2009
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The U.S defined benefit pension plans assets include 431033 shares

of the Companys stock valued at $13.9 million at December 31 2009 and

434088 shares of the Companys common stock valued at$12.0 million at

December 31 2008 These shares represented 6.4% of total plan assets at

December 31 2009 and 2008 Dividends paid to the pension plans on the

Company stock amounted to $0.3 miHion $0.3 million and $0.5 million in

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

The asset allocations attributable to the Companys international

defined benefit pension plans at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the

long-term target allocation of plan assets by asset category are

as follows

International Plans Asset Category
______________

Target Long-
Percentage of Plan Asseto at

Term Allocation December 31 2009 December 31 200t

Equity Securities 50.0% 46.0% 42.0%

Fixed Income Securities 40.0% 43.9h 47.4%

Cash Cash Equivalents 0.0% 1.5% 0.2%

Other 10.0% 8.6h 10.4%

Plan assets as of December 31 2009 in the U.K defined benefit

pension plan amounted to 84.7% of the international pension assets

These assets are allocated among various categories of equities

fixed income cash and cash equivalents with professional investment

managers whose performance is actively monitored The primary

investment objective is long-term growth of assets in order to meet

present and future benefit obligations The Company periodically

conducts asset/liability modeling studies and accordingly adjusts

investment amounts within asset categories to ensure the long-term

investment strategy is aligned with the profile of benefit obligations

For the international long-term rate of return assumption the

Company considered the current level of expected returns in risk-free

investments primarily government bonds the historical level of the risk

premium associated with other asset classes in which the portfolio is

invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class

and plan expenses The expected return for each asset class was then

weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected

long-term rate of return on assets For 2010 the expected return-on-asset

assumption for the U.K plan is 7.5% which is the same assumption

as for 2009 The remaining international pension plans with assets

representing 15.3% of the international pension assets are under the

guidance of professional investment managers and have similar

investment objectives

The fair values of the Companys U.S pension plans assets at

December 31 2009 by asset category are as follows

In thousands Total Level Level Level

Domestic equities

Common stocks 50211 50211

Mutual funds equities 52734 13892 38842

International equities mutual funds 24035 11012 13023

Fixed income securities

U.S Treasuries and collateralized

securities 25.525 25525

Corporate bonds and notes 6327 6327

Mutual funds bonds 39110 39110

Othermutual funds 16039 15918 121

Cash and money market accounts 2938 2938

Total $216919 $139408 $77511

The fair values of the Companys international pension plans assets at

December 31 2009 by asset category are as follows

In thousands Total Level Level Level

Equity securities

Common stocks 35037 35037

Mutual funds equities 277069 120.356 156713

Fixed income investments

British government securities 46.299 46299

Corporate bonds and notes 26809 26809

Mutualfundsbonds 168201 168201

Insurance contracts 56955 56955

Other

Real estate funds limited partnerships 40177 29183 10.994

Other mutual funds 18190 15033 3151

Cash and money market accounts 10281 10281

Total $679018 $207516 $460508 $10994

The following table summarizes changes in the fair value of Level

assets forthe year ended December 312009

In thousands Real Estate Limited Partnerahipa

Balance at December 31 2008 8438

Actual return on plan assets

Relating to assets still held at year-end 2556

Balance at December 31 2009 $10994
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Following isa description of the valuation methodologies used for

the plans investments measured atfair value

Level Fair Value Measurements Investments in interest-bearing

cash are stated at cost which approximates fair value The fair values

of money market accounts and certain mutual funds are based on

quoted net asset values of the shares held by the Plan at year-end The

fair values of common and foreign stocks and corporate bonds notes

and convertible debentures are valued atthe closing price reported in

the active market on which the individual securities are traded

Levei2 Fair Value Measurements The fair values of investments in

mutual funds for which quoted net asset values in an active market

are not available are valued by the investment advisor based on the

current market values of the underlying assets of the mutual fund

based on information reported bythe investment consistentwith

audited financial statements of the mutual fund Further information

concerning these mutual funds may be obtained from their separate

audited financial statements Investments in U.S Treasury notes and

collateralized securities are valued based on yields currently available

on comparable securities of issuers with similar credit ratings

Level3Fafr Value Measurements Real estate limited partnership

interests are valued by the general partners based on the underlying

assets The limited partnership interests are valued using unobserv

able inputs and have been classified within Level of the fair value

hierarchy

Effective forthe year ending December 31 2008 changes in pension

accounting issued by the FASB required the consistent measurement of

plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the Companys fiscal

year-end statement of financial position Since the Company previously

used an October31 measurement date for its U.S defined benefit pension

plans and September30 measurement date for most of its international

defined benefit pension plans the standard required the Company to

change those measurement dates in 2008 to December 31 In order to

record the effects of the change to December31 measurement date

the Company chose to use the measurements determined as of October

31 2007 and September 30 2007 and estimate the net periodic benefit

cost for the 14-month and 15-month periods respectively ending

December 31 2008 exclusive of any curtailment or settlement gains or

losses Amounts allocated proportionately to the 2-month and 3-month

periods ended December 31 2007 the short periods were recorded

as an adjustment to retained earnings effective January 12008 The

remaining costs were recognized as net periodic pension cost during

the year ended December31 2008 The following table sets forth the

adjustments to retained earnings and Accumulated other comprehensive

income AOCI resulting from the measurement date change net of

tax for the short periods

Impact of Measurement Date Change

Defined Benefit

Pension Plans

Retained

Earnings ADCI

Service cost interest

cost and expected

return on plan

assets $576 364 $21

Amortization of prior

service cost and

actuarial gain loss 169 169 2207 2207

Net adjustment

recognized $407 $169 $11843 $2207 $117 $4

Income Taxes

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and noncon

trolling interest as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income

consists of the following

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

United States 51.529 98842 $110926

International 107.813 244495 271513

Total income before income taxes and

noncontrolling interest $159342 $343337 $382439

Income tax expense benefit

Currently payable

Federal 23.886 33873 37917

State 1.591 1988 8670

International 26938 54817 68688

Total income taxes currently payable 52415 90678 115275

Deferred federal and state 28018 1478 3695

Deferred international 5888 336 6018

Total income tax expense $18509 $91820 $117598

International Defined

Benefit Pension Plans

Retained

Earnings AOCI

Other Post-Retirement

Benefit Plans

Retained

Earnings AOCI
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Cash payments for income taxes including taxes on the gain or loss

from discontinued business were $57.1 million $120.6 million and

$125.4 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

The following is reconciliation of the normal expected statutory U.S

federal income tax rate to the effective rate as percentage of Income

from continuing operations before income taxes and noncontrolling

interest as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income

U.S federal income tax rate

State income taxes net of federal income

tax benefit

Export
sales

corporation benefit/domestic

manufacturing deduction

Change in permanent reinvestment

assertion

Difference in effective tax rates on

international earnings and remittances

Uncertain tax position contingencies and

settlements

Cumulative effect in change in statutory

tax rates/laws

Dther net

Effective income tax rate

The difference in effective tax rates on international earnings

and remittances from 2008 to 2009 was primarily due to decrease in

earnings in jurisdictions with higher tax rates and change in the

permanent reinvestment in current year earnings In 2009 the company

changed its permanent reinvestment assertion in prior year undistributed

earnings for certain non-US subsidiaries which were previously not

considered permanently reinvested

The difference in effective tax rates for uncertain tax position

contingencies and settlements from 2008 to 2009 resulted from an

increase in unrecognized tax benefits related to an ongoing dispute

between the European Union EU and specific EU countries partially

offset by the recognition of previously unrecognized tax benefits in

various state and foreign jurisdictions as result of the lapse of statute

of limitations and final settlements and resolution of outstanding tax

matters in various state and foreign jurisdictions While the Company

believes it has adequately provided for all tax positions amounts asserted

bytaxing authorities could be differentthan the accrued position

The tax effects of the temporary differences giving rise to the

Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 are as follows

The deferred tax asset and liability balances recognized in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets for the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 are as follows

In thousands 2009 2008

Other current assets 82606 35065

Dther assets 57083 27013

Other current liabilities 1574 4194

Deferred income taxes 90.993 35442

At December 31 2009 the tax-effected amount of net operating loss

carryforwards NOLs totaled $48.8 million Tax-effected NOLs from

international operations are $41.0 million Of that amount $33.7 million

can be carried forward indefinitely and $7.3 million will expire at various

times between 2012 and 2029 Tax-effected U.S federal NOLs are

$0.2 million expire in 2022 and relate to preacquisition NOLs Tax-

effected U.S state NOLs are $7.6 million Of that amount $0.2 million

expire at various times between 2010 and 2016 $6.0 million expire at

various times between 2017 and 2024 and $1.4 million expire at various

times between 2025 and 2029

2009 2008

In thousands Asset Liability Asset Liability

Depreciation and amortization $177393 $169729

Expense accruals 37720 36909

Inventories 4813 4866

2009 2008 2007
Provision for receivables 2129 2587

35.0% 35.0% 35.0% Deferred revenue 4.838 7704

Operating loss carryforwards 48822 21211

1.0 0.8 1.0
Deferred foreign tax credits 17061 3601

Pensions 61403 58226

1.5 0.2 0.3
Currency adjustments 66191 85561

5.0 0.8
Outside basis differences on foreign

investments 7963

25.0 7.7 3.0
Other 13.358 16336

Subtotal 252097 182231 229297 185396

4.0 0.5 0.2 Valuation allowance 22744 21459

Total deferred income taxes $229353 $182231 $207838 $185396

2.8 0.4 0.7

0.3 0.3 0.7

11.6% 26.7% 30.7%
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The valuation allowances of $22.7 million and $21.5 million at reconciliation of the change in the UTB balance from January

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively related principally to NOLs

currency and foreign investmenttax credits that are uncertain as

to realizability

The change in the valuation allowances for 2009 and 2008 results

primarily from the increase in valuation allowances in certain jurisdic

tions based on the Companys evaluation of the realizability of future

benefits partially offset by the utilization of NOLs and the release of

valuation allowances in certain jurisdictions based on the Companys

revaluation of the realizability of future benefits

The Company has not provided U.S income taxes on certain of its

non-U.S subsidiaries undistributed earnings as such amounts are

permanently reinvested outside the United States At December 31 2009

and 2008 such earnings were approximately $843 million and $741 million

respectively If these earnings were repatriated at December 31 2009

the one-time tax cost associated with the repatriation would be approxi

mately $163 million The Company has various tax holidays in the Middle

East and Asia that expire between 2010 and 2012 The Company no longer

has tax holidays in Europe as they have all expired During 2009 2008 and

2007 these tax holidays resulted in approximately $0.0 million $0.2 million

and $2.8 million respectively in reduced income tax expense

The Company adopted changes in accounting for uncertain tax

provisions effective January 12007 As result of the adoption the

Company recognized cumulative effect reduction to the January 12007

retained earnings balance of $0.5 million As of the adoption date the

Company had gross unrecognized income tax benefits of $46.0 million of

which $17.8 million if recognized would affect the Companys effective

income tax rate Of this amount $0.8 million was classified as current and

$45.2 million was classified as non-current on the Companys balance

sheet While the Company believes it has adequately provided for all tax

positions amounts asserted by taxing authorities could be different than

the accrued position

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalty expense

related to unrecognized income tax benefits UTB in income tax

expense During the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 the

Company recognized an income tax expense for interest and penalties of

$3.3 million $3.2 million and $6.5 million respectively The Company had

$11.0 million and $7.7 million for the payment of interest and penalties

accrued at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

2007 to December 31 2009 is as follows

Unrecognized

Income Tax

Benefits Net

Unrecognized Deferred of Deferred

Income Tax Income Tax Income Tax

In thousands Benefits Benefits Benefits

Balance at January 2007 45965 $15016 $30949

Additions for tax positions related to

the current year includes currency

translation adjustment 3849 172 3677

Additions for tax positions related to prior

years includes currency translation

adjustment 6516 6516

Reductions for tax positions related to

acquired entities in prior years offsetto

goodwill 3568 3568

Other reductions for tax positions related to

prior years 22086 12681 9405

Settlements 500 175 325

Balance at December 31 2007 30176 2332 $27844

Additions for tax positions related to

the current year includes currency

translation adjustment 2723 2723

Additions for tax positions related to prior

years includes currency translation

adjustment 2753 629 2124

Reductions for tax positions related to

acquired entities in prior years offset to

goodwill 92 92

Other reductions for tax positions related to

prior years 6080 1077 5003

Settlements 5181 705 4476

Balance at December 31 2008 24299 1179 $23120

Additions for tax positions related to

the current yearincludes currency

translation adjustment 7868 11 7857

Additions for tax positions related to prior

years includes currency translation

adjustment 10625 49 10576

Other reductions for tax positions related to

prioryears 4007 117 3890

Statute of Limitations expirations 1934 152 1782

Settlements 60 21 39

Total unrecognized income tax benefits

that if recognized would impact

the effective income tax rate as of

December 31 2009 36191 1949 $35842
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Included in the additions for tax positions related to prior years

for 2009 is $6.8 million recorded in purchase accounting related to

acquired entities

Included in the additions for tax positions related to current and

prior years is approximately $8.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits

that created an additional net operating loss in foreign jurisdiction

To the extent the unrecognized tax benefit is recognized full valuation

allowance would be recorded againstthe net operating loss

The Company files its income tax returns as prescribed by the tax

laws of the jurisdictions in which it operates With few exceptions the

Company is no longer subject to U.S and foreign examinations by tax

authorities forthe years through 2003

It is reasonably possible the Companys unrecognized tax benefits may

decrease within the next 12 months by $3.0 million as result of the lapse

of statute of limitations and as result of final settlement and resolution

of outstanding tax matters in various state and foreign jurisdictions

Commitments and Contingencies

Environmental

The Company is involved in number of environmental remediation

investigations and cleanups and along with other companies has been

identified as potentially responsible party for certain waste disposal

sites While each of these matters is subject to various uncertainties it is

probable thatthe Company will agree to make payments toward funding

certain of these activities and it is possible that some of these matters

will be decided unfavorably to the Company The Company has evaluated

its potential liability and its financial exposure is dependent upon such

factors as the continuing evolution of environmental laws and regulatory

requirements the
availability

and application of technology the allocation

of cost among potentially responsible parties the years of remedial

activity required and the remediation methods selected The Consolidated

Balance Sheets at December31 2009 and 2008 include accruals in

Other current liabilities of $3.1 million and $3.2 million respectively for

environmental matters The amounts charged against pre-tax income

related to environmental matters totaled $1.5 million $1.5 million and

$2.8 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

The Company and an unrelated third party received notice of violation

in November 2007 from the United States Environmental Protection Agency

the EPA in connection with an alleged violation by the Company and

such third party of certain applicable federally enforceable air pollution

control requirements in connection with the operation of slag process

ing area located on the third partys Pennsylvania facility The Company

and such third party have promptly taken steps to remedy the situation

The Company and the third party have reached an agreement in principle

with the EPA to resolve this matter and are in the process of finalizing

this agreement The Company anticipates that its portion of any penalty

would exceed $0.1 million However the Company does not expect that

any sum it may have to pay in connection with this matter would have

material adverse effect on its financial position results of operations

or cash flows

The Company evaluates its liability for future environmental remedia

tion costs on quarterly basis Actual costs to be incurred at identified

sites in future periods may vary from the estimates given inherent

uncertainties in evaluating environmental exposures The Company

does not expect that any sum it may have to pay in connection with

environmental matters in excess of the amounts recorded or disclosed

above would have material adverse effect on its financial position

results of operations or cash flows

Gas Technologies Divestiture

In October 2009 the Company and Taylor-Wharton International TWI
the purchaser of the Companys Gas Technologies business satisfactorily

resolved the open claims and counterclaims that were submitted to

arbitration The claims and counterclaims related to both networking

capital adjustments associated with the divestiture and the alleged

breach of certain representations and warranties made by the

Company The settlement and related costs and fees were reflected in

the $15.1 million after-tax loss from discontinued operations for 2009

In November 2009 1WI filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11

of the U.S Bankruptcy Code TVVI has not yet emerged from bankruptcy

protection and has yet to confirm any plan of reorganization however

T\NI has filed motion to reject certain executory contracts entered

into between the Company and T\NI TWI has not soughtto rejectthe

settlement agreementfinalized in October2009 between the Company

and TWI The Company has not yet been able to determine the effect

of such proceedings on ongoing contractual relationships between

the Company and TWI

Value-Added Tax Dispute

The Company is involved in value-added and services ICMS tax

dispute with the State Revenue Authorities from the State of Sªo Paulo

Brazil the SPRA In October 2009 the Company received notification

of the SPRAs administrative decision regarding the levying of ICMS in the

State of Sªo Paulo in relation to services provided to one of the Companys

customers in the State between January 2004 and May 2005 The assess

mentfrom the SPRA is approximately $12 million including tax penalty

and interest and could increase to reflect additional interest accrued

since December 2007
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The Company believes that it does not have liability for this assessment In view of the persistence of asbestos litigation nationwide the

and will vigorously contest it under various alternatives including judicial

appeal Any ultimate final determination of this assessment is not likely

to have material adverse effect on the Companys annual results of

operations cash flows or financiail condition

Other

The Company has been named as one of many defendants approxi

mately 90 or more in most cases in legal actions alleging personal injury

from exposure to airborne asbestos overthe past several decades In

their suits the plaintiffs have named as defendants among others many

manufacturers distributors and installers of numerous types of equip

ment or products that allegedly contained asbestos

The Company believes that the claims against it are without merit

The Company has never been producer manufacturer or processor

of asbestos fibers Any component within Company product that may

have contained asbestos would have been purchased from supplier

Based on scientific and medical evidence the Company believes that

any asbestos exposure arising from normal use of any Company product

never presented any harmful levels of airborne asbestos exposure and

moreover the type of asbestos contained in any component that was

used in those products was protectively encapsulated in other materials

and is not associated with the types of injuries alleged in the pending

suits Finally in most of the depositions taken of plaintiffs to date in the

litigation againstthe Company plaintiffs have failed to specifically identify

any Company products as the source of their asbestos exposure

The majority of the asbestos complaints pending against the Company

have been filed in New York Almost all of the New York complaints

contain standard claim for damages of $20 million or $25 million against

the approximately 90 defendants regardless of the individual plaintiffs

alleged medical condition and without specifically identifying any

Company product as the source of plaintiffs asbestos exposure

As of December 31 2009 there are 26084 pending asbestos personal

injury claims filed against the Company Of these cases 25576 were

pending in the New York Supreme Court for New York County in New York

State The other claims totaling 508 are filed in various counties in

number of state courts and in certain Federal District Courts including

New York and those complaints generally assert lesser amounts of

damages than the New York State court cases or do not state any

amount claimed

As of December31 2009 the Company has obtained dismissal

by stipulation or summary judgment prior to trial in 18366 cases

Company expects to continue to receive additional claims However

there have been developments during the past several years both by

certain state legislatures and by certain state courts which could

favorably affect the Companys ability to defend these asbestos claims

in those jurisdictions These developments include procedural changes

docketing changes proof of damage requirements and other changes

that require plaintiffs to follow specific procedures in bringing their

claims and to show proof of damages before they can proceed with

their claim An example is the action taken by the New York Supreme

Court trial court which is responsible for managing all asbestos

cases pending within New York County in the State of New York This

Court issued an order in December 2002 that created Deferred or

Inactive Docket for all pending and future asbestos claims filed by

plaintiffs who cannot demonstrate that they have malignant condition

or discernable physical impairment and an Active or In Extremis Docket

for plaintiffs who are able to show such medical condition As result of

this order the majority of the asbestos cases filed against the Company

in New York County have been moved to the Inactive Docket until such

time as the plaintiffs can showthatthey have incurred physical

impairment As of December 31 2009 the Company has been listed as

defendant in 443 Active or In Extremis asbestos cases in New York

County The Courts Order has been challenged by plaintiffs

Except with regard to the legal costs in few limited exceptional

cases the Companys insurance carrier has paid all legal and settlement

costs and expenses to date The Company has liability insurance

coverage under various primary and excess policies that the Company

believes will be available if necessary to substantially cover any liability

that might ultimately be incurred on these claims

The Company intends to continue its practice of vigorously defending

these cases as they are listed for trial It is not possible to predict the

ultimate outcome of asbestos-related lawsuits claims and proceedings

due to the unpredictable nature of personal injury litigation Despite this

uncertainty and although results of operations and cash flows for given

period could be adversely affected by asbestos-related lawsuits claims

and proceedings management believes that the ultimate outcome of

these cases will not have material adverse effect on the Companys

financial condition results of operations or cash flows

The Company is subject to various other claims and legal proceedings

covering wide range of matters that arose in the ordinary course of

business In the opinion of management all such matters are adequately
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covered by insurance or by accruals and if not so covered are without

merit or are of such kind or involve such amounts as would not have

material adverse effect on the financial position results of operations or

cash flows of the Company

Insurance liabilities are recorded when it is probable that liability

has been incurred for particular event and the amount of loss associated

with the event can be reasonably estimated Insurance reserves have

been estimated based primarily upon actuarial calculations and reflect

the undiscounted estimated liabilities for ultimate losses including claims

incurred but not reported Inherent in these estimates are assumptions

that are based on the Companys history of claims and losses detailed

analysis of existing claims with respect to potential value and current

legal and legislative trends If actual claims differ from those projected

by management changes either increases or decreases to insurance

reserves maybe required and would be recorded through income in

the period the change was determined When recognized liability is

covered by third-party insurance the Company records an insurance

claim receivable to reflect the covered liability Insurance claim

receivables are included in Other receivables in the Companys Consoli

dated Balance Sheets See Note Summary of SignificantAccounting

Policies for additional information on Accrued Insurance and Loss

Reserves

Capital Stock

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 150000000

shares of common stock and 4000000 shares of preferred stock both

having par value of $1.25 per share The preferred stock is issuable in

series with terms as fixed by the Board of Directors the Board None

of the preferred stock has been issued On September 25 2007 the Board

approved revised Preferred Stock Purchase Rights Agreement the

Agreement Under the Agreement the Board authorized and declared

dividend distribution to stockholders of record on October 2007 of

one right for each share of common stock outstanding on the record

date The rights may only be exercised if among other things and with

certain exceptions person or group has acquired 15% or more of the

Companys common stockwithoutthe prior approval of the Board Each

right
entitles the holder to purchase 1/100th share of Harsco Series

Junior Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock at an exercise price of

$230 Once the rights become exercisablethe holder of rightwill be

entitled upon payment of the exercise price to purchase number of

shares of common stock calculated to have value of two times the

exercise price of the right The rights which expire on October 2017 do

not have voting power and may be redeemed by the Company at price

of $0001 per right at any time until the 10th business day following public

announcementthat person or group has accumulated 15% or more of

the Companys common stock The Agreement also includes an exchange

feature At December31 2009 803531 shares of $1.25 par value preferred

stock were reserved for issuance upon exercise of the rights

On January 23 2007 the Companys Board of Directors approved

two-for-one stock split of the Companys common stock One additional

share of common stock was issued on March 26 2007 for each share that

was issued and outstanding at the close of business on February 28 2007

The Companys treasury stock was not included in the stock
split

The Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of shares of

common stock as follows

No of Shares Additional Remaining No of

Authorized to Shares Shares Authorized

be Purchased Authorized for No of Shares for Purchase

January Purchase Purchased December31

2007 2000000 2000000

2008 2000000 4000000 4463353 1536647

2009 1536647 463353 2000000

Authorization adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock split effective at the end of

business on March 26 2007

The Companys share repurchase program was extended by the

Board of Directors in September 2009 At that time the Board authorized

an increase of 463353 shares to the 1536647 remaining from the Boards

previous stock repurchase authorization The repurchase program

expires January 31 2011 When and if appropriate repurchases are

made in open market transactions depending on market conditions

Repurchases may not be made and may be discontinued at any time

In addition to the above purchases 53029 and 29346 shares were

repurchased in 2009 and 2008 respectively in connection with the

issuance of shares as result of vested restricted stock units In 2009

15645 shares were repurchased in connection with the issuance of

shares as result of stock option exercises In 200790 treasury shares

were issued in connection with stock option exercises employee service

awards and shares related to vested restricted stock units
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The following table summarizes the Companys common stock Stock-Based Compensation

Shares Treasury Outstanding

Issued Shares Shares

Outstanding January 2007l 110510203 26472843 84037360

Stock Options Exercisedl 422416 422416

Other1 90 90

Outstanding December31 2007 110932619 26472753 84459866

Stock Options Exercised 121176 121176

Vested Restricted Stock Units 86193 29346 56847

Purchases 4463353 4463353

Outstanding December 31 2008 111139988 30965452 80174536

Stock Options Exercised 92250 15645 76605

Vested Restricted Stock Units 154941 53029 101918

Outstanding December 31 2009 111387185 31034126 80353059

The following is reconciliation of the average shares of common

stock used to compute basic earnings per common share to the shares

used to compute diluted earnings per common share as shown on the

Consolidated Statements of Income

Amounts in thousands except per share data 2009 2008 2007

Income from continuing operations

attributable to Harsco Corporation

common stockholders $133838 $245623 $255115

Weighted average shares

outstanding basic 80295 83599 84169

Dilutive effect of stock-based

compensation 291 430 555

Weighted average shares

outstanding diluted 80586 84029 84724

Earnings from continuing operations per

common share attributable to Harsco

Corporation common stockholders

Basic 1.61 2.94 3.03

Diluted 1.66 2.92 3.01

At December 31 2009 21675 restricted stock units outstanding were

not included in diluted weighted average shares outstanding because

the effect was antidilutive All outstanding stock options at December 31

2009 and all outstanding stock options and restricted stock units at

December 31 2008 and 2007 were included in the computation of diluted

earnings per share

The 1995 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan authorizes the

issuance of up to 8000000 shares of the Companys common stock for

use in paying incentive compensation awards in the form of stock options

or other equity awards such as restricted stock restricted stock units

or stock appreciation rights The 1995 Non-Employee Directors Stock

Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 600000 shares of the Companys

common stock for equity awards At December 31 2009 there were

2184952 and 249000 shares available for granting equity awards under

the 1995 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan and the 1995

Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan respectively The above-referenced

authorized and available shares for the Executive Incentive Compensa

tion and Non-Employee Directors Stock Plans are stated to reflect the

March 2007 two-for-one stock split Generally new shares are issued for

exercised stock options and vested restricted stock units

The Board of Directors approves the granting of performance-based

restricted stock units as the long-term equity component of director

officer and certain key employee compensation The restricted stock

units require no payment from the recipient and compensation cost is

measured based on the market price on the grant date and is generally

recorded over the vesting period The vesting period for restricted stock

units granted to non-employee directors is one year and each restricted

stock unit will be exchanged for like number of shares of Company

stock following the termination of the participants service as director

Restricted stock units granted to officers and certain key employees after

September 2006 vest on pro rata basis over three-year period and the

specified retirement age is 62 Prior grants utilized three-year cliff vesting

and retirement age of 65 Upon vesting each restricted stock unit will

be exchanged for like number of shares of the Companys stock

Restricted stock units do not have an option for cash payment

Common Stock

Share data has been restated for comparison purposes to reflect the effect of the

March 2007 stock split
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The following table summarizes restricted stock units issued and

the compensation expense including both continuing and discontinued

operations recorded for the years ended December 31 2009 2008

and 2007

Stock-Based Compensation Expense Income

Dollars in thousands Restricted Fair Value Expense Income

except per unit Stock units per Unit 2009 2008 2007

Directors

May 2006lal 16000 $4130 220

May 12007 16000 50.62 270 539

Mayl2008 16000 58.36 311 623

May 12009 16000 27.28 291

Employees

January 24 2005ll 65400 25.21 21 328

January 24 2006el 93100 33.85 191lbl 632 839

January 23 200 101700 38.25 761 1035 1488

January 22 2008 130950 45.95 1371 2652

January272009 106625 25.15 1174

November 19 2009 15000 31.90 169

Total 576775 $3006 $5233 $3414

Restricted stock units and fair values have been restated to reflect the March 2007

two-for-one stock split

Due primarily to forfeitures of restricted stock units

Restricted stock unit activityforthe years ended December 31 2009

2008 and 2007 was as follows

Nonvested at January 1200

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Nonvested at December 31 2007

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Nonvested at December 31 2008

Granted

Vested

Forfeited

Nonvested at December 31 2009

Restricted stock units and fair values have been restated to reflect the March 2007

two-for-one stock split

As of December31 2009 the total unrecognized compensation cost

related to nonvested restricted stock units was $3.2 million which is

expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of approxi

mately 1.5 years

There was $0.3 million decrease of excess tax benefits principally

from restricted stock units recognized in 2009 while increases in excess

tax benefits principally from stock options of $1.7 million and $5.1 million

were recognized during 2008 and 2007 respectively

No stock options have been granted to officers and employees since

February 2002 No stock options have been granted to non-employee

directors since May 2003 Prior to these dates the Company had granted

stock options for the purchase of its common stock to officers certain

key employees and non-employee directors under two stockholder-

approved plans The exercise price of the stock options was the fair

value on the grant date which was the date the Board of Directors

approved the respective grants

Options issued under the 1995 Executive Incentive Compensation Plan

generally vested and became exercisable one yearfollowing the date of

grant except options issued in 2002 which generally vested and became

exercisable two years following the date of grant Options issued under

the 1995 Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan generally became

exercisable one year following the date of grant but vested immediately

The options under both Plans expire ten years from the date of grant

Stock option activity for the years ended December 312009 2008

and 2007 was as follows

Stock Options

Weighted

Shares Average Aggregate

Under Exercise Intrinsic Value

Option
lul Price lal in millions151

Outstanding January 2007 1027412 $15.49 $23.4

Exercised 422416 15.74

Outstanding December31 200 604996 15.30 29.9

Exercised 121176 14.96

Outstanding December 31 2008 483.820 15.39 5.7

Exercised 192.2501 14.25

Expired 11600 14.57

Outstanding December 31 2009 389970 $15.66 $6.1

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the twelve months

ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 was $1.4 million $4.5 million and

$17.1 million respectively

Options to purchase 389970 shares were exercisable at December31

2009 The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding

and exercisable options at December 31 2009

Stock Options Outstanding and Exercisable

Number Remaining Weighted

Rsege of Exercisable Outstanding and Contractual Average

Prices Exercisable Life In Years Exercise Price

$12.8114.50 137815 0.79 $13.52

14.6516.33 195955 2.01 16.29

16.9620.96 56200 2.78 18.73

Weighted

Averege

Grant-Date

Fair Value lal

$30.88

39.93

47.51

34.06

34.12

47.30

34.43

39.78

41.40

26.13

38.46

36.97

$34.45

Restricted

Stock Units lal

145234

117700

16000

35000

211934

146950

95570

5584

257730

137625

53283

1125811

229.491

Stock options and weighted average exercise prices have been restated to reflect the

March 2007 two-for-one stock split

hi Intrinsic value is defined as the difference between the current market value and the

exercise price

389970
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Financial Instruments

Off-Balance Sheet Risk

As collateral forthe Companys performance and to insurers the

Company is contingently liable under standby letters of credit bonds

and bank guarantees in the amounts of $280.1 million and $234.1 million

at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively These standby letters of

credit bonds and bank guarantees are generally in force for up to four

years Certain issues have no scheduled expiration date The Company

pays fees to various banks and insurance companies that range from

0.25 percent to 1.60 percent per annum of the instruments face value

If the Company were required to obtain replacement standby letters of

credit bonds and bank guarantees as of December 31 2009 for those

currently outstanding it is the Companys opinion that the replacement

costs would be within the present fee structure

The Company has currency exposures in more than 50 countries The

Companys primary foreign currency exposures during 2009 were in the

United Kingdom the European Economic and Monetary Union Poland

Brazil and Mexico

Off-Balance Sheet Risk Third Party Guarantees

In connection with the licensing of one of the Companys trade names

and providing certain management services the furnishing of selected

employees the Company guarantees the debt of certain third parties

related to its international operations These guarantees are provided to

enable the third parties to obtain financing of their operations The

Company receives fees from these operations which are included as

Services revenues in the Companys Consolidated Statements of Income

The revenue the Company recorded from these entities was $9.6 million

$6.3 million and $3.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The guarantees are renewed on an

annual basis and the Company would only be required to perform under

the guarantees if the third parties default on their debt The maximum

potential amount of future payments undiscounted related to these

guarantees was $1.6 million and $2.9 million at December 31 2009 and

2008 respectively There is no recognition of this potential future payment

in the accompanying financial statements as the Company believes the

potential for making these payments is remote These guarantees were

renewed in June 2009 and November 2009

The Company provided an environmental indemnification for

properties that were sold to third party in 2007 The maximum term

of this guarantee is 20 years and the Company would be required

to perform under the guarantee only if an environmental matter is

discovered on the properties The Company is not aware of environmental

issues related to these properties There is no recognition of this potential

future payment in the accompanying financial statements as the Company

believes the potential for making this payment is remote

The Company provided an environmental indemnification for

property from lease thatterminated in 2006 The term of this guarantee

is indefinite and the Company would be required to perform under the

guarantee only if an environmental matter were discovered on the

property relating to the time the Company leased the property The

Company is not aware of any environmental issues related to this property

The maximum potential amount of future payments undiscounted

related to this guarantee is estimated to be $3.0 million at December 31

2009 and 2008 There is no recognition of this potential future payment in

the accompanying financial statements as the Company believes the

potential for making this payment is remote

The Company provides guarantees related to arrangements with

certain customers that include joint and several liability for actions

for which the Company may be partially at fault The terms of these

guarantees generally do not exceed four years and the maximum

amount of future payments undiscounted related to these guarantees

is $3.0 million per occurrence This amount represents the Companys

self-insured maximum limitation There is no specific recognition of

potential future payments in the accompanying financial statements

as the Company is not aware of any claims

The Company provided guarantee related to the payment of taxes

for product line that was sold to third party in 2005 The term of this

guarantee is five years and the Company would be required to perform

under the guarantee only if taxes were not properly paid to the government

while the Company owned the product line in accordance with applicable

statutes The Company is not aware of any instances of noncompliance

related to these statutes The maximum potential amount of future payments

undiscounted related to this guarantee is estimated to be $1.3 million

at December 31 2009 and 2008 There is no recognition of any potential

future payment in the accompanying financial statements as the

Company believes the potential for making this payment is remote

The Company provided an environmental indemnification for

property that was sold to third party in 2004 The term of this guarantee

is seven years and the Company would be required to perform under

the guarantee only if an environmental matter were discovered on the

property relating to the time the Company owned the property that was

not known by the buyer at the date of sale The Company is not aware of

any environmental issues related to this property The maximum potential

amount of future payments undiscounted related to this guarantee is

$0.8 million at December31 2009 and 2008 There is no recognition of this
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potential future payment in the accompanying financial statements as the items being hedged Derivatives used to hedge forecasted cash flows

Company believes the potential for making this payment is remote

The above liabilities related to the Companys obligation to stand

readyto act on these off-balance sheet guarantees are included in Other

current liabilities or Other liabilities as appropriate in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets The recognition of these liabilities did not have material

impact on the Companys financial condition or results of operations for

the twelve months ended December 31 2009 2008 or 2007

In the normal course of business the Company provides legal

indemnifications related primarily to the performance of its products

and services and patent and trademark infringement of its goods and

services sold These indemnifications generally relate to the perfor

mance regarding function not price of the respective goods or

services and therefore no liability is recognized related to the fair

value of such guarantees

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company uses derivative instruments including swaps and

forward contracts to manage certain foreign currency commodity

price and interest rate exposures Derivative instruments are viewed as

risk management tools by the Company and are not used for trading or

speculative purposes

All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at

fair value Changes in the fair value of derivatives used to hedge foreign-

currency-denominated balance sheet items are reported directly in

earnings along with offsetting transaction gains and losses on the

associated with foreign currency commitments or forecasted commodity

purchases may be accounted for as cash flow hedges as deemed

appropriate and if the criteria for hedge accounting are met Gains and

losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are deferred as

separate component of equity and reclassified to earnings in manner

that matches the timing of the earnings impact of the hedged transactions

Generally as of December 31 2009 these deferred gains and losses will

be reclassified to earnings over 10 to 15 years from the balance sheet

date The ineffective portion of all hedges if any is recognized currently

in earnings

The fair value of outstanding derivative contracts recorded as assets

and liabilities in the accompanying December 31 2009 Consolidated

Balance Sheet were as follows

Fair values of Derivative Contracts

At December 31 2009

Other Current Other Other Current

In thousands Assets Assets Liabilities

Derivatives designated as hedging

instruments

Foreign currency forward exchange

contracts 14

Cross-currency interest rate swap 7357

Total derivatives designated as hedging

instruments $7357 14

Derivatives not designated as hedging

instruments

Foreign currency forward exchange

contracts $2187 $590

The effect of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements of Income and the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

for the twelve months ended December31 2009 was as follows

Derivatives Designated as Hedgiag Instruments

Location of Loss Amount of

Amount of Loss Location of Gain Amount of Gain Recognized in Income Loss Recognized in

Recognized in Other Reclassified from Reclassified from on Derivative Income on Derivative

Comprehensive Income Accumalated Accumulated Ineffective Portion and Ineffective Portion and

OCIl on Derivative DCI into Income DCI into Income Amoant Excluded from Amount Excluded from

In thousands Effective Portion Effective Portion Effective Portion Effectiveness Testing Effectiveness Teuting

For the twelve months ended December 312009

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts

Commodity contracts

Cross-currency interest rate swap

23

3352

36490

Service Revenues 1025 Service Revenues

Cost of services and

products sold

$139865 $1025 $5904

The net losses offset foreign currency fluctuation effects on the debt principal

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

318

55861a

In thousands

Cost of services and

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts products sold $6308

These losses offset gains recognized in cost of service and products sold principally as result of intercompany or third party foreign currency exposures

Location of Loss

Recognized in Income on

Derivative

Amount of Loss

Recognized in Income on

Derivative For the

Twelve Months Ended

December31 20091aI
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Commodity Derivatives

The Company periodically uses derivative instruments to hedge cash

flows associated with selling price exposure to certain commodities

The Companys commodity derivative activities are subject to the

management direction and control of the Companys Risk Management

Committee which approves the use of all commodity derivative instru

ments The Companys commodity derivative contract positions that quali

fied as cash flow hedges under the requirements for hedge accounting

consisted of unsecured swap contracts There were no such outstanding

contracts at December 31 2009 as all previously open positions matured

in 2009 At December 31 2008 the Company had swap contracts with

notional value of $10.9 million that had related amounts recognized in

operating income from continuing operations and other comprehensive

income of $6.4 million and $4.4 million respectively At December 31

2007 the Company had cashless collars with notional value of

$6.0 million with related $0.5 million recognized in operating income

from continuing operations

Foreign Currency Forward Exchange Contracts

The Company conducts business in multiple currencies and accordingly

is subject to the inherent risks associated with foreign exchange rate

movements The financial position and results of operations of substan

tially all of the Companys foreign subsidiaries are measured using the

local currency as the functional currency Foreign currency-denominated

assets and liabilities are translated into U.S dollars at the exchange rates

existing at the respective balance sheet dates and income and expense

items are translated at the average exchange rates during the respective

periods The aggregate effects of translating the balance sheets of these

subsidiaries are deferred and recorded in Accumulated other compre

hensive loss or income which is separate component of equity

The Company uses derivative instruments to hedge cash flows related

to foreign currency fluctuations At December 31 2009 and 2008 the

Company had $122.1 million and $293.9 million of contracted amounts

respectively of foreign currency forward exchange contracts outstand

ing These contracts are part of worldwide program to minimize foreign

currency exchange operating income and balance sheet exposure by

offsetting foreign currency exposures of certain future payments

between the Company and it various subsidiaries vendors or customers

The unsecured contracts outstanding at December 312009 mature at

various times within three months and are with major financial institutions

The Company may be exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance

by the contract counterparties The Company evaluates the creditworthi

ness of the counterparties and does not expect default by them Foreign

currency forward exchange contracts are used to hedge commitments

such as foreign currency debt firm purchase commitments and foreign

currency cash flows for certain export sales transactions

The following tables summarize by major currency the contractual

amounts of the Companys foreign currencyforward exchange contracts

in U.S dollars as of December 31 2009 and 2008 The Buy amounts

represent the U.S dollar equivalent of commitments to purchase foreign

currencies and the Sell amounts represent the U.S dollar equivalent

of commitments to sell foreign currencies Recognized gains and losses

offset amounts recognized in cost of services and products sold principally

as result of intercompany or third party foreign currency exposures

As of December 31 2009

u.s Dollar Recognized

In thousands Type Equivalent Maturity Gain Loss

British pounds sterling Sell 715 January2010 18

through March 2010

British pounds sterling Buy 3354 January2010 67

Euros Sell 72068 January2010 1820

through February 2010

Euros Buy 38967 January2010 1346

Othercurrencies Sell 4155 January2010 72

through February 2010

Other currencies Buy 2867 January 2010 12

through March 2010

Total $122126 $1583

As of December 31 2008

u.s Dollar Recognised

In thousands Type Equivalent Maturity Gain Lsss

Canadian dollar Sell 1342 Januarythrough 14

September 2009

January through

Euros Sell 19749 March2009 248

January through

Euros Buy 113084 August2009 5625

British pounds sterling Sell 56671 January2009 1450

January through

British pounds sterling Buy 98878 February 2009 3335

South African rand Sell 2175 January2009 41

Other currencies Sell 292 January 2009

January through

Other currencies Buy 1692 May2009 62

Total $293883 $3378

The Company had outstanding forward contracts designated as

cash flow hedges in the amount of $2.1 million at December 312008

These forward contracts had net unrealized gain of $6 thousand that

was included in Other comprehensive income loss net of deferred

taxes at December 31 2008 The Company did not elect to treat the

remaining contracts as hedges and mark-to-market gains and losses

were recognized in net income

In addition to foreign currency forward exchange contracts the

Company designates certain loans as hedges of net investments in

foreign subsidiaries The Company recorded charges of $9.2 million and

$7.6 million during 2009 and 2008 respectively as Accumulated other

comprehensive loss which is separate component of stockholders

equity related to hedges of net investments
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Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swap

In May 2008 the Company entered into 10-year $250.0 million cross-

currency interest rate swap in conjunction with debt issuance in order

to lock in fixed euro interest rate for $250.0 million of the issuance

Under the swap the Company receives interest based on fixed U.S

dollar rate and pays interest on fixed euro rate on the outstanding

notional principal amounts in dollars and euros respectively The cross-

currency interest rate swap is recorded in the consolidated balance sheet

atfair value with changes in value attributed to the effect of the swaps

interest spread recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive loss or

income which is separate component of equity Changes in value

attributed to the effect of foreign currency fluctuations are recorded

in the income statement and offset currency fluctuation effects on the

debt principal

Fair Value of Derivative Assets and Liabilities and Other Financial

Instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to

transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants

at the measurement date an exit price The Company utilizes market

data or assumptions that the Company believes market participants

would use in pricing the asset or liability including assumptions about

risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique

The fair value hierarchy distinguishes between market participant

assumptions developed based on market data obtained from independent

sources observable inputs and an entitys own assumptions about

market participant assumptions developed based on the best information

available in the circumstances unobservable inputs The fairvalue

hierarchy consists of three broad levels which gives the highest priority

to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities Level and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs Level

The three levels of the fairvalue hierarchy are described below

Level Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are

accessible at the measurement date for identical unrestricted assets

or liabilities

Level 2Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level that

are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly

including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active

markets quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in

markets that are not active inputs other than quoted prices that are

observable for the asset or liability e.g interest rates and inputs

that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable

market data by correlation or other means

Level 3Inputs that are both significant to the fair value measure

ment and unobservable

In instances in which multiple levels of inputs are used to measure

fair value hierarchy classification is based on the lowest level inputthat

is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety The Companys

assessment of the significance of particular input to the fair value

measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors

specific to the asset or liability

At December 31 2009 and 2008 all derivative assets and liabilities

were valued at Level of the fair value hierarchy The following table

indicates the differentfinancial instruments of the Company

Level Fair value Measurements as of December 31 2009 and 2008

In thousands 2009 2008

Assets

Commodity derivatives 4479

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts 2187 7332

Cross-currency interest rate swap 7357 49433

Liabilities

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts 604 3954

The Company primarily applies the market approach for recurring

fair value measurements and endeavors to utilize the best available

information Accordingly the Company utilizes valuation techniques

that maximize the use of observable inputs such as forward rates

interest rates the Companys credit risk and counterparties credit

risks and minimize the use of unobservable inputs The Company is

able to classify fair value balances based on the observability of those

inputs Commodity derivatives foreign currency forward exchange

contracts and cross-currency interest rate swaps are classified as

Level fair value based upon pricing models using market-based inputs

Model inputs can be verified and valuation techniques do not involve

significant management judgment

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable

accounts payable accrued liabilities and short-term borrowings approximate

fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities

At December 31 2009 and 2008 total fair value of long-term debt including

current maturities was $965.5 million and $900.1 million respectively

compared to carrying value of $927.5 million and $895.0 million respec

tively Fair values for debt are based on quoted market prices for the same

or similar issues or on the current rates offered to the Company for debt

of the same remaining maturities

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concen

trations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and

accounts receivable The Company places its cash and cash equivalents

with high-quality financial institutions and by policy limits the amount of

credit exposure to any one institution
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Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable

are generally limited in the Harsco Infrastructure and Harsco Rail Segments

and the All Other Category due to the Companys large number of

customers and their dispersion across different industries and geogra

phies However the Companys Harsco Metals Segment has several

large customers throughout the world with significant accounts

receivable balances Additionally consolidation in the global steel

industry has increased the Companys exposure to specific customers

Additional consolidation is possible Should transactions occur involving

some of the steel industrys larger companies which are customers of

the Company it would result in an increase in concentration of credit

riskforthe Company

The Company generally does not require collateral or other security

to support customer receivables If receivable from one or more of the

Companys larger customers becomes uncollectible it could have

material effect on the Companys results of operations or cash flows

Information by Segment and

Geographic Area

The Company reports information about its operating segments using

the management approach which is based on the way management

organizes and reports the segments within the enterprise for making

operating decisions and assessing performance The Companys

reportable segments are identified based upon differences in products

services and markets served

The Company has three reportable segments and an All Other

Category labeled Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial These segments

and the types of products and services offered include the following

Harsco Infrastructure Segment

Major services include project engineering and equipment installation

as well as the sale and rental of scaffolding shoring and concrete

forming systems for industrial maintenance and capital improvement

projects non-residential construction and international multi-dwelling

residential construction projects Services are provided to industrial

and petrochemical plants the infrastructure construction repair and

maintenance markets commercial and industrial construction contrac

tors and public utilities

Harsco Metals Segment

This segment provides on-site outsourced services to steel mills

and other metal producers such as aluminum and copper Services

include slag processing semi-finished inventory management material

handling scrap management in-planttransportation and variety

of other services

Harsco Rail Segment

This segment manufactures railway track maintenance equipment

and provides track maintenance services The major customers include

private and government-owned railroads and urban mass transit

systems worldwide

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial

Major products and services include minerals and recycling technolo

gies granules for asphalt roofing shingles and abrasives for industrial

surface preparation derived from coal slag industrial grating air-cooled

heat exchangers and boilers and water heaters

Major customers include steel mills industrial plants and the

non-residential commercial and public construction and retrofit markets

the natural gas exploration and processing industry and asphalt roofing

manufacturers

Other Information

The measurement basis of segment profit or loss is operating income

Sales of the Company in the United States and the United Kingdom

exceeded 10% of consolidated sales with 34% and 15% respectively in

2009 32% and 17% respectively in 2008 and 31% and 20% respectively

in 2007 There are no significant inter-segment sales

In 2009 2008 and 2007 sales to one customer ArcelorMittal princi

pally in the Harsco Metals Segment were $305.6 million $416.6 million

and $396.2 million respectively which represented more than 10% of

the Companys consolidated sales for those years These sales were

provided under multiple long-term contracts at several mill sites In

addition the Harsco Metals Segment is dependent largely on the global

steel industry and in 2009 2008 and 2007 there were two customers

including ArcelorMittal that each provided in excess of 10% of this

Segments revenues under multiple long-term contracts at several mill

sites The loss of any one of these contracts would not have material

adverse impact upon the Companys financial position or cash flows

however it could have material effect on quarterly or annual results

of operations Additionally these customers have significant accounts

receivable balances Further consolidation in the global steel industry

is possible Should transactions occur involving some of the Companys

larger steel industry customers it would result in an increase in

concentration of credit risk for the Company
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Corporate assets include principally cash insurance receivables prepaid taxes and U.S deferred income taxes Net Property Plant and

Equipment in the United States represented 22% 24% and 24% of total net Property Plant and Equipment as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively Net Property Plant and Equipment in the United Kingdom represented 14% 15% and 20% of total Net Property Plant and Equipment

as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Segment Information

Twelve Months Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Operating Operating Operating

Income Income Income

In thousands Sales Lossl Sales Loss Sales Loss

Harsco Infrastructure Segment $1159200 68437 $1540258 $185382 $1415873 $183752

Harsco Metals Segment 1084826 15927 1577720 85344 1522274 134504

l-larsco Rail Segmentlal 306016 56542 277595 36406 232402 23050

Segment Totals 2550042 140906 3395573 307132 31 70549 341306

All Other Category Harsco Minerals I-larsco Industriallal 440295 82460 572009 114516 517595 119141

General Corporate 240 4710 240 9660 16 2642

Total $2990577 $218656 $3967822 $411988 $3688160 $457805

Segmentinformation for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current presentation The Harsco Rail operating segment which was previously component of the All Other

Category is now reported separately

Reconciliation of Segment Operating Income to Consolidated Income From Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes and Minority Interest

Twelve Msnths Ended December31

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

Segment operating
incomelal $140906 $307132 $341306

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco ndustriaIl 82460 114516 119141

General corporate expense 14710 9660 2642

Operating income from continuing operations 218656 411988 457805

Equity
in income of unconsolidated entities net 504 901 1049

Interest income 2928 3608 4968

Interest expense 62746 73160 81383

Income from continuing operations before income taxes $159342 $343337 $382439

Segmentinformation for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current presentation The Harsco Rail operating segment which was previouslya component of the

A/I Other Category is now reported separately

Segment Information

Assets Depreciation and Amortization

Twelve Months Ended December 31

In thousands 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Harsco Infrastructure Segment $1669401 $1607171 $1563630 $101465 $110227 90477

Harsco Metals Segment 1372224 1338633 1585921 165099 181180 167179

Harsco Rail Segmentlbl 208877 207926 204278 11106 12320 15206

Segment Totals 3250502 3153730 3353829 277670 303727 272862

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industriallbi 335241 357422 382904 29471 30260 29292

Corporate 53497 51818 168697 4390 3962 3019

Total $3639240 $3562970 $3905430 $311531 $331949 $305173

Excludes Depreciation and Amortization for the Gas Technologies Segment in the amounts of$L2 million because this Segment was reclassified to Discontinued Operations

Segment information for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current presentation The Harsco Rail operating segment which was previously component of the

All Other Category is now reported separately
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Excludes the sales of the Gas Technologies Segment because the Segment was reclassified to Discontinued Operations

Acquired February 2007

Capital Expenditures

Twelve Months Ended December31

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

Harsco Infrastructure Segment 41530 $226559 $228130

Harsco Metals Segment 96.423 205766 193244

Harsco Rail Segmenta 7699 5393 2162

Gas Technologies Segment 8618

Segment Totals 145652 437718 432154

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco lndustriallal 9013 17632 9101

Corporate 10655 2267 2328

Total $165320 $457617 $443583

Segment information for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current presentation The Harsco Rail operating segment which was previously component of the

All Other Category is now reported separately

Information by Geographic Area

Revenues from Unaffiliated Customers Net Property Plant and Equipment

Twelve Months Ended December31 Twelve Months Ended December31

In thousands 2009 2008 2007bl 2009 2008 2007

United States $1010076 $1260967 $1152623 326952 361071 364950

United Kingdom 436039 677598 746261 205681 225368 312375

All Other 1544462 2029257 1789276 978168 896394 857889

Totals including Corporate $2990577 $3967822 $3688160 $1510801 $1482833 $1535214

Revenues are attributed to individual countries based on the location of the facility generating the revenue

Excludes the sales of the Gas Technologies Segment because the Segment was reclassified to Discontinued Operations

Information about Products and Services

Revenues from Unaffiliated Customers

Twelve Months Ended December 31

In thousands 2009 2000 20071a

Product Group

Services and equipment for infrastructure construction and maintenance $1159200 $1540258 $1415873

On-site services to metal producers 1084826 1577720 1522274

Railway track maintenance services and equipment 306016 277595 232402

Heat exchangers 129365 174513 152493

Minerals and
recycling technologieslb 104.028 127140 123240

Industrial grating products 92903 149168 130919

Industrial abrasives and roofing granules 68244 74118 68165

Heattransfer products 45755 47070 42778

General Corporate 240 240 16

Consolidated Revenues $2990577 $3967822 $3688160

Harsco Corporation 2009 Annual Report 77



Other Income and Expenses

During 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company recorded pre-tax Other

income and expenses from continuing operations of $7.6 million

$22.0 million and $3.4 million respectively The major components of

this income statement category are as follows

Other income arid Expenses

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

Net gains $18047 $15923 $5591

Impaired asset write-downs 1494 12588 903

Employee termination benefit costs 10931 19027 6552

Costs to exit activities 4297 5269 1278

Other income expense 1.114 989 301

Total 7561 21950 $3443

Net Gains

Net gains are recorded from the sales of redundant properties primarily

land buildings and related equipment and non-core assets In 2009

gains related to assets sold principally in the United States the United

Kingdom and Western Europe In 2008 gains related to assets sold

principally in the United States Australia and the United Kingdom and

in 2007 in the United States

Net Gains

In thousands 2009 2008 2007

Harsco Infrastructure Segment $4641 $1 0399 $2342

Harsco Metals Segment 3427 4538

All Other Category Harsco

Minerals Harsco IndustrialC 21 986 3246

Total $8047l $115923 $15591

Segment information for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current

presentation The Harsco Bail operating segment which was previously component of the

All Other Category is not included since there was no activity for this segment

Cash proceeds associated with these gains are included in Proceeds

from the sale of assets in the investing activities section of the Consoli

dated Statements of Cash Flows

Impaired Asset Write-downs

Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying

amount of assets exceeded theirfair value Fair value is estimated based

upon the expected future realizable cash flows including anticipated

selling prices Non-cash impaired asset write-downs are included in

Other net in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as adjustments

to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities In

2009 impaired asset write-downs of $1.5 million were recorded princi

pally in the Harsco Metals Segment in the United Kingdom In 2008

impaired asset write-downs of $12.6 million were recorded principally

in the Harsco Metals Segment due to contractterminations and costs

associated with existing underperforming contracts Impaired asset

write-downs related to assets principally
in Australia the United Kingdom

and the United States

Employee Termination Benefit Costs

Costs and the related liabilities associated with involuntary termination

costs associated with one-time benefit arrangements provided as part of

an exit or disposal activity are recognized bythe Company when formal

plan for reorganization is approved atthe appropriate level of manage

ment and communicated to the affected employees Additionally costs

associated with ongoing benefit arrangements or in certain countries

where statutory requirements dictate minimum required benefit are

recognized when they are probable and estimable

The total amount of employee termination benefit costs incurred for

the years 2009 2008 and 2007 is presented in the table below The

terminations in 2009 related primarily to actions implemented in Western

Europe North America and South America The terminations in 2008

related primarily to the fourth quarter 2008 restructuring program and

occurred globally primarily in Western Europe and the United States The

terminations in 2007 occurred principally in Europe and the United States

Employee Termination Benefit Costs

In thousands 2009 2000 2007

Harsco Infrastructure Segment 2352 5317 $1130

Harsco Metals Segment 7172 11961 4935

Harsco Rail Segment 246 492 276

All Other Category Harsco

Minerals Harsco Industrial1 1.129 1156 106

Corporate 32 101 105

Total $10931 $19027 $6552

Segment inf ormotion for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current

presentation The Harsco Rail operating segment which was previously component of the

All Other Category is now reported separately
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Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities

Costs associated with exit or disposal activities are recognized as follows

Coststoterminate contractthatis nota capital lease are recognized

when an entity
terminates the contract or when an entity ceases

using the right conveyed by the contract This includes the costs to

terminate the contract before the end of its term or the costs that will

continue to be incurred under the contractfor its remaining term

without economic benefit to the entity e.g lease run-out costs

Other costs associated with exit or disposal activities e.g costs to

consolidate or close facilities and relocate equipment or employees

are recognized and measured attheirfair value in the period in

which the liability is incurred

In 2009 $4.3 million of exit costs were incurred principally related to

relocation costs for Western Europe North America and Asia-Pacific

In 2008 $5.3 million of exit costs were incurred principally lease run-out

costs and relocation costs for Corporate and the Harsco Infrastructure

and Harsco Metals Segments In 2007 exit costs of $1.3 million principally

related to relocation costs lease run-out costs and lease termination costs

Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities

In thousands 2009 2009 2007

Harsco Infrastructure Segment $1720 $1724 803

Harsco Metals Segment 2519 1092 375

All Other Category Harsco

Minerals Harsco Industriala 58 100

Corporate 2448

Total $4297 $5269 $1278

Segment information for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current

presentation The Harsco Rail operating segment which was previously component of the

All Other Category is not included since there was no activity for this segment

See Note 17 2008 Restructuring Program for additional information

on net gains impaired asset write-downs employee termination benefit

costs and costs associated with exit and disposal activities

Components of Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Income Loss

Total Accumulated other comprehensive income loss is included in

the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity The components

of Accumulated other comprehensive income loss are as follows

Accumulated Other Comprehensive income Loss Net of Tax

December31

In thousands 2009 2008

Cumulative foreign exchange translation adjustments 118097 21295

Fair value of effective cash flow hedges 19040 21001

Pension liability adjustments 310686 250536

Unrealized loss on marketable securities 55 59

Total Accumulated other comprehensive income loss $201684 $208299

2008 Restructuring Program

As result of the deepening financial and economic crisis the Company

initiated restructuring program in the fourth quarter of 2008 The program

was designed to improve organizational efficiency and enhance

profitability
and shareholder value by generating sustainable operating

expense savings Under this program the Company principally exited

certain underperforming contracts with customers closed certain

facilities and reduced the global workforce Restructuring costs were

incurred primarily in the Harsco Metals and Harsco Infrastructure

Segments and recorded in the Other income expense line of the

Condensed Consolidated Income Statements In the fourth quarter of

2008 the Company recorded net pre-tax restructuring and other related

charges totaling $36.1 million including $28.0 million in Other expense

$5.8 million reduction in services revenue net $1 .5 million related to

pension curtailments and $0.8 million of other costs Restructuring

actions are expected to be completed by March 31 2010

At December 31 2009 the Company has completed workforce

reductions of 1300 employees of total expected workforce reduction

of 1429 employees related to the fourth quarter 2008 restructuring

program The majority of the remaining workforce reductions and exit

activities relate to the Harsco Metals Segment and are targeted for

completion during the first quarter of 2010 These restructuring activities

were not completed in 2009 due to continued negotiations with labor

unions and customers that resulted in changes to estimates of the

amount of restructuring costs and the timing of their settlement
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The restructuring accrual at December31 2009 and the activity for the year then ended attributable to each segment is as follows

2008 Restructuring Program

Adjustments to

Accrual Previously Recorded Remaining Accrual

In thousands December 31 2008 Restructuring Charges1l Cash Expenditures December 31 2009

Harsco Infrastructure Segment

Employee termination benefit costs 1806 215 1899 122

Costto exit activities 1963 1136 827

Total Harsco Infrastractare Segment 3769 921 2726 122

Harsco Metals Segment

Employee termination benefit costs 9888 945 7516 3317

Cost to exit activities 656 150 320 186

Total Harsco Metals Segment 10544 795 7836 3503

All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industriallbi

Employee termination benefit costs 531 215 746

Total All Other Category Harsco Minerals Harsco Industrial 531 215 746

Corporate

Employee termination benefit costs 113 113

Cost to exit activities 2448 1171 1277

Total Corporate 2561 1171 1390

Total $17405 $1082 $112698 $3625

jul Adjustments to previously recorded cost to exit activities resulted from changes in facts and circumstances in the implementation of these activities

hi Segment information for prior periods has been reclassified to conform with the current presentation The Harsco Rail operating segment which was previously component of the

All Other Category is not included since there was no activity for this segment

The majority of the remaining cash expenditures of $3.6 million related to the 2008 actions are expected to be paid by March 31 2010

Subsequent Events

The Companys management has evaluated all activity of the Company

through February 23 2010 the issue date of the consolidated financial

statements and concluded that subsequent events are properly

reflected in the Companys financial statements and notes as required

by standards for accounting and disclosure of subsequent events
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Market Risks

Set forth below and elsewhere in this report and in other documents the

Company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission are risks

and uncertainties that could cause the Companys actual results to

materially differ from the results contemplated by the forward-looking

statements contained in this report and in other documents the Company

files with the Securities and Exchange Commission

Market risk

In the normal course of business the Company is routinely subjected

to variety of risks In addition to the market risk associated with

interest rate and currency movements on outstanding debt and non-U.S

dollar-denominated assets and liabilities other examples of risk include

customer concentration in the Harsco Metals and Harsco Rail Segments

and certain businesses of the All Other Category collectibility of

receivables volatility of the financial markets and their effect on pension

plans and global economic and political
conditions

The global financial markets experienced extreme disruption in the

last half of 2008 and into 2009 including among other things severely

diminished liquidity and credit availability
for many business entities

declines in consumer confidence negative economic growth declines in

real estate values increases in unemployment rates significant volatility

in equities rating agency downgrades and uncertainty about economic

stability Governments across the globe have taken aggressive actions

including economic stimulus programs intended to address these difficult

market conditions These economic uncertainties affect the Companys

businesses in number of ways making it difficult to accurately forecast

and plan future business activities

The continuing disruption in the credit markets has severely restricted

access to capital for many companies If credit markets continue to

deteriorate the Companys ability to incur additional indebtedness to

fund operations or refinance maturing obligations as they become due

may be significantly constrained The Company is unable to predict the

likely duration and severity of the current disruptions in the credit and

financial markets and adverse global economic conditions While these

conditions have not impaired the Companys ability to access credit markets

and finance operations at this time if the current uncertain economic

conditions continue or further deteriorate the Companys business and

results of operations could be materially and adversely affected

Exchange rate fluctuations may adversely impact the Companys business

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates between the U.S dollar and the

over 40 other currencies in which the Company conducts business may

adversely impact the Companys operating income and income from

continuing operations in any given fiscal period Approximately 66%

and 68% of the Companys sales and approximately 52% and 61% of the

Companys operating income from continuing operations for the years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively were derived from

operations outside the United States More specifically approximately

15% and 17% of the Companys revenues were derived from operations

in the United Kingdom during 2009 and 2008 respectively Additionally

approximately 27% and 26% of the Companys revenues were derived

from operations with the euro as their functional currency during 2009

and 2008 respectively Given the structure of the Companys revenues

and expenses an increase in the value of the U.S dollar relative to the

foreign currencies in which the Company earns its revenues generally

has negative impact on operating income whereas decrease in the

value of the U.S dollar tends to have the opposite effect The Companys

principal foreign currency exposures are to the British pound sterling

and the euro

Compared with the corresponding period in 2008 the average values

of major currencies changed as follows in relation to the U.S dollar

during 2009 impacting the Companys sales and income

British pound sterling

euro

South African rand

Brazilian real

Canadian dollar

Australian dollar

Polish zloty

Compared with exchange rates at December31 2008 the values of

major currencies changed as follows as of December 31 2009

British pound sterling Strengthened by 10%

euro Strengthened by 2%

South African rand Strengthened by 21%

Brazilian real Strengthened by 25%

Canadian dollar Strengthened by 14%

Australian dollar Strengthened by 21%

Polish zloty Strengthened by 3%

The Companys foreign currency exposures increase the risk of income

statement balance sheet and cash flow volatility If the above currencies

change materially in relation to the U.S dollar the Companys financial

position results of operations or cash flows may be materially affected

To illustrate the effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes in

certain key markets of the Company in 2009 revenues would have been

approximately 9% or $254.7 million less and operating income would have

been approximately 14% or $30.6 million less if the average exchange

rates for 2008 were utilized similar comparison for 2008 would have

decreased revenues approximately 1% or$30.8 million while operating

income would have been approximately 1% or $3.3 million less if the

average exchange rates for 2008 would have remained the same as 2007

Weakened by 17%

Weakened by 6%

Relatively constant

Weakened by9%

Weakened by7%

Weakened by7%

Weakened by 30%
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If the U.S dollarweakens in relation to the euro and British pound

sterling the Company would generally expect to see positive effect on

future sales and income from continuing operations as result of foreign

currency translation Currency changes also result in assets and liabilities

denominated in local currencies being translated into U.S dollars at

different amounts than atthe prior period end If the U.S dollarweakens

in relation to currencies in countries in which the Company does

business the translated amounts of the related assets and liabilities

and therefore stockholders equity would increase Conversely if the

U.S dollar strengthens in relation to currencies in countries in which

the Company does business the translated amounts of the related

assets liabilities and therefore stockholders equity would decrease

Although the Company engages in foreign currencyforward

exchange contracts and other hedging strategies to mitigate foreign

exchange risk hedging strategies may not be successful or may fail to

completely offset the risk The Company has Foreign Currency Risk

Management Committee that develops and implements strategies to

mitigate these risks

In addition competitive conditions in the Companys manufacturing

businesses may limit the Companys ability to increase product prices in

the face of adverse currency movements Sales of products manufac

tured in the United States for the domestic and export markets may be

affected by the value of the U.S dollar relative to other currencies Any

long-term strengthening of the U.S dollar could depress demand for

these products and reduce sales and may cause translation gains or

losses due to the revaluation of accounts payable accounts receivable

and other asset and
liability accounts Conversely any long-term

weakening of the U.S dollar could improve demand forthese products

and increase sales and may cause translation gains or losses due to the

revaluation of accounts payable accounts receivable and other asset

and liability accounts

The Companys defined benefit net periodic pension cost is directly

affected by the equity and bond markets and downward trend in

those markets could adversely impact the Companys future earnings

In addition to the economic issues that directly affect the Companys

businesses changes in the performance of equity and bond markets

particularly in the United Kingdom and the United States impact

actuarial assumptions used in determining annual net periodic pension

cost pension liabilities and the valuation of the assets in the Companys

defined benefit pension plans Further financial market deterioration

would most likely have negative impact on the Companys net periodic

pension cost and the accounting for pension assets and liabilities This

could result in decrease to Stockholders Equity and an increase in

the Companys statutory funding requirements

The Companys earnings may be positively or negatively impacted

by the amount of income or expense the Company records for defined

benefit pension plans The Company calculates income or expense for

the plans using actuarial valuations that reflect assumptions relating to

financial market and other economic conditions The most significant

assumptions used to estimate defined benefit pension income or expense

for the upcoming year are the discount rate and the expected long-term

rate of return on plan assets If there are significant changes in key

economic indicators these assumptions may materially affect the

Companys financial position results of operations or cash flows These

key economic indicators would also likely affect the amount of cash the

Company would contribute to the defined benefit pension plans For

discussion regarding how the Companys financial statements can be

affected by defined benefit pension plan accounting policies see the

Pension Benefits section of the Application of Critical Accounting

Policies in Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations

In response to adverse market conditions during 2002 and 2003 the

Company conducted comprehensive global review of its defined benefit

pension plans in order to formulate strategy to make its long-term

pension costs more predictable and affordable In 2008 and 2009 as

response to worsening economic conditions the Company implemented

design changes for additional defined benefit plans of which the

principal change involved converting future pension benefits for many

of the Companys non-union employees in the United Kingdom from

defined benefit plan to defined contribution plan

The Companys pension committee continues to evaluate alternative

strategies to further reduce overall net periodic pension cost including

conversion of certain remaining defined benefit plans to defined

contribution plans the ongoing evaluation of investment fund managers

performance the balancing of plan assets and liabilities the risk

assessment of all multi-employer pension plans the possible merger

of certain plans the consideration of incremental voluntary cash

contributions to certain plans and other changes that are likely to

reduce future net periodic pension cost volatility and minimize risk

In addition to the Companys defined benefit pension plans the

Company also participates in numerous multi-employer pension plans

throughout the world Within the United States the Pension Protection

Act of 2006 may require additional funding for multi-employer plans that

could cause the Company to be subject to higher cash contributions in
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the future Additionally market conditions may affect the funded status of

multi-employer plans and consequently any Company withdrawal
liability

if applicable The Company continues to monitor and assess any full and

partial withdrawal liability implications associated with these plans

The Companys cash flows and earnings are subject to changes in

interest rates

The Companys total debt as of December 31 2009 was $1.0 billion Of this

amount approximately 6.4% had variable rates of interest and 93.6% had

fixed rates of interest The weighted average interest rate of total debt

was approximately 5.8% At current debt levels one percentage point

increase/decrease in variable interest rates would increase/decrease

interest expense by approximately $0.6 million per year If the Company is

unable to successfully manage its exposure to variable interest rates its

results of operations may be negatively impacted

Increases in energy prices could increase the Companys operating

costs and reduce its profitability

Worldwide political and economic conditions an imbalance in the supply

and demand for oil extreme weather conditions and armed hostilities in

oil-producing regions among other factors may result in an increase in

the volatility of energy costs both on macro basis and for the Company

specifically To the extent that increased energy costs cannot be passed

onto customers in the future the financial condition results of opera

tions and cash flows of the Company may be adversely affected To the

extent that reduced energy costs are not passed on to customers in the

future this may have favorable impact on the financial condition results

of operations and cash flows of the Company The Company has estab

lished Risk Management Committee to manage the risk of increased

energy prices that affect the Companys operations

Harsco Corporation SP MidCap 400 Index Dow Jones U.S Diversified Industrials Index

$100 invested on 12/31/04 in stock or index including reinvestment of dividends

Fiscal year ending December31

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Returns

Among Harsco Corporation the SP MidCap 400 Index and the Dow Jones U.S Diversified Industrials Index

$127.72

$111.46

$65.85

12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08

Rarsco Corporation

12/09

SP MidCap 400 Index

12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08 12/09

Dow Jones U.S Diversified Industrials Index
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Dire ctor since 1988

Dr Robert Wilburn 23

Principal

The Wilburn Group

Director since 1986

Serves as Lead Director

Corporate Officers

Salvatore Fazzolari

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Geoffrey Butler

President

Richard Neuffer

Sr Vice President

Mark Kimmel

Sr Vice President Chief Administrative Officer

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Stephen Schnoor

Sr Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

HenryW Knueppel

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Regal Beloit Corporation

Director since 2008

Howard Pierce 2C

Retired President

and Chief Executive Officer

ABB Inc

Director since 2001

Eugene M.Truett

Vice President Investor Relations and Credit

Richard Wagner

Vice President and Controller

Sr Operations Executives

Geoffrey Butler

Chief Executive Officer

Harsco Infrastructure

Galdino Claro

Chief Executive Officer

Harsco Metals and Harsco Minerals

Richard Neuffer

Chief Executive Officer

Harsco Rail and Harsco Industrial

Board Committees

Audit Committee

Management Development and

Compensation Committee

Nominating and Corporate Governance

Committee

Indicates Committee Chair

Scott Gerson

Vice President and Chief Information Officer

Michael Higgins

Vice President Audit

Michael Kolmnsky

Vice President Taxes

Richard Sullivan

Vice President Business Transformation
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Stockholder Information

Company News

Conpany information archived news releases and SEC filings

are available free of charge 24 hours day seven days week

via -larscos website at www.harsco.com Harscos quarterly

earnings conference calls and other significant investor events

are posted when they occur

Securities analysts portfolio managers other represen

taties of institutional investors and other interested parties

seeking information about Harsco should contact

Euçjene M.Truett

Vice President Investor Relations and Credit

Phone 717.975.5677 Fax 717.265.8152

Email etruett@ harsco.com

Annual Meeting

April 27 2010 1000 am

Radisson Penn Harris Hotel and Convention Center

Camp Hill PA 17011

Registrar Transfer

and Dividend Disbursing Agent

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

RO Box 358015

Pittsburgh PA 15252-8015

Phone 800.850.3508

www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services maintains the records for

our registered stockholders and can help you with variety

of stockholder-related services at no charge including

Change of name or address

Consolidation of accounts

Duplicate mailings

Dividend reinvestment enrollment

stock certificates

Transfer of stock to another person

Additional administrative services

You can also access your investor statements online 24

hours day seven days week with MLinksM For more

information go to www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

Independent Registered Public

Accounting Firm

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia PA 19103

Quarterly Share Price

and Dividend Information

Harsco Corporation common stock is listed on the New York

Stock Exchange NYSE under ticker symbol HSC At year-end

2009 there were 80353059 shares outstanding and

approximately 19500 stockholders

As shown below during 2009 the Companys common stock

traded in range of $16.90 to $37.65 and closed at $32.23 at

year-end High and low per share data are as quoted on the

NYSE Four quarterly cash dividends were paid in 2009 for an

annual rate of $0.795 an increase of 1.9% from 2008 In 2009

50.7% of net earnings were paid out in dividends There are no

significant restrictions on the payment of dividends In November

2009 the Companys Board increased the dividend rate to $0205

per share effective with the next scheduled quarterly dividend

payable in early 2010 This action increased the dividend rate by

2.5% to $0.82 per share on an annualized basis

2009 2008

First Quarter High 31.65 64.50

Low 16.90 46.10

Dividends Declared 0.200 0.195

Second Quarter High 32.07 64.75

Low 21.39 53.75

Dividends Declared 0.200 0.195

Third Quarter High 36.33 56.32

Low 26.69 33.50

Dividends Declared 0.200 0.195

Fourth Quarter High 37.65 37.41

Low 29.38 17.55

Dividends Declared 0.205 0.195

Managements Certifications

The certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002 have been filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K

In addition in May 2009 our Chief Executive Officer provided

to the New York Stock Exchange the annual Section 303A CEO

certification regarding our compliance with the New York Stock

Exchanges corporate governance listing standards
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